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Summaries of 1986 Enforcement Actions

In the Matter of John J. Hanlon, Louis H. Sakin,
Raymond Sestini
{February 7, 1986)

The State Ethics Commission fined three Department of
Public Safety employees between $250 and $500 each
for playing substantial roles in the testing and
demonstration of a LoJack anti-theft device being con-
sidered for purchase by the state while owning Lo-Jack
stock at the same time.

The Commission found these employees to have vio-
lated Section 6 of the conflict of interest law, which pro-
hibits a state employee from participating in a partic-
ular matter in which he has a financial interest.

The three individuals who admitted violating the con-
flict law in Disposition Agreements with the Commis-
sion are:

* State Police Caprain John J. Hanlon, the liaison be-
tween the State Police and Lo-Jack, oversaw all aspects of
the Department of Public Safety's role in the demonstra-
tion of the Lo-fack device. Fined $500.

* Louis Sakin, the executive director of the state's
Criminal History Systems Board, was the liaison for this
agency for the demonstration project. Fined $250.

* Raymond Sestini, a civilian communications coor-
dinator assigned to the State Police, met with Lo-fack
officials to discuss and resolve technical issues involving
the installation of the anti-theft system while owning Lo-
Jack stock. Fined $250.

According to the Disposition Agreements signed by
these individuals in February, the Commission did not
have any evidence that the ownership of the Lojack
stock adversely affected the performance of their state
jobs. In addition, all three demonstrated some sensitivi-
ty to the conflict law by either disclosing their stock
ownership to their appointing authority (the Executive
Director of Public Safety) or by receiving, directly or
indirectly, legal advice that the stock ownership did not
present a problem. The Commission took these miti-
gating factors into account in levying relatively small
fines. A $2,000 fine could have been imposed for each
violation.

In the Matter of Donald Hatch
(February 20, 1986)

Donald Hatch, of West Springfield, an inspector for the

Department of Public Utilities, was fined $2.000 by th
Ethics Commission for violating Section 6 of the confiic
of interest law.

In a signed Disposition Agreement, Hatch admitted h
violated the law by participating in six official DPU in
spections of a Holyoke bus company at the same time h
had a private business arrangement with the compan’
to conduct bus inspections.

Section 6 of the conflict law prohibits a state emplove:
from participating in a matter in which, to his know!
edge, a business organization by which he is employed
has a financial interest,

In the Matter of Mary V. Kurkjian
(March 26, 1986)

Mary V. Kurkjian, former Deputy Director with the Divi
sion of Employment Security (DES), violated the conflic
of interest law by participating in state contract negotia
tions with a company, while, at the same time, discussing
future employment with the company.

Kurkjian, in a signed Disposition Agreement, agreed tc
pay a civil fine of §1,000 for violating Section 6 of the
conflict of interest law which prohibits a state employes
from participating in a particular matter in which to he:
knowledge a business organization with which she it
negotiating or has a prospective arrangement fos
employment has a financial interest.

In the Matter of Ralph Antonelli
(April 29, 1986)

The State Ethics Commission fined a former Depart
ment of Revenue (DOR) official $500 for representing a
taxpayer before DOR on a matter in which he had par-
ticipated as a state worker.

Ralph Antonelli of Somerville, while employed by DOR,
approved a payment agreement with a Hyannis-based
company which was delinquent in paying state taxes.
After he left the state, Antonelli assisted the same com-
pany in its negotiations with DOR to prevent a seizure.
(The company failed to meet the terms of the payment
schedule Antonelli had approved.)

In a signed Disposition Agreement with the Commis-
sion, Anotonelli admitted to having violated Section 5 of
the conflict of interest law which regulates what state
employees may do after they leave state government. In
part, Section 5 bars a person who worked on a matter
while a state employee from ever working on that same
matter for a private party when he leaves state service,
whether or not he is compensated.



In the Matter of George W. Ripley, jr.
(April 30,1986}

George W. Ripley, r., former Commissioner of the
Department of Labor and Industries (DLD), was fined
£2.000 for hiring his two daughters in violation of the
conflict of interest law.

Riplev. in a Disposition Agreement signed with the
Commission, admitted to having violated Section 6 of
the conflict law which prohibits a state employee from
participating in the hiring, promotion, performance
review or salary recommendation of an immediate fami:
ly member.

In the Matter of Robert J. Quinn
(May 6, 1986)

In a2 Decision and Order, the State Ethics Commission
ruled thata full-time state employee may not serveas a
bail commissioner.

The Commission decision involved Robert Quinn of
Norwood, acting comptroller for the Massachusetts
Water Resources Authority, who served as bail commis-
sioner in Norfolk County.

In its decision, the Commission stated that setting bail in
exchange for fees constitutes a contract with the state
under the conflict law. This is so, the Commission stated,
despite the fact that the bail commissioner's compensa-
tion comes from the person whose bail is being deter-
mined by the bail commissioner, rather than directly
from the Court. Section 7 prohibits a state employee
from having a direct or indirect financial interestin a
contract made by a state agency.

Both Quinn, individually, and the Bail Committee of the
Superior Court, have filed appeals of the Commission’s
decision. The Bail Committee’'s appeal has been
reported ta the Massachusetts Appeals Court. (As this
publication went to press the case had not yet been
heard.)

In the Matter of Frederick B. Cronin, Jr.
(August 27, 1986)

The Commission issued a Public Enforcement Letter
concluding that Frederick B. Cronin, Lynn city tax col-
lector, violated the conflict law by hiring his brother as
his assistant.

Section 19 of the conflict law prohibits a municipal
employee from participating in a particular matter
which affects an immediate family member's financial
interest,

Because Cronin did receive informal permission from
the city council and the mayor to hire his brother, the
Commission did not levy a fine in this case.

In the Matters of Carl D. Pitaro, Francis M. Magliano.
and James C, Mihos
{Qctober 29, 1986)

In separate Disposition Agreements with the Commis-
sion, Brockton Mavor Carl Pitaro, Brockton Building
Superintendent Francis Magliano and private Brockion
resident James Mihos admitted to violating the “gift"
prohibition of the conflict of interest law.

The officials violated Section 3 of the conflict law by
accepting a weekend trip to Florida paid for by Mihos
and a developer. The officials had taken the trip, with
their wives, to look at hotel projects built by a company
which was proposing a project for Brockton.

Section 3 of the conflict law prohibits public officials
from accepting gifts of substantial value (over $50) from
anyone with whom they have official dealings. Itis also
illegal for anyone to offer or give such a gift.

Pitaro, Magliano and Mihos each paid a $1.000 civil
penalty for the violations. In addition, the city officials
paid $668 each (the cost of the Florida trip) as forfeiture
of the economic advantage gained. .

In the Matter of Erland S. Townsend, Jr.
(November 13, 1986)

In a Disposition Agreement with the Commission,
former Conservation Commissioner Erland Townsend
admitted to having violated Section 17 of the conflict of
interest law by representing a development company
before various town boards, including his own.

The conflict law prohibits municipal employees from
acting as agent or attorney for a private party in relation
to a particular matter in which the town has a direct and
substantial interest.

Townsend was fined $1,000 for this violation.

In the Matter of Eugene LeBlanc
{December 30, 1986)

The Commission issued a Public Enforcement Letter
concluding that Eugene LeBlanc, Nahant Building
Inspector may have violated the conflict law by issuing
permits for and inspecting the work of the construction
company he owns and operates.

Section 19 prohibits a municipal employee from par-
ticipating in a particular matter which affects his own
financial interest

Because the board of selectmen was aware at all times
that LeBlanc was issuing permits for and inspecting
work done by his construction company, the Commis-
sion did not levy a fine in this case.



Summaries of Enforcement Actions (1985 Cont'd)

In the Matter of Thomas Newcomb
(July 16, 1985)

Thomas Newcomb, the former director of security at the
Hynes Auditorium and a Boston Police officer assigned
to the Hynes, violated Section 4 of the conflict of interest
law by having his state salary supplemented by the
Boston Police Department.

In a Decision and Order the Commission concluded
that Newcomb violated Section 4 by receiving compen-
sation for the work he performed as director of securi-
ty (a state position) from the Boston Police Department;
the Commission ordered Newcomb to pay a $1,000 civil
penalty.

Section 4 prohibits a state employee from receiving
compensation from anyone other than the common-
wealth in connection with a particular matter of direct
and substantial interest to the state.

In the Matter of William A. Burke, ]r.
(October 15, 1985)

William A. Burke, Jr., a former member of the Massa-
chusetts Public Health Council, violated Section 3 of the
conflict of interest Jaw. In a Decision and Order the
Commission assessed a $1,000 civil penalty.

Section 3(b) prohibits a public official from soliciting
for himself anything of substantial value from a private
party for or because of official acts performed or to be
performed by him,

Burke, who in his private capacity was working as a paid
consultant selling life insurance to hospitals, received
access to the chief executive officer of a hospital while
that hospital had matters pending before the Health
Council. As Burke needed to make additional contacts
to keep his consulting job, the meeting was of substantial
value to him.
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 281
INTHEMATTER
OF
THOMAS NEWCOMB
Appearances;

ThomasJ. Driscoll, Esq.:
Counsel for Petitioner State Ethics Commission

LawrenceJ. Ball, Esq.:
Counsel for Respondent Thomas Newcomb

Commissioners:
Diver, Ch., Brickman, Burns, Sweeney

DECISION AND ORDER

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory pro-

ceedings on February 25, 1985 by filing an Order to

‘Show Cause pursuant to the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and Procedure, 930 CMR 1.0 {(5)(a). The Order
alleged that Respondent, Thomas Newcomb, director of
security for the Massachusetts Convention Center
Authority (MCCA) and Boston Police officer assigned to
the MCCA, had violated G.L. c. 268A, §4(a)V/ by receiving
compensation as a state employee from the Boston
Police Department (BPD) in connection with decisions
and determinations regarding security at the Hynes
Auditorium.

The Respondent's answers denied the material
allegations and raised certain affirmative defenses
asserting the Commission’s lack of jurisdiction over the
MCCA and the protection of a “grandfather clause” con-
tained in the MCCA's enabling legislation. St. 1982, c.
190, §38D.

An adjudicatory hearing was held on May 7 and 8,
1985 before Commissioner Frances Burns, a duly desig-
nated presiding officer. See G.L. c. 268B, §4(c). The
parties filed post-hearing briefs and presented oral argu-
ment before the Commission on June 18,1985, In render-
ing this Decision and Order, the Commission has con-
sidered the testimony, evidence and arguments of the
parties.

II. FINDINGS OF FACTS

1. The Respondent, Thomas Newcomb was at all
times relevant to the violations alleged in the Order to
Show Cause, empioyed by the MCCA as director of
security at the Hynes Auditorium,

2. Mr. Newcomb worked weekdays from 7 a.m. to
3 p.m. as director of security.
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3. Mr. Newcomb worked nights and weekends as
director of security prior to his suspension from the
MCCA payroll.

4. Mr. Newcomb has been employed by the BPD
since 1960.

5. Mr. Newcomb receives $25,000.00 as a BPD
officer.

6. Prior to January, 1982, Mr. Newcomb was as-
signed by the BPD to Boston City Hall.

7. InDecember, 198, then Mayor Kevin H. White
requested that the City Auditorium Commission ap-
point Mr. Newcomb director of security for the Hynes
Auditorium.

8. The Auditorium Commission voted that Mr.
Newcomb be appointed director of security at the
Hynes Auditorium ata sum of $8,000.00 a year, subject
to the approval of the City Law Department.

9. The corporation counsel approved the $8,000.00
compensation strictly from the viewpoint that the
amount of compensation was not excessive.

10. During 1982, the state legislature created the
MCCA, 5t.1982, c. 190. The statute provided for the con-
veyance of the Hynes Auditorium and the Boston Com-
mon Garage to the MCCA, and further provided thatall
employees holding full-time, permanent positions at
those two facilities would become employees of the
MCCA “without impairment of their civil service status.
seniority, retirement and other rights. . . provided that
nothing in this section shall be construed to confer upon
any employce any rights not held prior to the transfer.”

11. In January, 1983, Mr. Newcomb became director
of security for the MCCA and received $8,000.00 per
year for that employment.

12. Mr. Newcomb continued to be paid $25,000.00
by the BPD for his assignment at the Hynes Auditorium.

13. In April, 1983, at the direction of the deputy
director of the MCCA, Mr. Newcomb sought an advisory
opinion from the Commission concerning whether or
not his continued assignment by the BPD to MCCA
while also being employed as director of security by the
MCCA violated G.L. c. 268A.

14. The Commission issued an advisory opinion,
EC-COI-83-108% to Mr. Newcomb regarding his dual
employment on July 19, 1983. The opinion stated that Mr.
Newcomb's compensation by BPD for his services dur-
ing his assignment to the Hynes Auditorium, while he
was employed by the MCCA at the same site, violated §4
of G.L. c. 268A.

15. Mr. Newcomb received notice of the advisory
opinion in November, 1983, but continued to accept
compensation from both the MCCA and the BPD until
suspended by the MCCA.

16. Mr. Newcomb was suspended on February 21,
1984 from the MCCA payroil. Following his suspension
Mr. Newcomb continued to work at the MCCA from 7 to
3, but no longer agreed to work nights and weekends.



111, DECISION

For the reasons stated below, the Commission con-
cludes that Mr. Newcomb, in his capacity as a state
emnplovee, isin violation of G.L. c. 268A, §4(a) by receiv-
ing compensation from the Boston Police Department
in refation to particular matters in which the state isa
party and has a direct and substantial interest.

A. The MCCA as a state agency

Mr. Newcomb contended that the MCCA is an in-
dependent authority which is not subject to the jurisdic:
tion of G.L. c. 268A. The MCCA's enabling legislation,
5t. 1982, ¢. 190, §33 provides

‘There is hereby established and placed in the

executive office for administration and finance

a body politic and corporate to be known as the

Massachuseus Convention Center Authority,

which shall not be subject to the supervision or

control of the executive office for administra.
tion and finance or any department, commis-
sion, board, bureau or agency of the common-
wealth except to the extent and in the manner
provided in this act.” (emphasis added)
Thus Mr. Newcomb argues that the enabling statute
exempts the MCCA from supervision or control by the
State Ethics Commission.

The MCCA, however, was established in 1982 as an
independent state authority and a public instrumentali-
ty. See ¢. 190, §33. For the purposes of G.L. ¢. 268A, “state
agency” is defined as

any department of a state government includ-

ing the executive, legislative or judicial, and all

councils thereof and thereunder, and any divi-

sion, board, bureau, commission, institution,

tribunal or other instrumentality within such
department and any independent state author-

ity, district, commission, instrumentality or

agency, but not an agency of a county, city or

town. G.L. c. 268A, §1(p). (emphasis added)

The Commissicn has issued several advisory opinions to
members of the MCCA, and has consistently considered
the MCCA to be a state agency. See EC.COI-82.150;
83-19.In its enforcement of the conflict of interest law,
the Commission is not exercising supervision or control
over the MCCA but is merely enforcing the conflict of
interest law with regard to the activities of public em-
ployees. The language of chapter 190, §33 clearly
establishes the MCCA as an "independent state authori-
ty” and as such, it is within the aforementioned defini-
tion of state agency.

B. The “grandfather clause” in St. 1982, c. 190,
§38D, as a bar to enforcement of G.L. ¢c.
2684, §4(a)

The MCCA'’s enabling legislation provides that all

emplovees at the Hynes Auditorium would become
employees of the MCCA “without impairment of their
civil service status, seniority, retirement and other rights

_ . ..providing, however, that nothing in this section shall

be construed to confer upon anv employee any rights
not held prior to the transfer.” St. 1980, c. 190, §38D.
Mr. Newcomb maintains that since he was receiving two
salaries prior to the transfer of the Hvnes Auditorium to
the MCCA., §38D permits him to continue the dual com-
pensation arrangement.

In its Advisory Opinion addressed to Mr. Newcomb,
however, the Commission held that Mr. Newcomb's dual
compensation was in violation of §20 prior to the MCCA
takeover in 1983, and that the transfer of the Hynes
Auditorium to the MCCA could not create a job right
which he did not previously have. Since no right to that
dual compensation arrangement existed prior to the
creation of the MCCA, in other words, and the enabling
statute specifically precludes conferring “any rights not
held prior to the transfer,” St. 1982, c. 190, §38D does
not bar the enforcement of §4 against Mr. Newcomb.

Mr. Newcomb further claims as a defense under
§38D of chapter 190 that he has received prior approval
from the City of Boston corporation counsel before ac-
cepting the director of security position at the MCCA,
and therefore any viclation of §4 was not a knowing
violation, The evidence shows, however, that the cor-
poration counsel approved that arrangement strictly
from the viewpoint of compensation, i.e., that the total
amount of compensation was not excessive, and his
memorandum fails to consider the dual compensation
with regard to G.L. c. 268A. Furthermore, Mr. New-
comb’s status has changed since the corporation coun.
sel's opinion was issued because he is now considered a
state emplovee as director of security, and as a state
employee, he cannot use a corporation counsel’s opin-
ion, regarding municipal employment as a defense to
his receipt of compensation from someone other than
the state.”/

C. The Section 4 Violation

Mr. Newcomb was a state employee*/ as director of
security at the MCCA and received $8,000.00 in yearly
compensation from the MCCA., Mr. Newcomb aiso re-
ceived $25,000.00 annual salary from the BPD, and the
factual issue in this matter is whether the BPD salary
constituted compensation from someone other than the
commonwezlth in relation to particular matters in
which the state was a party or had a direct and substan-
tial interest.

Prior to January of 1982, Mr. Newcomb was a Boston
police officer assigned to the Hynes Auditorium as
director of security. He received $8,000.00 in annual
compensation from the Auditorium Commission in ad-
dition 10 his regular BPD salary. Following the takeover
of the Hynes Auditorium by the MCCA, Mr. Newcomb



became a state emplovee as director of security. There is
no evidence that his assignment by the BPD was chang-
ed. Rather the evidence in the record demonstrates that
Mr. Newcomb's compensation from the BPD was for his
performance of duties as director of security at the
Hynes Auditorium, When Mr. Newcomb was suspended
on February 21, 1984 from the MCCA payroll, he con-
tinued to report to the Hynes Auditorium from 7 to 3 as
director of security. Mr. Newcomb's responsibilities re.
mained the same after his suspension, except that he no
longer agreed to work nights and weekends. Therefore,
the logical and uncontested inference to be drawn is that
Mr, Newcomb's 7 to 3 workday at the Hynes Auditorium
constituted his assignment by the BPD.

The Commission has held that the supplementation
of a state employee's salary by a non-state party violated
§4(a). In the Commission Compliance Letter, Depart-
ment of Mental Health 1981 State Ethics Commission
50, the Commission addressed an issue of employees
who were receiving additional compensation from non-
state parties for services which were a part of their state
duties. The Commission stated that since the duties of
the individuals involved particular matters in which the
state was a party or had a direct and substantial interest,

- suchrsalary supplementation violated §4(a).

The petitioner presented through exhibits and
testimony facts to substantiate that Mr. Newcomb's state
employee salary was supplemented by the BPD. Testi-
mony indicated that in the course of Mr. Newcomb's
duties, he made decisions and determinations as to the
nature of security at the Hynes Auditorium. On wwo
occasions he performed internal investigations of
crimes committed in the Auditorium. He acted as the
Hynes Auditorium liaison with the BPD in arranging
BPD details hired for MCCA special events. Therefore,
as a state employee, Mr. Newcomb received compensa-
tion from the BPD in relation to these particular matters
that the MCCA, a state agency, had a direct and substan-
tial interest.

IV. CONCLUSION AND ORDER

Mr. Newcomb was directed to request an advisory
opinion by the deputy director of the MCCA in the
spring of 1983. The Commission issued its opinion on
July 19,1983 indicating that his continued assignment by
the BPD to the MCCA while he was director of security
at the MCCA was in violation of G.L. c. 268A, §4(a). Mr.
Newcomb had notice of the advisory opinion in Novem-
ber, 1983. Mr. Newcomb ignored the advisory opinion
and continued to receive his BPD salary in relation to
services performed for the state. The argument that Mr.
Newcomb sought legal advice does not mitigate his lack
of compliance with the Commission’s advisory opinion.

Based upon the foregoing, the Commission con-
cludes that Thomas Newcomb viclated G.L. c. 268A,
§4(2) by receiving compensation as a state employee

from the Boston Police Department in relation to par-
ticular matters in which the state has a direct and sub-
stantial interest.

Pursuant to its authority under G.L. c. 268B. §4(d)
the Commission orders Thomas Newcomb to:

1. Cease and desist from violating §4{a) by

discontinuing his receipt of compensation

from the Boston Police Department in relation

to services he performs for the state; and

2. payonethousand dollars {$1,000.00) 1o the

Commission as a civil penalty for violating G.L.

c. 268A, §4(a) within thirtv (30) days of receipt

of this Decision and Order.

DATE: July 16, 1985

"G.L. c. 268A. §4(a) provides that “no waie emplovee shall otherwise than
a3 provided by law for the proper discharge of official duties, direcilv or indirect
ly receive or request compensation from anvane other than the commonwealth
or a state agency. in relation to anv panicular mater in which the common.
wealth or a state agency is a party or has a direct and substantial interest.™

'This citation refers to a prior Commission conflicy of interest opinion
including the year itwas issued and its identifying number. Copies of these and
all other advisory opinions are available {with identifyi ng information deleted)
for public inspection at the Commissian offices.

There is nothing in the record to indicate that Mr. Newcomb knew about
the corporation counsel’s memorandum. which was actually issued 1o the chair.
man of the Auditorium Commission, before this Commission adjudication
commenced.

‘MNewcomb claims that he was a special state emplovee at the MCCA. He
did not present any evidence in the record to prove this claim. Assuming he did
hold the status of special srate employee, §4(a}$7) would preciude him from
receiving compensation from the BPD because he would be receiving compen:
sation from a non-state party on a particular maiter pending in his scate agency
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DECISION AND ORDER

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory proceed:
ings on March 26, 1985 by filing an Order to Show
Cause pursuant to the Commission’s Rules of Practice



and Procedure, 930 CMR 1.01{3)(a). The Order alleged
that the Respondent, William A.Burke, Jr., a Public
Health Council (Council) member, had violated G.L. c.
268A, §3(b)." §23(42)(2)% and §23(92)(3)* in pursuing
his duties as a consuitant for J. Peter Lyons, Inc. (the
Lyons Company). Specifically, Mr. Burke was alleged 1o
have violated §3(b}) in six instances by soliciting or
receiving something of substantial vaiue (“entree into
the executive offices and the time and attention these
[hospital] chief executives devoted to listening to infor-
mation about an insurance package”) from Brockton
Hospital, Cardinal Cushing Hospital, Melrose-
Wakefield Hospital, Salem Hospital, South Shore
Hospital, and University Hospital for or because of of-
ficial acts performed or to be performed by him as a
member of the Council. The eleven §23(12)(2) allega-
tions were premised on Mr.Burke's alleged use or at-
tempted use of his official position to secure an un-
warranted privilege for the Lyons Company, namely “a
personal meeting with the hospital official,” with re:
spect to eleven separate hospitals.'/ The Order also
alleged that Mr.Burke violated §23(2)(3) by using his
position as a member of the Council in contacting exec:
utive officers of twenty-seven hospitals in the common-
wealth to promote a life insurance program on behaif of
a company for which he was a paid consultant, during
the time that all but one of these hospitals had impor-
tant matters pending before the Council.®/

Mr.Burke filed an answer in which he admitted that
he had served as a Council member and as a paid con-
sultant for the J.Peter Lvons company during the period
in question, and that he had met with several officers of
various hospitals during the period of his consultant

arrangement. Mr.Burke also admitted in his answer that-

he became involved in promoting the Company’s sup-
plemental life insurance program. Mr.Burke denied all
other material allegations contained in the Order.

Prior to the commencement of the hearings, the
Respondent moved for Decision on the Pleadings or in
the alternative for Summary Decision. The motion was
denied by Commission Chairman Colin Diver,* who
was designated as the Presiding Officer. See G.L. c.
268B. §4(c).

Adjudicatory hearings were held on June 11 and 12,
July 17 and August 16, 1985. The parties thereafter filed
posthearing briefs and presented oral arguments before
the Commission on September 11, 1985. In rendering
this Decision and Order, each participating member of
the Commission has considered the testimony, evidence
and arguments of the parties.

H. FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The Respondent William A.Burke, Jr.was, at all
times relevant to the violations alléged in the Order to
Show Cause, a member of the Council.

2. The Council is responsible for the review and
final approval of all hospital determination of need ap.
plications (DON's) required by law for substantial capiral

" expenditures, acquisitions of equipment and changes in

services by the hospitals in the commonwealth.

3. Mr.Burke provided consultant services for the
Lyvons Company from January 1983 1o October 1984 at
arate of $4,000 a month.

4. Mr. Lyons hired Mr. Burke as a consultant to
introduce him to people and businesses in need of the
financial services which the Lyons Company could pro-
vide. Between January 1983 and October 1984, Mr.
Burke introduced him to fifteen or twenty companies,
excluding hospital introductions. Mr. Burke also engag-
ed in venture capital work and the analysis of the finan-
cial needs of companies and businesses which were of
interest to the Lyons Company.

5. I[nJune or July of 1983, Mr. Lyons decided 10
pursue a supplemental life payroll deduction program
with hospitals. Mr. Lyons asked Mr. Burke to become in-
volved because he knew (1) Mr. Burke was on the Coun-
cil, (2) Mr. Burke was personally acquainted with a
number of hospital administrators and (3) Mr. Burke
would know people in hospitals such as St.Elizabeth’s
due to his involvement in the Catholic Church in
Boston. Mr. Burke initially questioned the propriety of
working in the hospital field, but was given assurances
by the enrolling agent for the Lyons Company that it
would be no problem.

The six hospitals listed in the §3 allegations

6. Mr. Burke placed a call to the chief executive
officer (CEQ) of each of the six hospitals on the follow-
ing dates:

South Shore Hospital — sometime in January

or February of 1984

sometime between
February 28, 1984 and
March 12, 1984

sometime in July of 1984

University Hospital —

Brockton Hospital —

Cardinal Cushing

Hospital — July 19, 1984
Salem Hospital — August 20, 19847/
Melrose-Wakefield

Hospital — during the week of

September 10, 1984

7. Each of the six hospitals had a DON pending
before the Council at the time Mr. Burke made contact.
The documentary evidence as well as the testimonv of
individual hospital CEOs in the record indicates that the
DON process is a difficult and often lengthy process.
which can become quite costly to the hospitals. Substan.



tial capital outlays depend on the approval of a hospi-
tal’s DON. In particular, MelroseWakefield Hospital's
DON, which was filed in January 1983 and was still
pending as of October 1984, involved the new construc:
tion and renovation of an ancillary services building
and a parking garage for a proposed capital cost of
$25,875,000. Salem Hospital's DON, filed in September
1983 and siill pending as of October 1984, involved
general expansion and renovation as well as the expan-
sion of radiation therapy, for a proposed capital cost of
$21,900,000.

8. In his call to five of the hospitals, including
Meirose-Wakefield Hospital and Salem Hospital, Mr.
Burke identified himself as 2 Council member.

9. Inthe callsto both Melrose-Wakefield Hospital
and Salern Hospital, Mr. Burke stated at the outset that
he was calling with regard to something other than the
hospital's pending DON.

10. Five of the hospital CEOs, including the CEO of
Melrose-Wakefield Hospital, agreed to meet with Mr.
Burke.

11. Five of the hospital CEOs, including the CEOs
of Melrose-Wakefield Hospital and Salem Hospital,
stated that they would not normally meet with an indi-
vidual selling insurance and that such a call would be
transferred to the personnel or benefits director of the
hospital.

12. Mr. Burke attended meetings with the CEOs of
four hospitals on the following dates:

South Shore Hospital — February 0, 1984

University Hospital — March 12, 1984
Brockton Hospital =~ — August 1, 1984
Cardinal Cushing

Hospital — August 1, 1984

Joanne Costello, a Lyons Company representative, gave
the presentation on the insurance package at these
meetings. As to the two remaining hospitals, (1) all three
appointments with the CEO of Melrose-Wakefield Hos-
pital, scheduled for September 20, 1984, September 28,
1984 and October 12, 1984, were cancelled by Mr. Burke
and (2) the CEO of Salem Hospital never agreed 1o meet
with Mr, Burke.

13. As of August 1984, Mr. Burke was making two to
three introductions a month. This number was un-
satisfactory to Mr. Lyons, who expected eight to ten in-
troductions per consultant per month.

14. Mr. Lyons communicated his dissatisfaction to
Mr. Burke in carly September 1984, informing Mr.
Burke that he did not see the consultant status as con-
linuing because it was not leading anywhere.

15. In response to Mr. Lyons' request for a status
report from him, Mr. Burke submitted a memorandum
dated September 14, 1984 listing six hospital cases he
had opened that week, including Melrose-Wakefield
Hospital, and one hospital case he had closed.
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16. In late September or earlv October 1984, Mr.
Lyons and Mr. Burke had another discussion concern-
ing the fact that the consultant relationship was not
working, and Mr. Burke indicated that someone was
questioning what he was doing in connection with the
hospitals. Mr. Lyons stated that he was willing to keep
Mr. Burke on to make nonhospital contacts.

17. By mutual agreement, Mr. Burke's consultant
relationship was terminated in October of 1984,

II1. DECISION

For the reasons stated below, the Commission con-
cludes that Mr. Burke violated G.L. c. 268A, §3(b) with
respect to one of the six hospitals, namely Melrose-
Wakefield Hospital.

A. Section3

Section 3(b) prohibits a public employee from soli-
citing or receiving anything of substantial value for
himself for or because of an official act performed or to
be performed by him. Its counterpart, §3(a), prohibits
anyone from offering or giving anything of substantial
value to a public employee for or because of any official
act performed or to be performed by such an employee.
Unlike §2, which is the bribery section of the conflict
law, §3 does not require a showing of corrupt intent.
See, e.g. Commonwealth v. Dutney, 4 Mass. App. 363
(1976). Rather, the basis for a §3 violation is the existence
of a nexus between the employee’s public duties and the
motivation behind the solicitation, offer or receipt of
something of substantial value. In the Matter of George
Michael, 1981 Ethics Commission 59, 68. If such a con-
nection exists, even in the absence of a corruptintent,
there remains a tendency to provide conscious or un-
conscious preferential treatment to the giver of
something of value by the recipient. Section 3, like its
federal counterpart 18 U.S.C. §201(f) and (g), constitutes
alegislative effort to eliminate the temptation inherent
in such a situation. See United States v. Evans, 572 F.2d
455, rehearing denied 576 F.2d 931 (5¢th Cir.}, cert
denied, 439 U.5.870 (1978).

The acwal performance of some identifiable offi-
cial act as quid pro quo is not necessary for a violation of
§3. See Commission Advisory No.8; accord, United
States v. Evans, supra (addressing §3's federal counter-
part 18 U.S.C. §20I (f) and (g)]. To require such a quid
pro quo would subject public empioyees to a host of
temptations which would undermine the impartial per-
formance of their duties. As the Commission stated In
the Matter of George Michael, supra at 68:

Sound public policy necessitates a flat prohibi-

tion since the alternative would present un-

workable burdens of proof. It would be nearly
impossible to prove the loss of an employee’s
objectivity or to assign a motivation to his exer-
cise of discretion. If public credibility in govern-



ment institutions is to be fostered. constrainis
which are conducive to reasoned, impartial per-
formance of public functions are necessary. and
itis in this context that Section 3 operates.

B. Elements of a §3(b) violation

The three elements necessary to establish a §3(b)
violation on Mr. Burke's part are that he:*

1. solicited or received something of substan:

tial value

2. for himself

3. fororbecause of an official act performed

or to be performed by him.

1. Sclicitation or receipt of something
of substantial value

The term “substantial value” is not defined in the
conflict of interest statute. The vast majority of cases the
Commission has decided containing alleged §3 viola.
tions have involved items of tangible value, such as cash
discounts (In the Matter of George A.Michael, 1981
Ethics Commission 59}, private loans (In the Matter of
Rocco J. Antonelli, Sr., 1982 Ethics Commission 101),
and cash payments (In the Matter of Frank Wallen and
John Cardelli, 1984 Ethics Commission [97). However,
the Commission has also held that the scope of §3
includes items which lack an immediately ascertainable
cash value but which nonetheless possess substantial
prospective worth and utility value. See, e.g. EC-COI-
83-70 and 81-136 (both cases held that unpaid faculty
appointments constituted something of substantial
value which could not be accepted by state employees),
In its decisions and orders and disposition agreements
in cases alleging violations of §3, the Commission has
recognized that “substantial value” is a standard "to be
dealt with by judicial interpretation in relation to the
facts of the particular case and [is) more desirable than
the imposition of a fixed valuation formula.” Sec e.g., In
the Maiter of Rocco |, Antonelli, Sr., 1982 Ethics Com-
mission 101, 109 n. 19 citing Final Report of the Special
Commission on Code of Ethics, 1962 House Doc.No.
3650 at 11 upon which the provisions of §3 were based.

In the Order to Show Cause, the Petitioner charac-
terized the “entree into the executive offices and the
time and attention these [hospital] chief executives
devoted to listening to information about the substance
package” as having substantial vaiue. The CEOs in five
of the six hospitals listed in the §3 allegations testified
that they would not normaily meet with an individual
selling insurance, that such a call would be transferred
to the personnel or benefits director of the hospital.
Based on this testimony of the hospital CEOs regarding
the standard operating procedure, the Commission
finds that the access Mr. Burke obtained by virtue of his
Council membership to the limited time of the CEOs for
his company's presentation of its insurance package was

of substantial value in this case. First, it enabled the
Lyons Company to bypass competition with other in-
surance agents before subordinate hospital personnel.

" The logical inference to be drawn is that the opportuni-

ty afforded to the Lyons Company to make its insurance
presentation directly to a hospital CEO greatly enhane-
ed the chance of a sale. Second, based on Mr. Lyons’
testimony,'/ each contact Mr. Burke made was worth ap-
proximately $400 to the Lyons Company. Mr. Lvons
testified that (1) he hired Mr. Burke primarily to make
introductions, (2) he paid Mr. Burke $4,000/month asa
consultant and (3) he would consider eight to ten intro-
ductions per month to be satisfactory. On a strict
calculation basis, that would equal approximately $400
per introduction, well above the $50 benchmark the
court established as constituting “substantial value” in
Commonwealth v. Famigletti, 4 Mass.App.584, 587
(1976).""/ Under these facts, the Commission concludes
that the access to hospital CEOs which Mr. Burke solici-
ted was of substantial value.’?/

2. For himself

The issue here is whether Mr, Burke's solicitation of
something of substantial value was for himself or merety
for the Lyons Company. The evidence established that
Mr. Burke's sole compensation from the Lyons Com-
pany was his $4,000/month consultant fee: i.e., he would
not receive any commission for the consummation of an
insurance contract with a hospital. The question, then,
focuses on the connection between the access to hospital
CEOs Mr. Burke solicited and his retention as a $4.000/
month consultant.

The record is clear that by September 1984, Mr.
Burke was under pressure to make more contacts in
order to retain his position. There is no evidence in the
record of Mr. Burke's involvement in business acquisi-
tionfentreprenurial projects or non-hospital contacts
made during September of that year. On the contrary.
all seven contacts Mr. Burke reported in his September
14, 1984 status report to Mr. Lyons were hospitals, While
Mr. Lyons testified that he would have kept Mr. Burke
on as a consultant making solely non-hospital contacts.
Mr. Burke chose to trade on his Council membership to
gain access to hospital CEQOs to make sufficient contacts
during this period to reduce the risk of losing his con-
sultant arrangement. The contact with the CEO of
Melrose-Wakefield Hospital, listed as one of the seven
hospital contacts in Mr. Burke's September 14, 1984
status report, constituted a part of Mr. Burke's insurance
against losing his consultant position. The Commission
therefore finds that the access Mr. Burke obtained to the
CEQ of Melrose-Wakefield hospital was of substantial
value to himself as well as to the Lyons Company.

On the other hand, the evidence does not support
the conclusion that the contact Mr. Burke made with
Salem Hospital on August 20, 1984 was of substanual



value to him personally. Mr. Lvons testified that by late
summer of 1984, he was unsatisfied with the general
direction the Lyons Company was taking. In particular,
Mr. Lyons testified that as of August 1984, Mr. Burke was
making two to three introductions a month, which was
unsatisfactory. While Mr. Lyons’ testimony is that he
communicated this dissatisfaction to Mr. Burke in
“September, maybe August,” the record as a whole sup-
ports the inference that the discussion took place in
early September, as discussed above. Mr. Burke's contact
with Salem Hospital would therefore have predated this
discussion. Without the dependency relationship be-
tween the Salem Hospital contact and Mr. Burke's reten-
tion as a consultant, the Commission finds that the “for
himself" element has not been met with respect to that
hospital.

Likewise, the Commission finds that the evidence
does not sufficiently establish the dependency relation-
ship between Mr. Burke's contacts with the four hospi-
tals prior to August 1, 1984 and his retention as a con-
sultant. Mr. Burke was not initially hired by Mr. Lyons to
work in the hospital field. Mr. Burke called and met with
the CEOs of South Shore Hospital, University Hospital,
Brockton Hospital and Cardinal Cushing Hospital be-
tween January 1984 and August 1, 1984, These contacts
therefore predated Mr. Lyons’ communication with Mr.
Burke that his position was in jeopardy if the number of
introductions he made did not increase. Moreover, the
testimony of John McInerney, a fellow Lyons Company
consultant, indicated that between January and June of
1984, Mr. Burke and he worked on a number of business
acquisition projects for the Lyons Company. In light of
Mr. Burke's business analysis duties and non-hospital
introductions prior to August 1984, the Commission
finds that Mr. Burke's consultant relationship did not
depend on the hospital introductions he made during
that period.

In summary, the Commission concludes that the
“for himself” element of a §3(b) violation was met only
with respect to the Melrose-Wakefield Hospital.

3. Fororbecause of an official act performed
or to be performed by him

The Commission finds that there is ample evidence
in the record that the access Mr. Burke solicited from
Melrose Wakeficid Hospital was for or because of an of-
ficial act performed or to be performed by him. Mr.
Burke placed the contact call directly to the CEO of
Meirose-Wakefield Hospital (Richard Quinlan), instead
of the Hospital's personnel director, thus bypassing the
normal channels required of insurance salesmen seek-
ing accounts with that Hospital.' That call was made by
Mr. Burke at a time when Melrose-Wakefield Hospital's
DON, which carried a proposed capital cost of over $25
million, was pending before Mr. Burke's Council. Mr.
Quinlan testified that the DON was “very” important to
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Melrose-Wakefield Hospital: it involved a needed park-
ing garage and the construction of an ancillarv services
building to replace the aging buildings currently in use.

In making contact, Mr. Burke identified himself as
a Council member even though he was contacting the
hospital in his private capacity to sell an insurance
package. Mr. Quinlan did testify that Mr. Burke indi-
cated during the call that the call was not related 1o
Council business. However, Mr. Quinlan nonetheless
testified that he thought it would be “inappropriate” to
cancel the appointment his secretary had scheduled
“because Mr. Burke was a member of the Public Health
Council and I had a DON pending.” The Commission
finds that Mr. Burke's disclaimer was ineffective under
the circumstances. A true disclaimer would have been
not to mention his Council membership atail in making
contact with the hospitals in his private capacity. Once
Mr. Burke identified himself as a Council member, the
connection between a hospital's public dealings with the
Council and Mr. Burke's private solicitation of a hospi-
tal was forged. Any subsequent disclaimer would prove
insufficient due to the importance of a pending DON to
a hospital, as evidenced by Mr. Quinlan’'s testimony.

The Commission concludes that the facts surround-
ing the Melrose-Wakefield Hospital contact go beyond
a mere coincidence of overlapping private and public
dealings with that Hospital. Mr. Burke placed his in-
surance sales call directly to CEQ Quinlan (1) ata time
when Melrose-Wakefield Hospital had a very important
DON pending before the Council and (2) identified
himself as a Council member even though the call was
not related to Council business. The Commission finds
that solicitation under those conditions is “for or
because of official acts.”

IV. ORDER

On the basis of the foregoing, the Commission con-
cludes that William A.Burke Jr.violated G.L. c. 268A,
§3(b) in connection with the Melrose-Wakefield
Hospital. Pursuant to its authority under G.L. c. 268B,
§4(d), the Commission orders Mr. Burke to pay one
thousand dollars ($1,000) to the Commission as a civil
penalty for such violation.

DATE: October 15, 1985

G.L c. 268A. §3(b) states that "whoever, beinga present or former state,
county or municipal employee or member of the judiciaty. or person setected
to be such an empioyee or member of the judiciary. otherwise than as provided
by law for the proper discharge of official dury, directly or indirectly, asks,
demands, exacts, salicits, secks, accepts, receives or agrees to receive anything
of substantial value for himself for or because of any official act or act within his
official responsibility performed or 10 be performed by him™ violates that
section,

G .L. c. 268A, §23(12)(2} provides that no state employee shall “use or
attempt to use his official position 1o secure unwarranted privileges or exemp-
tions for himself or others.”



'G.L.c. 268A. §23112ud) pronides that no state emplovee shall “by hiscon
duct gine reasonable basis for the impressisn that any person can improperly
nfluence or undulv enjov his faver in the performance of his official duties. or
that he is unduly affecied by the kinship, rank. position or influence of anv party
of person.”

*/Following the Court's ruling tn Saccone v, State Ethics Commission, 355
Ma13.326 (1985} that the Commission does not possess the statutorv autharity to
enforce the provisions of G L. ¢. 268A. §23. the Respondent moved to dismiss the
§23(92121 and § 2311213 allegarions of the Order 1o Show Cause. The Commis-
o has granted the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss without prejudice.

"This allegation was likewise dismissed without prejudice, Sec footnoie +

‘fTo the exient that the Respondent has renewed the substantive
arguments of his motion before the full Commission in the closing arguments
and briefs in the case. they are discussed infra

’Muring the direct examination of the Salem Hospital CEQ, the following
exchange took place:

Q:  Did you receive a telephone call from William A. Burke, Jrin
September of 19843

A [did.

However. his more specific testimonv on cross examination regarding the date
of the cail placed iton August 20, 1984,

*Me. Lvons testified that this first conversation took place in “September,
during the month of September, mavbe August, September, something like
that.” While this testimony does not unequivocally establish that the conversa.
tien 100k place in September, we reasonably infer that the date of the conversa-
tion was in September shortly before Mr. Burke's submission of the Seprember
14, 1984 status report.

'1As 3 Council member, Mr. Burke was a state employee and was therefore
subject ta the provisions of the conflict of interest law, G.L. ¢. 268A. The fact that
Mr. Burke also qualified as a “special state employee” (see G.L. ¢. 2684, §1(0)] is
irrelevant to this case, inasmuch as §3 is not one of the conflict law provisions
which applies less restrictively 1o special state employees.

**/The Commission found Mr. Lyons o be a credible witness.

"/While 2 “fixed valuation formula” is not the sole means for determining
substantial value under §3, the Court’s bottom line Fgure is a factor that the
Commission will consider in assessing substantial value,

'*fThat is not 1o say that access in ail ¢ will be considered of substan:
tial value for §3 purposes. In many instances. the seeking of such access will be
more appropriately regulated as an unwarranted privilege under §23(12)(2).
which prohibits a public emplavee from using or attempting to use his official
position to secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions for himself or others.
Here however, Mr. Burke's conduct raises problems under §3 as well,

'*™r. Quinlan testified that he would narmaily refer such solicitations
regarding insurance to a subordinate, namelv the hospital's personnel director.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 299
IN THE MATTER
OF
JOHN J. HANLON
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and John J. Hanlon (Mr, Hanlon) pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission's Enforcement Proce-
dures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).
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On June 18, 1985, the Commission initiated a pre-
liminary inquiry pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d). into
possible violations of the conflict of interest law, G.L. c.
-268A, by Mr. Hanlon, a captain in the Massachusetts
State Police, and head of the Communications Section
of the State Police. The Commission concluded the
preliminary inquiry and, on October 8, 1985, found
reasonable cause to believe that Mr. Hanlon had vio-
lated c. 268A.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Mr. Hanien is a captain in the Massachusetts
State Police. Since September, 1982 he has been in
charge of the Communications Section.

2. In October, 1983 representatives of Lo-Jack
Corporation (Lo-Jack) met with Mr. Hanlon and other
Executive Office of Public Safety (EOPS) officials to
discuss the possibility of the state cooperating in the
testing and demonstration of an anti-auto-theft device
Lo-jack had developed.

3. From October, 1983 to June, 1984, Lo-Jack offi-
cials met with Mr, Hanlon and other EQPS officials on
several occasions to discuss what role each party would
play in the testing and demonstration of the product.
Many technical issues were also addressed.

4. These discussions culminated in an agreement
on June 19, 1984, publicly announced on June 20, 1984,
between the commonwealth and Lo-Jack whereby Lo-
Jack would supply the necessary computer equipment,
tracking devices, receivers and technical expertise in
return for the commonwealth's installation and demon-
stration of the product.

5. The state’s responsibilities were divided be.
tween the Criminal History Systems Board (CHSB) and
the State Police. The CHSB was responsible for pro-
viding technical support for Lo-Jack regarding the
installation of the primary computer network which
controls the Lo-Jack tracking system, for writing the soft.
ware and for maintaining this computer system. The
State Police were responsible for providing technical
support to Lo-Jack for installing a radio transmitter net.
work (including five transmitters and antennas). The
purpose of this technical support was to assure that the
Lo-Jack installations were compatible with but did not
interfere with the existing State Police communications
system. The State Police were also responsible for man-
aging this network once installed, and for conducting
the operations test of the tracking device with State
Police cruisers in cooperation with Lo-Jack. While Lo-
Jack had previously performed tests of the tracking
device on a small scale to confirm initial operation, the
Lo:Jack proposal acknowledged that these tests must be
repeated “on a larger scale”.

6. OnJune 27, 1984, Mr. Hanlon purchased 4800
shares of Lo-Jack stock at $.50 per share. A week later, a
real estate corporation in which Mr. Hanlon is a one-



third owner purchased an additional 2500 units of stock
at 1-7/8 per unit (one unit equals 2 shares plus a warrant
[or option] to purchase an additional share at $1.50 per
share), 3

Just prior to purchasing the stock, Mr, Hanlon asked
CHSB Executive Director Louis Sakin whether the pur
chase would create a conflict. Mr. Sakin informed Mr.
Hanlon that the CHSB's counsel had orally stated there
would be no conflict of interest. The CHSB counsel con-
firms he gave advice to Mr. Sakin to that effect, but
stated it was “off-the-top-of-his-head” advice requested
and given while standing in a hallway.

7. Inlate july or early August, 1984, the Commis-
sioner of the Department of Public Safety (DPS), Frank
Trabucco, instructed Mr. Hanlon to oversee the DPS’
role in the demonstration of the Lo-Jack device, i.e., to
be the “liaison” person from the State Police. At that
time Mr. Hanlon disclosed to Commissioner Trabucco
that he owned stock in Lo-Jack. Commissioner Trabucco
did not cansider Mr. Hanlon's ownership of Lo-Jack
stock as presenting a conflict. Accordingly, he instructed
Mr. Hanlon to oversee the Lo:Jack project despite his
stock ownership.

8. From August, 1984 o0 April, 1985, Mr. Hanlon
attended several meetings with Lo-Jack officials to coor-
dinate activities involved in installing the Lo-Jack
system. He reported on these meetings to his DPS
superiors in his monthly activity summaries. He oversaw
the installation of the receivers on the State Police signal
towers and the tracking units into the cruisers of 16 state
troopers who were selected to learn how to use and
demonstrate the device and oversaw the training of
those troopers, He also worked with EOPS, the CHSB,
and Lo-Jack personnel to organize two fullscale
demonstrations - one for EOPS staffers on March 22,
1985 and the other for the press and the Governor on
April 12, 1985,

9. On April 8, 1985, Hanlon sold his personal
shares at 2.31/32,

10. On April 12, 1985, in response to Lo-jack's
demand to shareholders to exercise their warrants, Mr.
Hanlon's real estate corporation exercised its option
and purchased an additional 2500 shares at $1.50 per
share.

11. The corporation sold its shares on April 30,
1985 and May 1, 1985 at 3-7/8 per share.

12. Mr. Hanlon and his corporation thus rea-
lized a total profit on Lo-Jack stock of approximately
$30,000.00

13. Section 6 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a state em-
ployee from participating in a particular matter in
which to his knowledge he has a financial interest,

14. The contractual agreement between Lo-Jack
and CHSB to install and demonstrate the Lo-Jack anti-
theft device isa “particular matter” as defined in G.L.c.
268A, §1(k).

15. Mr. Hanlon participated in the contract when,
after the contract was executed, he met with Lo-Jack
officials, discussed the technical issues involving the
delivery and installation of the systems, gave progress
reports to his superiors, oversaw the training of the 16
troopers, and coordinated the in-house and public
demonstrations.

16. Mr. Hanlon's participation in these contract-
related matters occurred at a time when he and his real
eéstate company owned stock in Lo-Jack.

17. By participating in the installation and dem-
onstration of the Lo-Jack device ata time when he own.
ed individually 4800 shares and through a corporation
13 of 5000 shares of Lo-Jack stock, Mr. Hanlon violated
G.L. c. 2684, §6.

18. The Commission is aware of no evidence that
Mr. Hanlon's performance of his official duties was in-
fluenced by his owning Lo-Jack stock. Indeed, he showed
at |east some sensitivity to the potential conflict by (1)
seeking advice as to the legality of his activities, and (2)
disclosing his stock ownership to his appointing author-
ity and receiving his permission to participate."/

On these facts, however, the Commission will not
give deference to Mr. Hanlon seeking legal advice. The
advice was sought and received oraily and through an
intermediary. It does not appear to have been based on
a detailed submission of facis. Indeed, inasmuch as it
was sought immediately prior to Mr. Hanlon purchasing
his stock but before he knew he would have a significant
role in the demonstration, the advice sought and re-
ceived appears to deal more with his ability to buy the
stock than with the issue of his later participating while
a stockholder.

As the Commission made clear in recent Disposi-
tion Agreements involving certain City of Revere offi-
cials,”f if a public employee involved in a potentially
serious conflict of interest situation seeks to relyon a

" legal opinion as a shicld against action by this Commis-

sion, the important substantive provisions controlling
the issuance of such opinions must be followed. Of
paramount importance is that the opinion be in writing
and be made a matter of public record. See G.L. c. 2684,
§22. And as to state and county employees, the only
opinion which will be a complete defense is one ob-
tained from the Commission itself. G.L. c. 268B, §3(g).
As to Mr. Hanlon’s disclosure to and receipt of per-
mission from his appointing authority, G.L. c. 2684, §6
does contain a mechanism by which a state employee
can participate in a particular matter notwithstanding
a prohibited financial interest in that matter so long as
he makes an appropriate disclosure to his appointing
authority, receives permission in writing, and both the
disclosure and the permission are filed with the Com-
mission.’/ Here, however, neither the disclosure nor the
authorization was put into writing or filed with the Com-
mission. Given the clear problem Mr. Hanlon's conduct



created under §6 of the conflict law, it might well have
been thathad Mr. Hanlon and Commissioner Trabucco
followed the proper procedure, it would have become
clear to them that Mr. Hanlon’s participation was un-
wise. and therefore either someone else would have
been selected or Mr. Hanlon would have been required
to sell his stock before he participated.

Thus, while an argument could be made thatastate
employee who discloses a §6 conflict to his appointing
authority and is told to participate ought to be able to
rely on the appointing authority’s familiarity with the
conflict law, especially where the appointing authority
is a high-ranking state official such as the head of the
state police, strict compliance with the written
disclosure and authorization provisions of §6 is
necessary to ensure that all due consideration is given to
issues with potential controversy and the potential for
abuse, as, for example, in this case where the question
was whether a state employee may play a key role in the
state’s installation and demenstration of an experi-
mental device while owning substantial stock in the
company selling the device and where a purportedly
successful demonstration means a higher market price
for the stock.

Nonetheless, the Commission has given considera-
tion to Mr. Hanlon’s having disclosed to and received
permission from Commissioner Trabucco, and to the
fact that Mr. Hanlon had some reason to expect that the
Commissioner would know and follow the law. Accord-
ingly, while the Commission can impose up to a $2,000
fine for each violation of §6, it has determined that a
relatively small fine here properly reflects those miti-
gating factors. That it has insisted on a public resolution
and a fine reflects the importance the Commission
places on proper compliance with §6's disclosure and
exemption provisions. These provisions are more than
mere technicalities. They protect the public interest
from potentially serious harm. The steps of the dis-
closure and exemption procedure — particularly that
the determination be in writing and a copy filed with
the Commission — are designed to prevent an appoint-
ing authority from making an uninformed, illadvised
or badly motivated decision. Imposing a fine also
should act as a deterrent in making clear that ultimate-
ly the primary responsibility for compliance with these
provisions rests on the public employee seeking the
exemption.

Based on the foregoing, the Commission has deter-
mined that the public interest would be served by the
disposition of this matter without further Commission
enforcement proceedings on the basis of the following
terms, to which Mr. Hanlon has agreed:

1. that he pay the Commission the sum of two

hundred and fifty dollars ($250.00) forth-
with as a civil penalty for violating G.L. c.
268A, §6; and
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that he waive ali rights to contest these find-
ings of fact and conclusions of law and con-
ditions contained in this Agreement in this
or any related administrative or judicial
proceedings in which the Commission is a
party.

DATE:FEBRUARY 6, 1986

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 300
IN THE MATTER
OF
RAYMOND SESTINI
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Raymond Sestini (Mr. Sestini) pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Proced-
ures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On June 18, 1985, the Commission initiated a pre-
liminary inquiry pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d), into
possible violations of the conflict of interest law, G.L. c.
268A, by Mr. Sestini, a communications coordinator for
the Department of Public Safety (DPS) assigned 1o the
State Police. The Commission concluded the prelimi-
nary inquiry and, on October 8, 1985, found reasonable
cause to believe that Mr. Sestini had violated c. 268A, §6.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Mr. Sestini is the civilian communications coor-
dinator for DPS assigned to the Massachusetts State
Police.

2. In October 1983, representatives of Lo-Jack
Corporation (Lo-Jack) met with Executive Office of
Public Safety (EOPS) officials to discuss the possibility of
the state cooperating in the testing and demonstration
of an anti-auto-theft device Lo-jack had developed.
Shortly thereafter, Mr. Sestini was requested by Captain
Hanlon of the DPS to attend meetings involving these
discussions because of his expertise in communications
and his unique knowledge of the State Police communi-
cations system.

3. The purpose of these several meetings which
were held from October, 1983 to June, 1984, was to
discuss what role each party would play in the testing
and demonstration of the product. Many technical
issues were also addressed.



4. Mr. Sestini’s primary role at these meetings was
to ensure that the Lo-Jack system would not interfere
with the State Police microwave communication system.

5. These discussions culminated in an agreement
on june 19, 1984, berween the commonwealth and Lo-
Jack whereby Lo-Jack would supply the necessary com-
puter equipment, tracking devices, receivers and tech-
nical expertise in return for the commonwealth's instal-
lation and demonstration of the product.

6. The state’s responsibilities were divided be-

tween the Criminal History Systems Board (CHSB) and
the State Police. The CHSB was responsible for provid-
ing technical support for Lo-Jack regarding the instal-
lation of the primary computer network which controls
the Lo:Jack tracking system, for writing the software and
for maintaining this computer system. The State Police
were responsible for providing technical support to Lo-
Jack for installing a radio transmitter network (includ-
ing five transmitters and antennas). The purpose of this
technical support was to assure that the Lo-Jack instal-
lations were compatible with and did not interfere with
the existing State Police communications system. The
State Police were also responsible for managing this net.
work once installed and accepted, and for conducting
the operations test of the tracking device with State
Police cruisers in cooperation with Lo-Jack. While Lo-
Jack had previously performed tests of the tracking
device on a small scale to confirm initial operation, the
Lo-Jack proposal acknowledged that these tests must be
repeated “on a larger scale”.

7. Onjune25, 1984 (the seulement date was July 2,
1984), Mr. Sestini purchased 1100 shares of Lo-Jack
stock at 87.5 cents per share.

Just prior to purchasing the stock, Mr. Sestini indi-
rectly learned that the CHSB general counsel had orally
advised another CHSB employee that there would be no
conflict of interest for DPS employees to purchase the
stock so long as the purchase was made after the state
entered its agreement with Lo-Jack. The CHSB counsel
confirms that he gave such advice.

8. In late June, 1984 at a retirement party, Mr.
Sestini states that he told Frank Trabucco, Commis-
sioner of Public Safety, that he had purchased Lo-Jack
stock. Commissioner Trabucco does not recall the con-
versation but does not deny that the conversation took
place.

9. In late July or early August, 1984, Commis-
sioner Trabucco instructed State Police Captain
Hanlon, the head of the communication section of the
State Police, to oversee DPS's role in the demonstration
of the Lo-Jack device, i.c. to be the “liaison" person from
the State Police. At that time Mr. Hanlon disclosed to
Commissioner Trabucco that he owned stock in Lo-Jack.
Commissioner Trabucco did not consider Mr. Hanlon's
ownership of Lo-Jack stock as presenting a conflict.
Accordingly, he instructed Mr. Hanlon to oversee the
LoJack project despite his stock ownership.
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10. Commissioner Trabucco's reaction to Mr.
Hanlon's stock ownership was conveved to Mr. Sestini
by Mr. Hanlon.

11. From August, 1984 to April, 1985, Mr. Sestini
attended several meetings with Lo-Jack officials to work
out the technical issues involved in installing the Lo-Jack
system, He oversaw the installation of the receivers on
the State Police signal towers and the tracking units
into the cruisers of 16 state troopers who were selected
to learn how to use and demonstrate the device. He took
whatever steps were necessary to ensure that the Lo-Jack
system did not interfere with the State Police's commun-
ication system and that the equipment was installed by
factory-trained personnel.

12. OnJune 13, 1985, Mr. Sestini sold his stock for
$3.56 per share.

13. Mr. Sestini realized a total profit of approxi-
mately $2,700.

14. Section 6 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a state em-
ployee from participating in a particular matter in
which to his knowledge he has a financial interest.

15. The contractuai agreement between Lo-Jack
and CHSB to install and demonstrate the Lo-Jack anti-
theft deviceis a “particular matter” asdefined inG.L. c.
268A, §1(k).

16. Mr. Sestini participated in the contract when,
after the contract was executed, he met with Lo-Jack
officials, discussed the technical issues involving the
delivery and installation of the system, oversaw the in-
stallation of the receivers on the State Police signal
towers and the tracking units into the cruisers of 16 state
troopers, and ensured that the Lo-Jack system did not in-
terfere with the State Police’s communication system
and that the equipment was installed by factory-trained
personnel.

17. Mr. Sestini’s participation in these contract-
related matters occurred at a time when he owned stock
in Lo-Jack.

18. By participating in the installation and demon-
stration of the Lo-Jack device at a time when he owned
1100 shares of LoJack stock, Mr. Sestini violated G.L. c.
268A, §6.

19. The Commission is aware of no evidence that
MTr. Sestini’s performance of his official duties was in-
fluenced by his owning Lo-Jack stock. Indeed, Mr.
Sestini asserts that he showed appropriate sensitivity to
the potential conflict by: (1) relying indirectly on the
CHSB general counsel’s advice to a CHSB employee that
owning Lo-Jack stock was not a problem; (2) disclosing
his stock ownership to Commissioner Trabucco; and (3)
relying on the fact that his superior, Captain Hanlon,
had been permitted by Commissioner Trabucco to be
the State Police’s key person in the demonstration not-
withstanding his disclosure of owning a significant
amount of Lo-Jack stock.Y



On these facts, however, the Commission will not
give deference to Mr. Sestini relying on legal advice. The
advice was sought and received by another CHSB
employee, and dealt with his circumstances, not Mr.
Sestini's. The advice was not in writing, It does not
appear to have been based on a detailed submission of
facts.

As the Commission made clear in recent Disposi-
tion Agreements involving certain City of Revere offi-
cials,’f if a public employee involved in a potentially
serious conflict of interest situation seeks to rely on a
legal opinion as a shield against action by this Commis-
sion, the important substantive provisions controlling
the issuance of such opinions must be followed. Of para-
mount importance is that the opinion be in writing and
be made a matter of public record. See G.L. c. 2684, §22.
And as to state and county employees, the only opinion
which will be a complete defense is ane obtained from
the Commission itself. G.L. c. 268B, §3(g).

As to Mr.Sestini's disclosure to his appointing
authority, G.L. c. 268A, §6 does contain a mechanism by
which a state employee can participate in a particular
matter notwithstanding a prohibited financial interest
in that matter so long as he makes an appropriate dis-
closure to his appointing authority, receives permission
in writing, and both the disclosure and the permission
are filed with the Commission./

Here, however, neither the disclosure nor any
authorization was put into writing or filed with the
Commission. A retirement party “disclosure” which the
appointing authority does not deny, but cannot remem-
ber, hardly satisfies the imporiant disclosure and author-
ization provisions of §6.

Finally, Mr. Sestini's reliance on Captain Hanlon
having received permission from Commissioner Tra-
bucco to participate notwithstanding his ownership of
asignificant amount of Lo-Jack stock is not a defense. As
was the case with reliance on legal advice above-dis-
cussed, the disclosure and permission involved Captain
Hanlon and his circumstances, not Mr. Sestini. Thus,
for example, Commissioner Trabucco may have known
Captain Hanlon professionally much better then Mr.
Sestini; or alternatively, based on his knowledge of dif-
ferent subordinates, he might have been willing to aliow
one but not another to participate notwithstanding an
otherwise prohibited financial interest./

In any event, Caprain Hanlon's disclosure and
authorization were seriously inadequate. Consequently,
the Commission has rejected his disclosure and permis-
sion defense.*/ [f Commissioner Trabucco's permission
does not completely protect Captain Hanlon, it cer-
tainly does not absolve Mr. Sestini who was indirectly
relying on that permission.

While the Commission can impose up to a $2,000
fine for each violation of §6, it has determined that a
relatively small fine here is appropriate.%/ That it has
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insisted on a public resolution and a fine reflects the im-
portance the Commission places on proper compliance
with §6 disclosure and exemption provisions. These
provisions are more than mere technicalities. They pro-
tect the public interest from potentially serious harm.
The steps of the disciosure and exemption procedure —
particularly that the determination be in writing and
a copy filed with the Commission — are designed to
prevent an appointing authority from making an un-
informed, iil-advised or badly motivated decision.
Imposing a civil penaity also should act as a deterrent in
making clear that ultimately the primary responsibility
for compliance with these provisions rests on the public
employee seeking the exemption.

Based on the foregoing, the Commission has deter-
mined that the public interest would be served by the
disposition of this matter without further Commission
enforcement proceedings on the basis of the following
terms, to which Mr. Sestini has agreed:

1. thathe pay the Commission the sum of iwo

hundred and fifty dollars ($250.00) forth-
with as a civil penalty for violating G.L. c.
268A, §6: and

2. that he waive all rights to contest these find-

ings of fact and conclusions of law and con:
ditions contained in this Agreement in this
or any reiated administrative or judicial
proceedings;

3. the Commission accepts this agreement

and the imposition of this civil penalty as a
final disposition of this matter.

Date: February 6, 1986

*In addition, Mr. Sestini fully cooperated with the Commission’s saaff in
investigating this matter.

*In the Matier of John A. Deleire (Dki, No, 289): and In the Matter of
James F. Connery (Dkt No. 285).

*fSection 6 provides an exemption for a state employee whose duties
require him to participate in a particular matter in which he has a financial
interest: (1) he must advise his appointing official and this Commission of the
nature and circumstances of the particular matter and make full disclosure of
his financial interest; and (2) the appointing official shall then assign the maiter
to another employee, assume responsibility for it himself, or make a written
determination (and file it with this Commission) that the financial interest is not
50 substantial as to be deemed likely to affect the inegrity of the employee's
services.

*Mtis difficult to understand why any high-ranking public official would
allow a subordinate 1o participate in a demonstration of 2 device while the
subordinate owned stock in the device. The alternatives of cither having some-
one else participate or having the subordinates sell the stock are clearly more
appropriate,

'See, In the Manter of John J. Hanlon (Dkt No. 299)

Thus. while an argument could be made that a sate employee who dis-
closes 2 §6 conflict to his appointing authority and is told to participate sught
10 be abie to rely on the appointing authority's familiarity with the conflict law,
especially where the appointing authority is a high-ranking state official such as
the head of the state police, sirict compliance with the written disclosure and
authorization provisions of §6 is necessary 1o ensure that all due consideration
is given to issues with potential controversy and the potential for abuse, as, for
exampie, in this case where the question was whether a state employee mav play
akey role in the state's installation and demonstration of an experimental device
while owning substantial stock in the company sclling the device and wherz a
putportedly successful demonstration means a higher market price for the siock.



‘‘While for the reasons discussed above, Mr. Sestini’s disclosure to Com
missioner Trabucco was wholly inadequate under §6, his role in the demonstra-
tion and the amount of his financial interest were much less than. for example.
Captain Hanlon's. In addition, while nat a defense, fairness dictates that some
mitigating role be given to the fact that Commissioner Trabuceo's oral permis-
sion 10 Capuain Hanlon could have easily misled Mr. Sestini 2s to what the law
required, and. where Mr. Sestini did inform Commissioner Trabucco of his
stock ownership, the Commissioner could have and should have insisted on
strict compliance with §6 which would have kept Mr. Sestini from violating the
law.

DATE: February 6, 1986

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 301

IN THE MATTER
OF
LOUIS H. SAKIN

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
"into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Louis H. Sakin (Mr. Sakin) pursuant to section
11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Procedures. This
Agreement constitutes a consented to final Commission
order enforceable in the Superior Court pursuant to
G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On October 8, 1985, the Commission initiated a
preliminary inquiry pursuant to G.L. ¢. 268B, §4(d),
into possible violations of the conflict of interest law,
G.L. c. 268A, by Mr. Sakin, Executive Director of the
Criminal History Systems Board (CHSB). The Commis-
sion concluded the preliminary inquiry and, on
December 17, 1985, found reasonable cause to believe
that Mr, Sakin had violated ¢. 268A, §6.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

L. At all relevant times, Mr. Sakin has been the
CHSB executive director, responsible for all of CHSB's
activities. The CHSB operates the states’s computerized
criminal justice information system. This computer
system allows the various local, state and federal law en-
forcement agencies to report, store and exchange infor-
mation regarding criminal activity.

2. From January, 1884 to June, 1984, Lo-Jack Cor-
poration (Lo-Jack) officials met with Mr. Sakin and other
Executive Office of Public Safety (EOPS) employees on
several occasions to develop a proposal by which the
state would agree to test and demonstrate an anti-auto-
theft device developed by Lo-Jack.
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3. These discussions culminated in a gift agree-
ment on June 19, 1984, between the commonwealth and
Lo:Jack whereby Lo-Jack would provide the necessary
computer equipment, tracking devices, receivers and
technical expertise in return for the commonwealth's
installation and demonstration of the product. Mr.
Sakin signed the agreement on behalf of the CHSB, the
agrecment later being accepted by Department of
Public Safety Commissioner Trabucco and approved by
EOPS Secretary Barry.

4. The agreement provided that the state’s respons-
ibilities would be divided between the CHSB and the
State Police. The CHSB wouid be responsible for pro-
viding technical support for Lo-Jack regarding the instal-
lation of the primary computer network which controls
the LoJack tracking system, for writing the software and
for maintaining this computer system. The State Police
responsibilities were also identified. The agreement
went on to provide that both the CHSB and the State
Police would designate a liaison person to represent the
interests of each respective agency vis-a-vis the other
parties involved.

5. Shortly before signing the agreement, Mr. Sakin
asked CHSB's general counsel if it would be a violation
of the state conflict of interest law if he purchased Lo-
Jack stock. The general counsel states that he told Mr.
Sakin there would be no problem in his purchasing Lo-
Jack stock if he waited until a public announcement of
the agreement was made. The general counsel describes
his advice as being an informal opinion.

6. A pressrelease was issued on or about June 20,
1984 announcing the agreement between the common-
wealth and Lo:Jack. The agreement was reported in the
media on june 25 and 27, 1985.

7. On June 27, 1984, Mr. Sakin purchased 300
units of LoJack stock at.97 cents per unit (this amounts
to 600 shares at 48.5 cents per share or $291.00). He later
sold these units on April 8, 1985 at $10 per unit, making
a net profit before taxes of approximately $2,700.00

8. Mr.5akin was the liaison person for the CHSB
for the purposes of implementing the Lo-Jack agree-
ment.

9. Mr. Sakin acted as the CHSB liaison from the
time he signed the agreement through at least the
demonstration of the device for the Governor on April
12, 1985. In the late summer or early fall of 1985, he
selected the CHSB staff people to develop the necessary
software to make the system work. In February, 1985, he
designated responsibility for moving the system out of
the developmental stage and into the demonstration
stage to other staff members.

10. Inorabout December of 1984, the "key players”
involved in the testing/demonstration of the Lo-Jack
device began to discuss progress and problems. This
group involved representatives from the CHSB, the
State Police, Lo-Jack and Lojack's consultant, Micro-



logic, Meetings occurred approximately bi-weekly be.
tween December of 1984 and April of 1985 as prepara-
tions quickened for the Governor's demonstration. Mr.
Sakin attended most of these meetings. Although no
minutes were kept of who said what at these meetings,
Mr. Sakin generally gave a brief progress report regard-
ing the CHSB's role. Atone meeting Mr. Sakin spoke at
some length on how the Lo-Jack system’s sofiware would
have to be designed in order to meet, the CHSB com-
puter standards.

11. Between December 1984 and February 1985, a
disagreement occurred between a CHSB person and a
Micrologic person as to a hardware issue. Mr. Sakin
became personally involved and called Micrologic's
president into his office for a meeting at which the issue
in question was resolved.

12. In each of his monthly reports to EOPS Secre-
tary Barry from August 1984 through May 1985, Mr.
Sakin briefly reported on Lo-Jack.

13. Section 6 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a state
employee from participating in a particular matter in
which to his knowledge he has a financial interest.

14. The contractual agreement between Lo-Jack
and CHSB to install and demonstrate the Lo-Jack anti-
auto-theft device is a “particular matter” as defined in
G.L. c. 268A, §1(k).

15, Mr. Sakin participated in the contract when,
after the contract was executed, he acted as CHSB's
liaison person, selected the CHSB staff to work on the
project, attended the progress meetings, personally
intervened in resolving issues as they arose, and provid-
ed monthly status reports to EOPS Secretary Barry.

16. Mr. Sakin's participation in these contract-
related matters occurred at a time when he owned stock
in Lo-Jack.

17. By participating in the testing/{demonstrating of
the LoJack device at a time when he owned 600 shares of
Lo-Jack stock, Mr. Sakin violated G.L. c. 268A, §6.

18. The Commission is aware of no evidence that
Mr. Sakin's performance of his official duties was influ-
enced by his owning Lo-Jack stock. Indeed he showed
sensitivity to the potential conflict by seeking advice as
to the legality of his activities.!/

On these facts, however, the Commission will not
give deference to Mr. Sakin's seeking and obtaining
legal advice. The advice was sought and received orally.
According to CHSB's general counsel, the advice was
informal.

As the Commission made clear in recent Disposition
Agreements involving certain City of Revere officials,?
if a public employee involved in a potentially serious
conflict of interest situation seeks to rely on a legal opin-
ion as ashield against action by this Commission, the im-
portant substantive provisions controlling the issuance
of such opinions must be followed. Of critical impor-
tance is that the opinion be in writing and be made a
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matter of publicrecord. See G.L. c. 2684, §22. And as to
state and county employees, the only opinion which witl
be a complete defense is one obtained from the Com-
mission itself. G.L. c. 268B, §3(g). Had CHSB's general
counsel provided a formal written opinion, his research
may have been more thorough and/or may have includ-
ed contacting the Commission, either of which should
have resulted in the conclusion that Mr. Sakin's duties
were such that absent an exemption from his appoint-
ing authority, he could not participate in the testing
demonstration while owning stock./

Nonetheless, the Commission has given considera-
tion to Mr. Sakin's having obtained legal advice from his
general counsel. Accordingly, while the Commission
can impose up to a $2,000 fine for each violation of §6,
it has determined that a relatively small fine here prop-
erly reflects this mitigating factor. That it has insisted on
a public resolution and a fine reflects the importance
the Commission places on proper compliance with §6
and the manner by which one may obtain and relyon a
conflict of interest opinion. These provisions are more
than mere technicalities. They protect the public inter-
est from potentially serious harm.

Based on the foregoing, the Commission has deter-
mined that the public interest would be served by the
disposition of this matter without further Commission
enforcement proceedings on the basis of the following
terms, to which Mr. Sakin has agreed:

1. thathe pay the Commission the sum of two

hundred and fifty dollars ($250.00) forth.
with as a civil penalty for violating G.L. c.
268A, §6; and

2. that hewaive all rights to contest these find-

ings of fact and conclusions of law and con-
ditions contained in this Agreement in this
or any related administrative or judicial
proceedings in which the Commission isa

party.
Date: February 6, 1986

‘lHe also disclosed the fact that he owned Lo-Jack stock in his 1984 Staie:
ment of Financial Interests which was filed with the Commission on April 8,
1985. In addition, Mr. Sakin {ully cooperated with the Commission’s staif in
investigating this matter.

"o the Matter of John A. Deleire (Dkt. No. 289} and In the Marter of
James F. Connery (Dke. No. 285).

'fSection 6 provides an exemption for a state employee whose duties
require him 1o participate in a particular matter in which he has a financial inter-
est; (1) he must advise his appointing official and this Commission of the nature
and circumstunces of the particular matter and make full disclosure of his finan-
cial interest; and (2) the appointing official shall then assign the matter to another

ployee, assume ibility for it himself. or mzke a written determination
{and file it with this Commission) that the financial interest is not yo subsanirial as
10 be deemed likely to alfect the integrity of the employec's services.

The requirements of this exemption must be followed 10 the letter. See.
e.g.. In the Matter of John J. Hanlon (Dk1, No. 299) ($500 finc imposed an a state
police capuain for participating in the Lo-Jack testingidemonstration while he
owned Lo-Jack siock notwithstanding his having received his appointing
authority's oral permission to do 3o, the Commission emphasizing the impar-
1ance nf the permission being in writing and filed with the Commission)

P



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 302
INTHEMATTER
OF
DONALD HATCH
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion}and Donald Harch (Mr. Hatch) pursuant to section
11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Procedures. This
Agreement constitutes a consented to final Commission
order enforceable in Superior Court under G.L. c. 268B,
§4(d).

On September 11, 1985, the Commission initiated
a preliminary inquiry, pursuant to ¢. 268B, §4, into
allegations that Mr. Hatch, an inspector for the Depart-
ment of Public Utilities, had violated the conflict of
interest law, G.L. ¢. 268A. The Commission concluded
its inquiry on January 14, 1986, finding reasonable cause
to believe that Mr. Hatch had violated c. 268A, §6.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Mr. Haich has been an inspector for the Depart-
ment of Public Utilities (BPU) since 1977. As such, he is
a state employee within the meaning of G.L. c. 2684,
§1(q).

2. Asa DPU inspector, Mr. Hatch conducts rail-
road and bus safety inspections in western Massachu-
setts. Beginning in 1977 and continuing through the
spring of 1985, Mr. Hatch conducted DPU inspections
of vehicles (approximately 100 on each inspection)
owned by Holyoke Street Railway Company (HSRC) as
part of his official responsibilities. (The HSRC vehicles
which Mr. Hatch inspected included school buses used
by HSRC to transport students in the Holyoke public
school system.) Mr. Hatch conducted a DPU inspection
of HSRC's vehicles in approximately February and
November or December of each year. Accordingly, for
the fall 1982 to spring 1985 period, he conducted a total
of six DPU inspections of HSRC's buses.

3. At the time Mr. Hatch conducted each of the
above described DPU inspections, he was aware that he
would shortly thereafter be conducting a private inspec-
tion for HSRC.

4. inthe fall of 1982, the president of HSRC asked
Mr. Hatch if he would conduct private inspections of
HSRC vehicles. (HSRC was required by their agreement
with the Holyoke school department to conduct two
private inspections each year of the school buses. These
private inspections were to be at HSRC's expense (ap-

proximately $7.00 per bus inspected) and were in addi-
tion to the two DPU inspections conducted annuaily.
The two private inspections were to be completed by
approximately December and March of each school
year.)

5. Mr. Hatch orally agreed to conduct the private
inspections for HSRC and in approximately December.
1982, shortly after conducting his DPU inspections of
HSRC's buses, he conducted his first private inspection
for the company. Similarly, he thereafter conducted
additional private inspections for HSRC in approxi-
mately February, 1983; December, 1983; February, 1984
December, 1984; and February, 1985, each occurring
shortly after or during his DPU inspection of those
buses.

6. General Laws c. 268A, §6 prohibits a state
employee from participating as such in a particular
matter in which to his knowledge, a business organiza-
tion by which he is employed or with which he has any
arrangement concerning prospective employment, has
a financial interest.

7. By participating in official DPU inspections of
HSRC vehicles on six occasions from November, 1982
through February, 1985, while on each occasion having
an arrangement with HSRC to perform the upcoming
private inspections for that same company, Mr. Hatch
violated §6.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would'be served by the disposi-
tion of this matter without further enforcement pro-
ceedings on the basis of the following:

1. Mr. Hatch will cease and desist from participat-
ing as a state employee in any particular matter in which

- a business organization by which he is employed or with

which he has any arrangement concerning prospective
employment has a financial interest; and

2. Mr. Hatch will pay to the State Ethics Commis-
sion the amount of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) as
a civil penalty for violating G.L. c. 268A, §6.

DATE: February 20, 1986

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 303
IN THE MATTER
OF
MARY V. KURKJIAN
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-



sion) and Mary V. Kurkjian (Ms. Kurkjian) pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission's Enforcement Procedures.
This Agreement constitutes a consented to final Com-
mission order enforceable in the Superior Court pur-
suant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On October 8, 1985, the Commission instituted a
preliminary tnquiry, pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(a), into
possible violations of the conflict of interest law, G.L. c.
268A, involving Ms. Kurkjian, former Deputy Director
for Administration and Finance at the Division of Em-
ployment Security (DES). The Commission has conciud-
ed that preliminary inquiry and, on January 14, 1986,
found reasonable cause to believe that Ms. Kurkjian
violated G.L. c. 268A, §6.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law;

I. Ms. Kurkjian was the Deputy Director for
Administration and Finance at DES from March, 1983
until October 19, 1984. As such, she was a state employee
as defined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(g).

2. Purchasing a mainframe computer and ensur-
ing that it was ready for use by January 1, 1985 in order
to institute a new unemployment insurance claim pro-
gram was one of DES' highest priorities during 1984.
Because Ms. Kurkjian supervised both the DES Elec-
tronic Data Processing (EDP) and Facilities Manage-
ment departments, this computer concern was her
single highest priority.

3. DES decided to purchase a Sperry mainframe
computer in April, 1984 for $7,100,000. Shortly there-
after, Ms. Kurkjian learned that DES’ existing computer
room would need to be substantially modified to accom-
modate the new computer.

Because the original mainframe contract contained
astandard Sperry clause stating that Sperry would not
be responsible for computer site room preparation, Ms.
Kurkjian and her EDP and Facilities managers sought to
amend the contract to have Sperry make the renova-
tions as part of Sperry's responsibility to make the com-
puter room “ready for use.”

4. Amending the contract was a difficult process
involving Ms. Kurkjian, her Facilities and EDP manag-
ers, as well as Bureau of Systems Policy and Planning
(BSPP), Office of Management Information Systems
(OMIS) and Division of Capital Planning and Opera-
tions (DCPO) representatives. A major issue was which
organization, Sperry or DCPQO, would be responsible for
which renovations.

After several weeks of negotiations, DES and DCPO
on August 27, 1984 agreed as to their appropriate re-
sponsibilities for the renovations. It was also agreed that
renovations for which Sperry was responsible would be
done by Sperry through an amendment to the original
contract. The agreement, however, was not reduced to
writing.
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Despite the lack of a signed document, in the minds
of at least Ms. Kurkjian and her EDP and Facilities man-

agers the only question to be resolved was the amend-

ment's maximum dollar amount. Between August 28 and
early October, DES' EDP manager worked with DCPO
and Sperry to arrive at a figure for the amendment.

5. Sperry signed the amendment on October 11,
after DES, DCPO, BSPP and Sperry agreed to $257,894
as the maximum dollar amount for the rencvations.
This figure reflected the work to be done by Sperry sub-
contractors at cost and included a flat $5,000 manage-
ment fee to be retained by Sperry. The amendment’s
significance went beyond its amount, however, because
it enabled the commonweaith to have a much needed
computer on-line in a timely fashion, and it benefitted
Sperry because DES would not pay Sperry the §7,100,000
until the computer was installed and ready for use (i.e..
until after the site preparation work contemplated by
the amendment was completed).

6. Ms. Kurkjian announced her resignation from
DES on September 17, 1984,

7. On Tuesday or Wednesday, September 18 or
19, Sperry’s Boston branch manager called Ms. Kurkjian
as he had heard she was resigning. He expressed his best
wishes and asked about her future plans. When she re-
plied that she had no plans, he suggested that they have
tunch. Ms. Kurkjian told him that she thought it would
be interesting to speak with him about the high tech-
nology industry. They agreed to have lunch on Septem-
ber 24.

8. At lunch on September 24, Ms. Kurkjian and
Sperty's branch manager spoke about the hi-technology
industry generally and the types of positions for which
she would be suited. He then spoke about Sperry, and an
opening which he knew about in public sector market-
ing. He did not go into any detail about the position, but
simply stated that if Ms. Kurkjian was interested, he
would contact a Sperry vice-president. Ms. Kurkjian
stated that she was interested.

9. OnoraboutOctober 1, a Sperry vice-president
and Ms. Kurkjian spoke on the telephone about the posi-
tion in public sector marketing. Ms. Kurkjian indicated
her interest in further exploring the possibility, and they
agreed to have lunch on October 17.

10. After receiving the signed amendment on or
about October 11 from Sperry, Ms. Kurkjian recognized
that DCPO, OMIS and BSPP had never indicated their
approval in writing. Consequently, on Tuesday, October
16, Ms. Kurkjian sent 2 memo to DCPO and BSPP con-
firming an October 23 meeting to have all parties agree
in writing as to the scope of the amendment.

11. On October 17, Ms. Kurkjian met with the
Sperry vice president for lunch for just over an hour. He
spoke about the computer industry generally, where
Sperry fell within that industry, and then asked if Ms.
Kurkjian was interested in the public sector marketing



position. Ms. Kurkjian indicated her interest, but in-
dicated she was close to an agreement with the Depart-
ment of Revenue about 2 position there."/ The Sperry
vice president said he would contact Sperry's Director of
Marketing, who was responsible for filling the position.

12. During Ms. Kurkjian's last two weeks at DES
(October 8 19, 1984), DES’ director was out of the coun-
iry. Because DES, DCPO, BSPP and OMIS were all in
oral agreement about the Sperry amendment, in the
beginning of her last week at work, Ms. Kurkjian sought
to have the amendment signed by the acting director.

13. The actingdirector declined to sign the amend-
ment because of its amount, his unfamiliarity with the
issues involved, and Ms. Kurkjian's statement to him that
the only negative impact of his refusal to sign was a six-
day delay,

14. In a final memo written to DES’ director on
October 19 discussing various pending projects, Ms.
Kurkjian advised that the acting director chose not to
sign the amendment due to its controversial nature, and
that it required the director's immediate action. Ms.
Kurkjian explained that the contract amount was within
budgetand was for work within the scope agreed upon
with DCPO.

_ 15. On October 22, 1984, Ms. Kurkjian had lunch
with DES’ director, and discussed, among other matters,
the October 19 memo, including the Sperry amendment.

16. Both the scope and cost of the Sperry amend-
ment were finalized in writing on October 30, 1984,

17. On November 1, 1984, Ms. Kurkjian interviewed
at Sperry in New York.

18. On November 9, 1984, Sperry offered Ms.
Kurkjian a job and she accepted. She began working as
Sperry’s Manager of Public Sector Marketing on Novem-
ber 26, 1984.

19. General Laws c. 268A, §6 prohibits a state
employee from participating in a particular matter in
which to her knowledge a business organization with
which she is negotiating or has a prospective arrange.
ment for employment has a financial interest.

20. When Ms. Kurkjian had lunch with the Sperry
vicepresident on October 17, she was negotiating for
employment with Sperry within the meaning of c. 268A,
§6. The lunch meeting was specifically arranged for the
purpose of discussing the possibility of Ms. Kurkjian go-
ing to work for Sperry. Ms. Kurkjian and the Sperry vice.
president met for lunch and discussed the job, and Ms.
Kurkjian further affirmatively indicated her interest in
pursuing the opportunity by tetling the Sperry vice-
president he could have Sperry’s marketing director
contact her.

21. Ms. Kurkjian was also negotiating with Sperry
when she earlier spoke with the Sperry vice-president on
the telephone on or about Octaber 1.Y

22. The computer room site preparation amend-
ment is a “particular matter” within the meaning of
G.L. c. 268A, §1(k).
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23. AsaDES emplovee, Ms. Kurkjian participated
in the computer room amendment on three occasions
after she began negotiating employment with Sperry on
or about October 1 by: (1) issuing her October 16 memo.
and having the discussions with her staff which prefaced
it, directed towards obtaining written approvals from
BSPP and DCPO regarding the amendment; (2) attempt-
ing to have the DES acting director sign the amendment
during the week of October 15; (3) writing and submit.
ting her October 19 memo to the DES director and by
meeting with the director on October 22. In both the
memo and the meeting, she advised the DES director
that the amendment was ready for her signature, and
should be signed immediately.

24. Sperry had a financial interest in the amend-
ment not only that Sperry would receive $257,804
(regardless of whether it was limited to a set adminis-
trative fee of $5,000); but more importantly, it would not
receive its §7.1 million until the computer room had
been properly prepared by either the commonwealth
(DCPO) or Sperry.

25. Therefore, Ms. Kurkjian violated G.L. c. 268A,
§6 when she participated in the computer room site
preparation amendment after beginning negotiating
for employment with Sperry.

26. The Commission has found no evidence to
suggest that in her capacity as a DES employee, Ms.
Kurkjian acted to provide any special or favorable treat-
ment to Sperry while she was negotiating for employ-
ment with Sperry.*/ No such evidence, however, is neces-
sary to establish a §6 violation. Section 6, like many of
the other sections of G.L. c. 2684, is intended to prevent
any questions arising as to whether the public interest
has been served with the single minded devotion re-
quired of public employees.

In view of the foregoing violation of G.L. c. 268A, §6,
the Commission has determined that the public interest
would be served by the disposition of this matter with-
out further enforcement proceedings on the basis of
the following terms and conditions agreed to by Ms.
Kurkjian:

1. that she pay to the Commission the sum of
$1,000 as a civil penalty for violating G.L. c. 268A, §6;
and

2. thatshe waive all rights to contest the findings
of fact, conclusions of law and terms and conditions con-
tained in this agreement in any related administrative or

Jjudicial proceeding to which the Commission is a party.

DATE: March 26, 1986

‘/During most of the ume that M3, Kurkjian was negotiating for employ-
ment with Sperry, she was even more interested in an opportunity with the
Department of Revenue ("DOR"). Ms. Kurkjian and DOR faited to agree on
contract terms however, and she decided not to accept their offer someuime
between October 26 — November 1,1984.



“OnSeptember 24. Sperry s branch manager had raised the posaibility of
emplovment 0 Ms. Kurkjian and she responded affirmauvely by having the
early October telephone conversation with the Sperry vice-president regarding
that job. Whether the September 24th lunch involved negotrating for emplav
ment need not be resalved for the purposes of this Disposition Agreement.

"The evidence indicates that Ms. Kurkjian's actions with respect to the
contract amendment were performed in the course of her official duties. and in
fact benefitied the commonwealth by allowing the computer 1o be installed and
onlinein a timelv fashion.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 307

IN THE MATTER
OF
GEORGE W. RIPLEY, JR.

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and George W. Ripley, Jr. (Mr. Ripley) pursuant to
Section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Proce-
dures. This agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On November 29, 1985, the Commission initiated a
preliminary inquiry, pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(a), into
possible violations of the conflict of interest law, G.L. c.
268A, by Mr. Ripley, Commissioner of the Department
of Labor and Industries (DLI). The Commission has con-
cluded that preliminary inquiry and, on March 25, 1986,
found reasonable cause to believe that Mr. Ripley vio-
lated G.L. c. 268A, §6. . ’

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

I. Mr. Ripley was sworn in as DLI Commissioner
on July 15, 1983 and began work on August 1, 1983, Mr.
Ripley is therefore a state employee as defined in §1(qg)
of G.L. c. 268A.

2. Mr. Ripley has supervisory responsibilities over
the six divisions within DLI: industrial safety, occupa-
tional hygiene, apprenticeship and training, employee
services, administration (including legal) and minimum
wage. Mr. Ripley reports to the secretary of labor.

3. TheDLI head administrative assistant, Richard
Hartigan, has the initial responsibility for hiring and
personnel decisions for all DLI's divisions. He makes
recommendations to Commissioner Ripley about whom
should be hired.

4. Inorabout December of 1983, DL was trying to
fill the assistant administrative assistant position.
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3. Mr. Hartigan spoke with Mr. Ripley on several
occasions about the need to fill the assistant's position.
On one such occasion, Mr. Ripley told Mr, H artigan that

" he had a daughter with private and public sector em

ployment experience who might be interested in the
position.

6. When Mr. Hartigan was receptive 1o this sugges:
tion, Mr. Ripley asked Mr. Hartigan if hiring his daugh-
ter would present a conflict of interest problem, and Mr.
Hartigan told Mr. Ripley that it would not. Mr. Hartigan
did not seek legal advice in rendering this opinion. Mr.
Ripley did not consult with the DLI general counsel, the
department's two other senior counsels, the secretary of
labor, or the Commission.

7. Mr. Ripley told his daughter about the position
in mid-December, 1983, and she submitted her resume
via Mr. Ripley.

8. In late December, after receiving the resume,
Mr. Hartigan reported o Mr. Ripley that he wanted 1o
hire Mr. Ripley's daughter and prepared the papers for
her appointment. Mr. Ripley signed the form appoint-
ing his daughter, as did the affirmative action officer
and the secretary of labor. Mr. Ripley did not advise the
official responsible for appointment to his position (the
governor) or the Commission that the person being
hired was his daughter.

9. Mr. Ripley's daughter began work on January 2,
1984 at a weekly salary of $319.39. In December, 1984,
she received a step raise which brought her weekly
salary to $330.51. In practice, step raises are virtually
automatic. Under G.L. c. 30, §46, step raises are given
annually to state employees uniess an appointing au-
thority objects. The same statutory provision requires
the appointing authority to certify step-raise schedules
for his employees before those raises may become effec-
tive. Under this statutory scheme, Mr. Ripley approved
the step raise for his daughter.

10. Mr. Ripley's daughter resigned from her posi-
tion as assistant administrative assistant on December
16, 1985.

1]. Sometime before April, 1984, Mr. Hartigan told
Mr. Ripley that there were no interested applicants for
the clerkitypist opening in DLI's Fall River/New Bedford
office, and that the director of industrial safety had told
Mr. Hartigan that they had to hire someone scon. Mr.
Ripley told Mr. Hartigan that his older daughter, who
had secretarial experience, was looking for a job.

12. This older daughter came into the office, and
Mr. Hartigan gave her a typing test. Mr. Hartigan found
her to be competent for the position. There were still no
other applicants, and he offered her the job.

13. Mr. Hartigan completed the documents for the
appointment of Mr. Ripley’s older daughter. Mr. Ripley
approved the appointment, as did the affirmative action
office and secretary of labor. Mr. Ripley did not advise
the governor or the Commission that the person being



hired for the Fall River/New Bedford position was his
daughter.

14. Mr. Ripley's older daughter accepted the posi-
tion at a weekly salary of $228.06 and began work on
April 15, 1984,

15. This daughter resigned her Fall River/New
Bedford position on December 23, 1985.

16. General Laws c. 268A, §6 prohibits a state
employee from participating as such in a matter in
which a member of his immediate family, such as a
daughter, has a financial interest. Any state employee
whose duties require him to participate in such a par-
ticular matter is required to advise the official respons-
ible for appointment to his position and the Ethics
Commission of the nature and circumstances of the par-
ticular matter and make full disclosure of such financial
interest. The appointing official must then either assign
the particular matter to another employee, assume re-
sponsibility for the particular matter himself, or make a
written determination, with copies forwarded to the
employee and the Commission, that the interest is not so
substantial as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity
of the services which the commonwealth may expect
from the employee,

I7. Mr. Ripley violated G.L. c. 268A, §6 when he
participated in the January 1, 1984 hiring of and the
December 29, 1984 raise for one of his daughters, and
when he participated in the April 15, 1984 hiring of
another daughter. In none of these instances did Mr.
Ripley advise his appointing official (the governor) or
the Commission of the hiring of either daughter or of
the step raise he approved for one of them. The Com-
mission found no evidence that Mr. Ripley intentionally
violated §6.

In view of the foregoing violations of G.L. c. 268A,
§6, the Commission has determined that the public in-
terest would be served by the disposition of this matter
without further enforcement proceedings on the basis
of the following terms and conditions agreed to by Mr.
Ripley:

1. that he pay to the Commission the sum of one
thousand dollars ($1,000) as a civil penalty for violating
§6 by participating in the hiring of and step raise for one
of his daughters; and

2. that he pay to the Commission the sum of one
thousand dollars ($1,000) as a civil penalty for violating
§6 by authorizing the hiring of another of his daughters;
and

3. thathe waive all rights to contest the findings of
fact, conclusions of law and terms and conditions con-
tained in this Agreement in any related administrative
or judicial proceedings to which the Commission is a

party.
DATE: April 30, 1986
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO, 308
IN THE MATTER
OF
RALPH ANTONELLI
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Ralph Antonelli (Mr. Antonelli) pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Proce-
dures. This agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On October 8, 1985, the Commission initiated a
preliminary inquiry, pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(a), into
possible violations of the conflict of interest law, G.L. c.
268A, involving Mr. Antonelli, former assistant chief of
the Compliance Bureau of the Massachusetts Depart-
ment of Revenue (DOR). The Commission has conclud-
ed that preliminary inquiry and, on March 25, 1986,
found reasonable cause to believe that Mr. Antonelli
violated G.L. c. 268A, §5(a).

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Mr. Antonelli worked for the DOR for approxi-
mately 20 years. For most of his career he served as
assistant chief of the DOR’s Compliance Bureau, which
handled delinquent tax liability cases. As assistant chief,
Mr. Antonelli supervised compliance activity of various
DOR offices including Hyannis.

2. On February 7, 1984, a Hyannis businessman
(hereafier referred to as “taxpayer”) entered into a “pay-
ment agreement” with DOR under which he agreed his
company would pay its delinquent sales and with-
holding tax liability in installments. Pursuant to DOR
approval procedures, Mr. Antonelli, as the assistant
chief, approved the agreement.

3. Effective June 27, 1984, Mr. Antonelli retired
from his position as an assistant chief of the DOR's Com-
pliance Bureau. His last day of work was April 3, 1984.

4. The taxpayer's company faziled to meet its obli-
gation under the payment agreement, and pursuant to
DOR procedures, the case was referred to DOR's Seizure
Unit in early 1985.

5. On March 15, 1985, the Seizure Unit sent the
taxpayer a Notice of Intent to Seize, giving him ten days
to resolve his liability.

6. A mutual friend of Mr. Antonelli and the tax-
payer learned of the taxpayer's problemns with DOR and
arranged for Mr. Antonelli to assist the taxpayer in his
negotiations with DOR to stop the seizure.



7. Not long thereafter. Mr. Antonelli called a
former associate at DOR, he explained he was having
difficulty reaching the supervisor of the tax examiner
handling the case, He then discussed a propaosal he
wanted to make on behalf of the taxpayer. Mr. Antonelli
asked this DOR employee to speak to the supervisor
about the proposal. The former associate spoke with the
supervisor and was told that Mr. Antonelli would have 1o
deal directly with the tax examiner. Mr. Antonelli was so
informed.

8. Thereafter, Mr. Antonelli contacted the tax ex-
aminer and began negotiations for a new payment
agreement to avoid seizure. Mr. Antonelli filed a “power
of attorney" form with DOR in which the taxpayer form-
ally appointed Mr. Antonelli as his agent in this tax
matter.

9. OnMarch 25, 1985, Mr. Antonelli met with the
taxpayer and a DOR employee at DOR's Cambridge
office and worked out a new payment agreement.

10. Accordingto Mr. Antonelli, he performed these
services as a favor to a friend and he did not receive
compensation for his efforts.

11. Section 5(a) of G.L. c. 268A prohibits, in part, a
former employee from acting as agent for anyone other
than the commonwealth in connection with a particular
matter in which the state is a party or has a direct and
substantial interest and in which he participated as a
state employee. One purpose of Section 5 is to ensure
that former employees do not use their past friendships
and associations within government to derive unfair
advantage for themselves or others. See In the Matter
of Thomas W. Wharton, 1984, Ethics Commission, 182,

12. TheFebruary 7, 1984 payment agreement was
a particular matter as that term is defined in GL. c.
268A, §1(k).

13. Mr. Antonelli participated as a state employee
in that payment agreement by approving it on or about
February 7, 1984,

14. Mr. Antonelli acted as the taxpayer's agent in
connection with the payment agreement when he first
attempted to negotiate a new payment agreement with
DOR employees, when he submitted a power of at-
torney, and when he subsequently accompanied the tax-
payer to DOR and negotiated a new payment
agreement.

15. By so acting as the taxpayer’s agent in connec-
tion with the payment agreement, Mr. Antonelli vio-
lated G.L. c. 2684, §5(a).

Based on the foregoing, the Commission has deter-
mined that the public interest would be served by the
disposition of this matter without further Commission
enforcement proceedings on the basis of the following
terms, to which Mr. Antonelli has agreed:

1. that he pay the Commission the sum of
five hundred dollars ($500) forthwith
as a civil penalty for violating G.L. c.
268A, §5(a); and
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)

that he waive all rights to contest these
findings of fact and conclusions of law
and conditions contained in the agree-
ment in this or related administrative
or judicial proceedings in which the
Commission is a party.

DATE: May 1, 1986

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 294
IN THE MATTER
OF
ROBERT J. QUINN
Appearances:

Sally C. Reid, Esq.
Counsel for Petitioner State Ethics Commission

David D. Kenefick, Counsel for Respondent
Robert J. Quinn

Commissioners:
Diver, Ch., Burns, Gargiulo, Mulligan, Sweeney

DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

On October 23, 1983 the Commission advised the
Respondent, Robert]. Quinn, that G.L. c. 268A, §4 pro-
hibited his dual employment as a full time state em-
ployee while at the same time serving as a bail commis-
sioner. EC.COI-83-143. Following Quinn’s failure to
comply with the advice, the Commission voted on
December 20, 1984 to initiate a preliminary inquiry
into whether Quinn violated section 4 relating to his
acceptance of compensation as a bail commissioner
while employed by the Metropolitan District Commis-
sion (MDC), a state agency. Although, on March 12, 1985
the Commission found that there was no reasonable
cause to believe that respondent’s actions violated sec-
tion 4, on April 23, 1985 the Commission subsequently
voted to initiate a preliminary inquiry into whether
Quinn violated section 7, and other related sections of
the conflict of interest law. On May 28, 1985 the Com-
mission found sufficient facts to find reasonable cause
of viclation of section 7, but in lieu of finding reason-
able cause authorized the staff to send a compliance
letter.'/ Quinn did not comply with the terms of the let-
ter; therefore, on August 13, 1985, the Commission
again voted to initiate a preliminary inquiry, and on
October 8, 1985 found reasonable cause to find that
Quinn was in violation of section 7. On October 23,



1985 an Order to Show Cause was issued. The Order to
Show Cause alleged that by holding two state positions,
one with the MDC and one as a bail commissioner,
Quinn violated §7. Quinn filed an Answer on December
6, 1985, in which he admitted that he served in the two
positions until 1985, He also answered that he terminat-
ed his MDC position and commenced employment with
the Massachusetts Water Resource Authority. (MWRA).
In addition to raising three affirmative defenses, Quinn
asserted that bail commissioners are not state employees
and that his appointment is not a contract made by a
state agency. Based on Quinn’s responses in his Answer,
the Petitioner sought leave to amend the Order to
Show Cause, which leave was granted by Commissioner
Constance Sweeney on January 29, 1986. An adjudica-
tory hearing was held on February 24, 1986. Thereafter
the parties submitted briefs, and orally argued before
the full Commission on April 8, 1986. In rendering this
Decision and Order, each member of the Commission
has reviewed the evidence and arguments presented by
the parties.

II. Findings of Fact

1. Quinn was executive assistant to the Massachu-
- setts District Commission from July 1977 until approx-
imately 1985. As such, he was a state employee within
the meaning of G.L. c. 2684, §1(q).

2. Quinn admits that his position as executive
assistant to the MDC commissioner was a contract made
by a state agency in which he had a direct financial
interest In this position, Quinn rendered services to the
MDC and, in return, was paid by the commonwealth.

3. In 1985, Quinn became acting comptroller of
the Massachusetts Water Resource Authority. (MWRA).
As such, he is a state employee within the meaning of
G.L. c. 268A, §1(q).

4. Quinn admits that his position as MWRA acting
comptroller is a contract made by a state agency in
which he has a direct financial interest. In this position,
Quinn renders services to the MWRA, and in return, the
commonwealith pays him.

5. In1872, Quinn was appointed as a bail commis-
sioner by the justices of the Massachusetts Superior
Court serving as the Court's Bail Committee. His ap-
pointment covered the judicial district of the Northern
Norfolk Division of the District Court Department of
the Trial Court. Quinn continues to serve as a bail com-
missioner, his most recent reappointment date being
January 18, 1985.

6. When Quinn executes his duties as bail commis-
sioner, he receives compensation in the form of fees
paid by the subjects of the bail hearings he conducts.

7. The bail commissioner paosition is created by
statute, G.L. c. 276, §57. Pursuant to that statute the
Superior Court Department appoints bail commis-
sioners to conduct bail hearings outside of normal court
hours.
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8. Bail commissioners, clerks and assistant clerks
perform the same functions in making bail determina-
tions. They are entitled by G.L. C. 262, § 24 1o receive
fees for making bail determinations. These fees are paid
to them by the defendants whose bail hearings they con-
duct. In ninety-nine percent of the cases the maximum
fee authorized by statute is charged.

9. The bail commissioner position is regulated by
statute. G.L. c. 276, §§57, 58, 60-61, 62-65, 82; G.L. c. 262,
§24. In addition, the Superior Court has established
rules regulating the conduct of bail commissioners.
(Rules Governing Persons Authorized to Take Bail,
hereinafter cited as “Rule[s]").

10. The statute and the rules prescribe particular
steps that a bail commissioner must take in conducting
his inquiry to determine whether a defendant should be
released on bail or on personal recognizance. G.L. c.
276, §§57, 58, 60, 62; Rules 19, 38. The statute and rules
also prescribe the information the bail commissioner
should obtain in making his inquiry and the factors he
should weigh in making his decision. G.1.. c. 276, §§57,
58, 61; Rules 2, 22, 24, 26-28, 40.

11. Under G.L. c. 276, §42, the state has an obliga-

tion to make bail determinations. During court hours,
Jjudges (and district court clerks, when available) con-
duct bail hearings, Qutside of normal court hours, these
hearings are conducted by clerks, assistant cierks and
bail commissioners. The Court makes such an appoint-
ment when the volume in a jurisdiction warrants a bail
commissioner in addition to the district court clerks and
assistant clerks. The primary purpose of the bail deter-
mination is to assure the presence at court of any de-
fendant who is released. Rule 2. The hearings conducted
are essentially the same, whether a judge, clerk or bail
commissioner presides, See G.L. c. 276, §§57, 58; Rules
2,18, 19, 24, 26-28.

12. The Court ruies characterize the bail commis-
sioner’s duties as quasijudicial, and those rules direct
bail commissioners to perform their duties with the
impartiality and dignity befitting “the performance of
a judicial act.” Rules 2, 18, 19.

13. A bail commissioner’s jurisdiction is confined
strictly to the geographical area specified in his appoint-
ment papers from the Court. See Rules 10, 11. Under the
Court’s rules, a bail commissioner may respond to
requests that he perform his duties only when those re-
quests come from certain people, Rule 15, and he must
respond “with all reasonable promptness” to every such
call, Rule 14.

14. Both statute and rules require that 2 bail com-
missioner perform particular, formal steps in making
his inquiry into what assurances may be necessary to
secure a prisoner’s appearance before the court at a
later hearing. G.L. c. 276, §58. He takes testimony sworn
under an cath which he is authorized to administer.
Rule 19. He may exercise discretion in determining
whether release on persenal recognizance reasonably



assures the prisoner's appearance or, if not, how much
bail should be required. Id, His decision must take
into account the factors outlined in the statute and the
Superior Court rules. See G.L. c. 276, §58; Rule 2,
Among other things, he must obtain any probation in-
formation available before making the bail determina-
tion. G.L. c. 276, §57. The bail commissioner must tell
the released prisoner of the penalties if he fails to ap-
pear for his hearing, G.L. c. 276, §58; Rule 38, and that
his bail may be revoked if he is arrested while out on
bail, G.L. c. 276, §58. The bail commissioner must ex-
amine any person offered as a surety to determine his
sufficiency; the statute and Superior Court rules specify
the information the bail commissioner must obtain in
this connection. G.L. c. 276, §61; Rules 22, 24, 26-28, 40.
The contents of the recognizance, affidavits, and cer-
tifications that a bail commissioner must complete or
obtain in the bajl hearing are regulated by statute and
rule. G.L. C. 276, §65, Rule 40. The bai! commissioner
must certify his recognizance and examination from
each bail hearing he conducts and return it to the court
clerk “seasonably,” which the Court has decided may
not be any later than 72 hours after the hearing, and
which in practice generally means the nextday. See G.L.
c. 276, §66; Rule 39. The bail commissioner must further
file detailed monthly reports with the Superior Court by
the second Monday of each month, itemizing each of his
bail decisions. See G.L. c. 276, §61; Rule 41. He must
certify the truth and accuracy of these reports under the
pains and penalties of perjury. Rule 41.

15. The Office of Bail Administrator selects the bail
commissioners. There is no public notice or competitive
bidding. The opportunity for appointment is not adver-
tised.

III. Discussion

The Commission concludes that, by maintaining his
appointive position and serving as bail commissioner
with the Superior Court Department while also em-
ployed full time by a state agency, Quinn has violated,
and continues to violate, G.L. c. 2684, §7.

A state employee,’ may not have a direct or indirect
financial interest in a contract made by a state agency in
which the commonwealth or a state agency is an interest-
ed party. G.L. c. 268A, §7./ When a state employee is
appointed to another state employee position and re-
ceives compensation for that second state position, the
appointment violates §7 unless an exemption applies.
See e.g., EC-COI-85.7; 84-108.

[t is well established that the scope of the contrac-
wual financial interests prohibited under G.L. c. 268A in-
cludes contracts for personal services as well as for
goods. In the Matter of Henry M. Doherty, 1982 Ethics
Commission 115, 116; EC-COI-80-118, 80-97; Buss, The
Massachusetts Conflict of Interest Statute: An Analysis,
45B.U. Law Rev. 299, 368, 372 (1965). See also Star. 1980,
c. 303.
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While it may be true, as Quinn suggests. that a pur-
pose of §7 was to prevent employees from abusing their
public positions to secure multiple state contracts, the

" plain language establishes a preventative rule which
assumes thatany employee is in a position to influence
the awarding of contracts. “Because it is impossible to
articulate a standard by which one can distinguish be-
tween employees in a position to influence and those
who are not, all will be treated as though they have influ-
ence.” Buss, supra, 374. Therefore, the fact there was no
evidence that Quinn is actually able to realize more bail
appointment opportunities as bail commissioner be-
cause he is a full time state employee is irrelevant.

Quinn does not dispute that he was and is a state
employee in his former MDC and MWRA positions, nor
does he dispute that he has a direct financial interest in
his bail commissioner appointment since he receives
fees for performing his bail commissioner duties. Quinn
has not claimed any exemption under §7 in his Answer,
at the adjudicatory hearing, or in argument. The princi-
ple issue remaining in this proceeding is whether serv-
ing asabail commissioner results in a contract between
the appointee and the Superior Court within the mean-
ing of G.L. c. 2684, §7.

The word contract is not defined in G.L. c. 268A.
The term “contract” is extremely broad and can differ
widely in meaning depending upon the context in
which the term is used. Therefore, it is incumbent upon
the Commission to interpret the term in light of the
overall purposes and intent of G.L. c. 268A.%/ In view of
the broad language used in §7, and of the preventative
purposes of the conflict of interest statute, the Commis-
sion concludes that serving as a bail commissioner in ex-
change for fees results in a contract within the meaning
of G.L. c. 268A, §7 between the Superior Court Depart-
ment and the bail commissioner. A contract results on
each occasion that the bail commissioner accepts the
opportunity of his appointment and performs his duties
and service pursuant to statutory requirements.’/ The
Commission reaches this conclusion because:

1. the appointment confers upon the appointee
the powers normally associated with public office such
as quasi- judicial functions;

2. theduties are similar or identical to the duties
performed by public employees;

3. the appointee does not determine who will be
present to receive the service and conversely, the recip-
ient has no choice as to the provision of the service;

4. the place for provision of the services is on
public property or is designated or required by public
authority;

5. the procedures and work product of the ap:
pointee are substantially regulated by a public agency:
and

6. compensation for providing the services is spe-
cifically and substantially regulated by a public agency.



The duties of a bail commissioner are quasijudicial.
In conducting bail hearings, a bail commissioner per-
forms a governmental function ordinarily expected of
a governmental employee. The statutory section estab-
lishing the right to a bail determination assigns the
responsibility to “the courtor justice.” G.L. c. 276, §42.
Section 57 of c. 276 then enlarges the class of “magis-
trates” who may admit persons to bail to include judges.
court clerks, appointed bail commissioners, masters in
chancery and justices of the peace appointed under G.L.
¢. 218, §36. Bail commissioners are thus appointed to
fulfill the state’s statutory obligation to make bail deter-
minations. There is no voluntariness on the part of a bail
commissioner in his selection of persons from whom he
will collect fees. The prisoner has no practical choice as
to who will conduct his bail hearing. A bail commis-
sioner works exclusively on state property. How a bail
commissioner conducts a bail hearing is substantially
regulated and specified formality is required in the bail
commissioner’s written work product. There are speci-
fied formal steps required of a bail commissioner in
discharging his official duties which allow for littie
discretion normally associated with a licensee. The
amount a bail commissioner may reccive as a fee is reg-

* ulated in detail. For example, the maximum fee will dif-
fer depending on the time of day. In addition, although
the statute prescribes only the “maximum” that he
actually receives, in most cases the maximum is in fact
collected.

All of these factors lead to an inevitable conclusion
that a bail commissioner performs services for the
Superior Court. It is inconsistent with common sense
and reasonable public perception to conclude that a bail
commissioner is serving the prisoner’s interest or works
on behalf of the prisoner. It is more likely, in keeping
with the quasi-judicial nature of the position, that a bail
commissioner’s loyalty must be to the state and not to
any private individual.

That the fees Quinn receives come from someone
other than the commonwealth is irrelevant. Section 7
prohibits a financial interest in a contract made by a
state agency, not in one funded by the state. It is the
existence of compensation, not the identity of its source,
that is the issue. A contrary construction would thwart
one of §7's underlying policies: preventing people who
are already state employees from having an inside track
on additional, lucrative state appointments. See Buss,
p. 368.

In summary, the Commission concludes that be-
cause Quinn performs public services for the Superior
Court, in exchange for the right to earn compensation,
he has a contract with the state each time he performs
the services of a bail commissioner at the request of the
Superior Court, within the meaning of §7 of G.L. c.
268A.%
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Although Quinn argues that the appointment as a
bail commissioner merely confers a license to exercise
a business privilege which is commonly regulated and
which without the license would be unlawful, the Com-
mission concludes that an official appointment as a bail
commissioner is not a license.

The appointment here has some of the characteris-
tics of a license: it is unassignable and revocable. On the
other hand, a license to a person to follow any particular
trade or business is distinguishable from an appoint-
ment to office because a license does not confer any of
the powers or privileges of a public officer, the duties to
be performed are not public duties, and the public has
no interest in their performance or omission. Unlike a
doctor or broker who is expected to serve his clients
first, the duties of a bail commissioner are explicitly
quasi-judicial and in fact duplicate the public functions
required to be performed by public officials, including

Jjudges. Further, a licensee is not typically provided ac-
cess to and exclusive use of state facilities. There is no
voluntariness which is common to the relationship of a
clientand licensee. There is no need for a bail commis-
sioner, unlike a licensee, to secure his own clients; a bail
commissioner has no choice as to the persons from
whom he takes fees. The prisoner has practically no
choice as to the bail commissioner to whom he pays his
fee. Unlike a licensee, a bail commissioner has practical-
ly no discretion in the contracting of fees or discretion
in the scope and type of services provided. By common
sense understanding, given the above factors, state
prisoners cannot fairly be said to be clients of a bail com-
missioner.” Therefore, the relationship between the bail
commissioner and the Superior Court cannot fairly be

-characterized as a license to conduct business with

prisoners.

Quinn raises three affirmative defenses: statute of
limitations, selective prosecution, and double jeopardy.
The Commission concludes these defenses are without
merit. Selective prosecution and double jeopardy have
no application to a civil proceeding which has a civil
remedial purpose and where the result is not “punitive
in nature”.” The statute of limitations defense is no bar,
nor relevant with respect to the continuing and present
violation allegations.”/

IV. Penalty

Following a finding of a violation of G.L. c. 268A.
the Commission is authorized by M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(d) to
issue an order requiring the violator to cease and desist
from such violation and requiring the violator to pay a
civil penalty of not more than $2000 for each violation
of M.G.L. c. 268A.

The Commission concludes that no fine is warrant.
ed for violations which predate this Decision and Order
because the result in this case was not obvious, the case
is one of first impression, and this is the first occasion



which the Commission has applied G.L. c. 268A, §7 to
the exercise of an appointment as a bail commissioner.
Quinn, and the public, are hereby made aware of the
consequences under §7 of retaining employment with
the state while also serving as a bail commissioner.
Accordingly, and in recognition of the seriousness with
which the Commission views continuing prospec.
tive violations in disregard of this Decision and Order,
the Commission issues the following prospective order.

V. Order

Pursuant to its authority under G.L. c. 268B, §4, the
Commission orders Respondent, Robert J. Quinn, to:

1. Ceaseand desist from violating G.L. c. 268A, §7
by either, refusing to accept fees in exchange for serving
as a bail commissioner, or by terminating his contract of
employment with the commonwealth within thirty (30)
days of the date of this Decision and Order,

2. [fafter thirty (30) days of notice of this Decision
and Order Quinn continues to receive or request fees in
exchange for serving as bail commissioner while also
employed by the commonwealth and fails to comply
with paragraph one of this order, he is further ordered
to pay a daily civil penalty of fifty dollars ($50.00) for
each day that he sets bail for compensation, up to a
maximum fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000).

DATE: May 6, 1986

'The Commission may issue compliance letters in those cases which do
not involve willful misconduct in an cffort to resolve the maiter confidentially.
These letters outline the relevant facis, point outactual and potential violations
of the law. and serve the purpose of notifying the individual that any further acts
by him in violation of the law may be pursued in the context of a public enforce-
ment proceeding. See, Commission’s Procedures Covering the Initiation and
Conduct of Preliminary Inquiries and Investigations, §12.

¥Section 1{q) defines state employee as "a person performing services for
or holding an office. position. empiloyment, or membership in a state agency,
whether by election, appointment, contract of hire or engagement, whether
serving with or without compensation, on a full, regular, part-time, intermittent
or consultant basis, including members of the general court and executive
council™

1A state emplovee who has a financial interest, direcily or indirecily, ina
contract made by a state agency, in which the commonwealth or a state agency
is an interested party, of which interest he has knowledge or has reason to know,
shall be punished by a fine of not more than three thousand dollars or by
imprisonment for not more thap two years, or both.

‘Massachusetty Organization of State Engineers & Scientists v, Labor
Relations Commission. 589 Mass. 920, 924 (1989).

‘Although unnecessary to its decision, the Commission also concludes
thatserving 23 bail commissioner resilws in a coniract between the state and the
hail commissioner as the word “contract” is used in traditional contract law of
uffer. acceptance, and consideration. The state offers the opportunity (o be
appainted and 10 serve as bail commissioner subject 1o regulation and supervi-
sion bv the Superior Court. Acceptance occurs on each occasion a bail commis.
sioner agrees to perform those services subject to applicable regulation.

In this case the promissor is the bail commissioner who promises to per-
form defined services. The beneficiary of the promise is the state which feceives
bail taking services afier normal working hours or on weckends when a judge or
clerk may not be available. The appointment is different than typical service
contracts only in that the source of the compensation is not the employer ar
appoinung entity. However, the casea hold that it is not necessary that the con-
sideration move from the promisee 1o the promisor, Marine Contractors Co. v.
Hurley, 365 Mass. 280 (1974), Restatement: Contracts 2d, §71(4) and comment
<(1979), and Corbin Contracty, §124 (1363). Thus, the opportunity to catn com-
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pensation from third persons is sufficient consuideration 10 support a contract
The fact that the bail commissioner 13 under no obligauon to aceept the offer
to perform bail commissioner duties does not mean that there is no contract if

_the offer iy in fact accepted. Further, the fact that the appointment mav be
termenated at the will of either party does not mean absence of a contract prior
1o termination

*fThere are no exemptions te §7 for which Quinn currenuy qualifies,
Should the availabilitv of bail commissioner appointments be publicly adver.
tised, however, Quinn would appear (o be eligible for an exemption under G L.
<. 26BA. §7(b).

Iz also follows that a person who performs services for a state agency under
a bail commissioner appointment is a state emplovee under G 1. ¢. 26BA. § Lig)
which defines a “state employee”, in relevant part, as "2 person perfocming
services for a state agency [defined to include the judicial depariment of state
government. G L c. 268A. §1{p)]. . . whether serving with or without compensa-
tion, on a full, regular, parttime. intermittent. or consultant basis. .~ As a state
employee in his bail commissioner position, Quinn is prohibited from having
a second employment contract with the state, absent an exemption. One exemp-
tion that would apply to the facts of this case is §7(d).

*The Superior Court has implicily recognized that its appointment of
bail commissioners is notan sward of a license. [n its Rules Governing Profes-
sional Bondsmen, established under the same statutory sections as ues bad com-
missioner rules, Tr. 23-24, the Superior Court states

6.  Bail bondsmen are licensed by the Court. They ars granted

a power by the court to guarantee a person's reappearance in Court.

Under this license they are allowed 1o charge a fee. Any impropriety

not covered by these rules inconsistent with the honest and efficient

administration of justice may result in suspension or revocation of

the license,

Ex. A. Subex. 16, p. 4 {emphasis added). [n contrast the rules governing bail
commissioners nowhere refer to that appointment as a “license™,

*See Commonwealth v, Dias, 385 Mass, 455 {1982); Craven v. State Ethics
Commisaion, 390 Mass. 191 (1984).

*Mamos v. School Comm, of Town of Wakefield, 553 F. Supp. 996, 1066
{D. Mass. 1942), United States v. Hare, 618 F. 2d 1085 (4th cir., 1980).

Frederick B. Cronin, Jr.
cfo James Carrigan, Esq.
15 Johnson Street
Lynn, MA 01902

RE: PUBLIC ENFORCEMENT LETTER 87-1

Dear Mr. Cronin:

As you know, the State Ethics Commission has con-
ducted a preliminary inquiry regarding an ailegation
that as a tax collector for the city of Lynn, you appointed
your brother Ralph as a deputy tax collector. The results
of our investigation (discussed below) indicate that the
conflict of interest law was violated in this case. In view
of certain mitigazing circumstances and action you have
agreed to take (also discussed below), the Commission
has determined that adjudicatory proceedings are not
warranted. Rather, the Commission has concluded that
the public interest would better be served by disclosing
the facts revealed by our investigation and explaining
the application of the law to such facts, trusting that
this advice will ensure your future understanding of.
and compliance with, the conflict law. By agreeing to
this public letter as a final resolution of this matter,
the Commission and you are agreeing that there will
be no formal action against you and that you have
chosen not to exercise your right to a hearing before the
Commission.



A. THEFACTS

1. Youhave been the Lynn tax collector since the
city council appointed you in 1978. As such, you are a
“municipal employee™ as defined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(g).

2. As tax collector, you may appoint deputies
pursuantto G.L. c. 60, §92. Your deputy appointments
must be approved by the Department of Revenue before
they become effective. Your office includes an assistant
tax collector and three deputies.

3. Deputy tax collectors pursue collection of local
taxes after a taxpayer has failed to respond to the collec-
tor’s demand letter, which is sent once the tax liability
has been delinquent for 30 days. The deputy sends the
delinquent taxpayer a notice that a warrant has been
issued and may go to the taxpayer’s home (or place of
business) with the warrant to collect the delinquent
taxes.

A deputy tax collector does not receive a salary but
receives statutory fees that vary depending on what he
has to do to collect the delinquency. For example, a
deputy is entitled to $7 for sending out the notice of war-
rant and $12 for serving it on the taxpayer in person.
These fees are included in the money collected from the
delinquent taxpayer (as are interest and demand fees
owed the city.)

4. According to you and your assistant, the depu-
ties turn over the money they have collected to the chief
deputy, who turns it over to your assistant. (The chief
deputy does not inform your assistant how much each
deputy has collected or earned in fees; he gives her the
money as a total of what the three deputies have col-
lected.) Taxpayers often come in to the office to pay the
taxes, interest and fees that they owe as well. Your assis-
tant turns over everything but the deputies’ fees — i.e.,
tax receipts, interest and fees to which the city is entitled
— to the city treasurer. She keeps the deputies’ fees and,
at the end of each week, givés the chief deputy all the
fees the deputies have earned during the week. The
chief deputy must sign that the amount your assistant is
giving him is the correct amount owed the deputies. He
then makes the distribution among the deputies. At the
end of each month, your assistant reports 1o the city
treasurer on all the money (including deputy tax collec-
tor fees) the tax collector's office has received.

5. Accordingto you and your assistant, you do not
have to sign off on anything to approve payment to the
deputies (nor do you sign off on the monthly report to
the treasurer)./

6. When you wereappointed in 1978, you inheri-
ted the previous tax collector’s five deputies. Three of
these have left (one died, the other two resigned). You
have appointed three deputies, two of whom have since
left (one voluntarily, the other when you declined to
renew his appointment after the first year).
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7. In early 1984, the chief deputy whom vou had
inherited decided to resign. You testified that you used
your usual word-of-mouth method to conduct your hir-
ing search. City councilors submitted names of possible
candidates, and your brother Ralph indicated his inter-
estin the position. You chose your brother because, you
stated, you could count on his honesty, sobriety and
levelheadedness. You testified that you told the mayor,
city solicitor and all the city councilors that you had
decided to appoint your brother and they thought it was
a good idea; you stated that you did not explicitly seek
their permission to hire your brother because they have
no role in the process. You completed the Department
of Revenue forms on the appointment and obtained
that department's approval of the appointment as re.
quired by G.L. c. 60, §92.

8. When we interviewed people to whom, vou tes-
tified, you had “disclosed” your intention to appoint
your brother, a number specifically recalled that you
had told them of this intention before you made the ap-
pointment. (Others had no specific recollection of such
a “disclosure” but said it could well have occurred; still
others recalled that they only learned of the appoint-
ment after you had made it.)

9. Ralph Cronin officially became chief deputy tax
collector in March 1984. You have reappointed him
twice. It is Ralph's full-time job. He has netted approxi-
mately $35,000 from fees annually (after his mailing
expenses are deducted) both years he has served.

B. The Conflict Law

Section 19 prohibits a municipal employee from
participating as such in a matter in which a member of
his immediate family has a financial interest. This sec-
tion thus would prohibit you, as Lynn Tax Collector,
from appointing your brother to a position like deputy
tax collector, in which he has a financial interest because
of the fees he will have the opportunity to earn. The facts
as set forth in this letter, if proven, would establish viola-
tions of §19 because they would indicate that you have
appointed and reappointed your brother as chief depu-
ty tax collector for the city of Lynn.

Section 19 does, however, include a procedure in-
volving disclosure to an official’s appointing authoriry
by which the official may avoid violating §19. That pro-
cedure requires that before the official takes the action
with respect to an immediate family member, the offi-
cial make a full disclosure to his appointing authority of
his proposed action and the immediate family mem-
ber’s financial interest in it; the appointing authority
may then, in writing, authorize the official to take the
action because the financial interest “is not so substan-
tial as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity of the
services which the municipality may expect” from the
official.



You have asserted that you, in effect, conformed
with the spirit (2lthough not the fetter) of this disclosure
procedure. Qur inquiry indicated that you did inform,
albeit informally, many (perhaps a majority) of the city
councilors, your appointing authority, and the mayor
before you appointed your brother Ralph initially.
Because of this, the Commision has decided that this
case does not warrant the initiation of formal adjudica-
tory proceedings. Rather, the Commission has deter
mined that a public enforcement letter is appropriate
and that your brother should resign as chief deputy tax
collector. Further, you have agreed that you will follow
the proper §19(b) disclosure procedure (discussed
above) should you decide you want to appoint him
again. Before you appoint him, then, you must formal-
ly inform the Lynn City Council that you propose ap-
peointing your brother as chief deputy and you must
disclose to the council that he will earn fees in the posi-
tion and thus has a financial interest in it. Only if a
majority of the city council determines and notifies you,
in writing, that your brother's financial interest in his
position is not so substantial as to be deemed likely to af:
fect the integrity of the services which the city may
expect from you, may you make the appointment.?
Should the council make such a determination, you will
need to follow this procedure each year when you resub-
mit your brother'sbond to the Department of Revenue
and thereby, in effect, reappoint him.%

You and the city council should also be aware that
§19 applies not only to appointments but would apply to
any matter in which you, as tax collector, participate and
in which your brother has a financial interest. For exam-
ple, absent an exemption from the city council, you
would violate §19 if you were involved in assigning col-
lection cases to your brother or in approving payment
of fees to your deputies.

C. Disposition

Based on its review of this matter, the Commission
has determined that the sending of this letter should be
sufficient to ensure your understanding of, and your
future compliance with, the conflict law. This matter wil
be closed once we have received evidence of your bro-
ther's resignation. Thank you very much for your co-
operation. If you have any questions, please contact me
at(617) 727-0060.

DATE: August 27, 1986

‘fWhether this procedure compors with the reporting responsibilities of
the 1ax collector setoutin G.L. . 60, §§2, 16 is beyond the scope of this letter.

The Commission is aware that. pursuant to §5 of the Overlay Deficit Act
of 1985, it is the municipality’s Chief Financial Officer who now appoints the tax
collector. Since your appointing authority was the city council, however, and
since you became tenured prior to cnactment of the [985 law, it is the city council
which should make the determination pursuant 1o §19(b).

m

‘n addion. §23. the standards of conduct section of ¢ 268A. prohibus
1 public official from aciing 1n a manner which would cause a reasonable per
son, having knowledge of the relevant circumstances. to conclude that he s likel
to act or fail to act as a resubt of someone’s kinship. See §23(bi(3). You mav run
afoul of this prohibition where your brother is chief deputy by virtue of vour
general responsibilities to oversee and supervise the conduct of the people in
your office. The exemption procedure authorized under §19, however. wauld
alsa serve to resolve any questions under §23(b} 3,

Ifyou da reappoint your brother after receiving city council approval. vou
should bear in mind that §23 also prohibits a public official from using ar
attempting 1o usc his official position to secure (or himself or someone else un
warranted privileges or exemptions which are of substantial value and which are
not praperly available to similarly situated individuals. You must therefore take
care not to treat your brather any better than any other of your deputv tax
collectars

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 312
IN THE MATTER
OF
CARLD.PITARO
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Carl D. Pitaro (Mr. Pitaro), pursuant to section
11 of the Commission’s Enforcement Procedures. This
Agreement constitutes a consented to final Commission
order enforceable in the Superior Court pursuant to
G.L. c. 268B, §4(j).

On May 20, 1986, the Commission initiated a pre.
liminary inquiry into possible violations of the conflict
of interest law, G.L. c¢. 2684, involving Mr. Pitaro, the
Mayor of the city of Brockton. The Commission con-
cluded its inquiry and, on July 29, 1986, found reason-
able cause to believe that Mr. Pitaro violated G.L. c.
268A, §3(b). Pursuant to G.L. c. 268B §4{c), the Commis-
sion also authorized the initiation of an adjudicatory
proceeding to determine whether there has been a viola-
tion. An Order to Show Cause issued on August 25,
1986, initiating such a proceeding.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. From January, 1984 to the present, Carl D.
Pitaro has been the elected Mayor of Brockton. As
Mayor of the city of Brockton, Mr. Pitaro is a municipal
employee as that term is defined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(g).

2. From January, 1984 to the present, Francis M.
Magliano has been the building superintendent for the
city of Brockton. As building superintendent, Mr.
Magliano is a municipal employee as that term is de-
fined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(g).



3. James C. Mihos is a resident of Brockton, Mas-
sachusetts. Since 1979, his family has owned a parcel of
land on Pleasant Street in Brockton which is the pro-
posed site of a new hotel project. (The land is owned by
James and Peter Mihos, Trustees of the 167 Pleasant
Street Trust.)

4. In the fall of 1984, Mr. Mihos entered into an
agreement with Ocean Properties Limited, a Florida
development company, to sell 7.3 acres of the 36 acre
parcel on Pleasant Street to Ocean Properties Limited
for development as a hotel project. Under the city of
Brockton's zoning ordinances, the parcel was zoned for
“Olffice Commercial” use, which did not allow for a
hotel. The Mihos agreement with Ocean Properties
Limited was contingent on Ocean Properties obtaining
all the necessary permits, inciuding a permitto allow a
hotel to be built on the parcel.

5. In late March, 1985, Mr. Mihos met with Mr.
Magliano in city hall to discuss the possibility of a hotel
on this site. At this meeting, Mr. Magliano advised Mr.
Mihos of the zoning issues and explained two possible
options: a special permit or a zoning change by the city
council. As a developer and citizen of Brockton, Mr.
Mihos was aware of a prior proposed hotel project
which failed to win support in the city partly because the
project did not include a “name” hotel or conference
facilities and a question had been raised concerning the
quality of the construction. Consequently, Mr. Mihos re-
quested Mr. Magliano to set up a meeting for him with
Mayor Pitaro to discuss the city’s concerns regarding the
quality of the construction and nature of facilities being
proposed.

6. Shortly after the initial meeting between Mr.
Mihos and Mr, Magliano, Mr. Magliano and Mr. Mihos
met with Mr. Pitaro in city hall to discuss the proposed
hotel project. In the course of this discussion, Mr. Mihos
invited Mr. Pitaro and Mr. Magliano to accompany him
to Florida to see other hoteis developed by Ocean Prop-
erties Limited in order to observe the quality of con-
struction and the type of facilities that this company
developed, as well as to meet the personnel who would
be involved in the Brockton project. Mihos also invited
Mr. Pitaro and Mr. Magliano to bring their spouses on
the trip. While Mihos intended to pay for the costs of the
trip, Mr. Pitaro and Mr. Magliano originally intended to
pay their own costs.

7. Mr. Mihos obtained airline tickets through a

- Canton travel agency and paid $238.00 for each of the
six round-trip coach fare tickets on April 3, 1985. Mr.
Pitaro and Mr. Magliano previously had attempted to
buy their own tickets through a different agency.

8. On Friday, April 12, 1985, the Pitaros, Magli-
anos, and Mihoses flew from Boston to Miami, Florida,
arriving in Miami at approximately 1:30 p.m. Mr. Mihos
rented one car at a cost of $149.00 and the six drove to
Delray Beach, arriving at their hotel at approximately
6 p.m.
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9. Mr. Mihos had also arranged to have all six
members in the party stay at the Holiday Inn at Delrasy
Beach in Florida, a hotel developed by Ocean Proper-
ties. The hotel accommodations (at a cost of $192.00
per couple for three nights) were paid for by Ocean
Properties. While in Florida, the three coupies shared
the cost of their meals.

10. On Saturday, the Pitaros, Maglianos and Mi-
hoses, driven and escorted by a representative of Ocean
Properties, Ltd., examined several hotels, an office com-
plex and a construction site all developed or being
developed by Ocean Properties. On Sunday, after at-
tending church, the six again joined one of the princi-
pals of Ocean Properties, Ltd. on his boat. On Monday,
April 15, 1985, Patriots Day and a legal holiday, the six
drove back to Miami in the vehicle rented by Mr. Mihos
and took a 12:20 p.m. flight back to Boston arriving at
approximately 3:30 p.m.

11. Prior to the Florida trip, Mr. Pitaro had publicly
supported the construction in Brockton of a quality
“name" hotel complex which would include conference
facilities. Upon his return from Florida, Mr. Pitaro
spoke publicly in support of the proposed hotel project
on the Mihos parcel of fand at public meetings, monthly
press conferences and before various service groups.

12. The proposal to rezone part of the Mihos'
property to “General Commercial” was submitted to the
City Council June 17, 1985. It passed the Finance Com-
mittee and was the subject of public hearings before the
Planning Board and Council Ordinance Committee
before being passed by a 2/3 vote of the full City Coun-
cil on October 15, 1985.

13. The ordinance was presented to Mayor Pitaro

‘on October 18, 1985. Pursuant to the Brockton city

charter the Mayor has the authority to: (1) sign the
amendment into law; (2) veto the amendment and re-
turn it to the Council with his objections, at which time
it can still become law upon another 2/3 vote of the
Council; or (3) take no action on the amendment, at
which point the amendment becomes law within 10 days
of it being presented to the Mayor. The Mayor signed
the ordinance rezoning part of Mihos' land on October
18, 1985, the same day it was presented to him.

14. As building superintendent, Mr. Magliano
would be responsible for issuing building permit(s) for
the hotel complex after reviewing the plans and specifi-
cations submitted by the developer and for ensuring the
project was in compliance with the state building code
and the local zoning ordinances.

15. General Laws chapter 268A, §3(b) prohibits a
municipal employee from directly or indirectly receiv-
ing for himself anything of substantial value, otherwise
than as provided by law for the proper discharge of of-
fical duty, for or because of any official act performed or
to be performed by him.



16. Based upon the facts and conduct set forth in
paragraphs | through 14, above, Mr. Pitaro violated
§3(b).

17. The Commission has found no evidence sug-
gesting corrupt intent or an intentional or knowing
violation of the law by Mr. Pitaro.

Based on the foregoing facts, the Commission has
determined that the public interest would be served by
the disposition of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following terms
agreed to by Mr. Pitaro:

1. that he pay to the Commission the amount of
one thousand dollars ($1,000) as a civil penalty for his
violation of §3(b);

2. that he pay to the Commission the amount of
$668.00 as forfeiture of the economic advantage gained;
and

3. that he waive all rights to contest the findings of
fact, conclusions of law and terms and conditions under
this Agreement in this or any related administrative or
Jjudicial civil proceedings in which the Commission is a

party.
DATE: October 29, 1986

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY

DOCKET NO. 312

INTHE MATTER
OF
FRANCIS M. MAGLIANO

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commission)
and Francis M. Magliano (Mr. Magliano), pursuant to
section 11 of the Commission's Enforcement Proce-
dures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to final
Commission order enforceable in the Superior Court
pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(j).

On May 20, 1986, the Commission initiated a pre-
liminary inquiry into possible violations of the conflict
of interest law, G.L. c. 2684, involving Mr. Magliano, the
building superintendent for the city of Brockton. The
Commission concluded its inquiry and, on July 29, 1986,
found reasonable cause to believe that Mr, Magliano
violated G.L. ¢, 268A, §3(b). Pursuant to G.L. c. 268B
§4(c), the Commission also authorized the initiation of
an adjudicatory proceeding to determine whether there
has been a violation. An Order to Show Cause issued on
August 25, 1986, initiating such a proceeding.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:
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I.  From January, 1984 to the present. Cari D.
Pitaro has been the elected Mavor of Brockion. As
Mayor of the city of Brockton, Mr. Pitaro is a municipal
employee as that term is defined in G.L. c. 2684, §1(g).

2. From January, 1984 o the present, Francis M.
Magliano has been the building superintendent for the
city of Brockion. As building superintendent, Mr.
Magliano is a municipal employee as that term is de-
fined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(g).

3. James C. Mihos is a resident of Brockton, Mas-
sachusetts. Since 1979, his family has owned a parcel of
land on Pleasant Street in Brockton which is the pro-
posed site of a new hotel project. (The land is owned by
James and Peter Mihos, Trustees of the 167 Pleasant
Street Trust.)

4. In the fall of 1984, Mr. Mihos entered into an
agreement with Ocean Properties Limited, a Florida
development company, to sell 7.3 acres of the 36 acre
parcel on Pleasant Street to Ocean Properties Limited
for development as a hotel project. Under the city of
Brockion's zoning ordinances, the parcel was zoned for
“Office Commercial” use, which did not allow for a
hotel. The Mihos agreement with Ocean Properties
Limited was contingent on Ocean Properties obtaining
all the necessary permits, including a permit to allow a
hotel to be built on the parcel.

5. In late March, 1985, Mr. Mihos met with Mr.
Magliano in city hall to discuss the possibility of a hotel
on this site. At this meeting, Mr. Magliano advised Mr.
Mihos of the zoning issues and explained two possible
options: a special permit or a zoning change by the city
council. As a developer and citizen of Brockton, Mr.
Mihos was aware of a prior proposed hotel project
which failed to win support in the city partly because the
project did not include a *name” hotel or conference
facilities and a question had been raised concerning the
quality of the construction. Consequently, Mr. Mihos re-
quested Mr. Magliano to set up a meeting for him with
Mayor Pitaro to discuss the city’s concerns regarding the
quality of the construction and nature of facilities being
proposed.

6. Shortly after the initial meeting between Mr.
Mihos and Mr. Magliano, Mr. Maglianc and Mr. Mihos
met with Mr. Pitaro in city hall to discuss the proposed
hotel project. In the course of this discussion, Mr. Mihos
invited Mr. Pitaro and Mr. Magiiano to accompany him
to Florida to see other hotels developed by Ocean Prop-
erties Limited in order to observe the quality of con-
struction and the type of facilities that this company
developed, as well as to meet the personnel who would
be involved in the Brockton project. Mihos also invited
Mr. Pitaro and Mr. Magliano to bring their spouses on
the trip. While Mihos intended to pay for the costs of the
trip, Mr. Pitaro and Mr. Magliano originally intended to
pay their own costs.



7. Mr. Mihos obtained airline tickets through a
Canton travel agency and paid $238.00 for each of the
six round-trip coach fare tickets on April 3, 1985. Mr.
Pitaro and Mr. Magliano previously had attempted to
buy their own tickets through a different agency.

8. On Friday, April 12, 1985, the Pitaros, Magli-
anos, and Mihoses flew from Boston to Miami, Florida.
arriving in Miami at approximately 1:30 p.m. Mr. Mihos
rented one car at a cost of $149.00 and the six drove to
Delray Beach, arriving at their hotel at approximately 6
p.m.

9. Mr. Mihos had also arranged to have all six
members in the party stay at the Holiday Inn at Delray
Beach in Florida, a hotel developed by Ocean Proper-
ties. The hotel accommodations (at a cost of $192.00 per
couple for three nights) were paid for by Ocean Proper-
ties. While in Florida, the three couples shared the cost
of their meals.

10. On Saturday, the Pitaros, Maglianos and Mi-
hoses, driven and escorted by a representative of Ocean
Properties, Lid., examined several hotels, an office com-
plex and a construction site all developed or being
developed by Ocean Properties. On Sunday, after at-
tending church, the six again joined one of the princi-
pals of Ocean Properties, Ltd. on his boat. On Monday,
April 15, 1985, Patriots Day and a legal holiday, the six
drove back to Miami in the vehicle rented by Mr. Mihos
and took a 12:20 p.m. flight back to Boston arriving at
approximately 3:30 p.m.

11. Prior to the Florida trip, Mr. Pitaro had publicly
supported the construction in Brockton of a quality
“name” hotel complex which would include conference
facilities. Upon his return from Florida, Mr. Pitaro
spoke publicly in support of the proposed hotel project
on the Mihos parcel of land at public meetings, monthly
press conferences and before various service groups.

12. The proposal to rezone part of the Mihos'
property to “General Commercial” was submitted to the
City Council June 17, 1985. It passed the Finance Com-
mittee and was the subject of public hearings before the
Planning Board and Council Ordinance Committee
before being passed by a 2/3 vote of the full City Coun-
cil on October 15, 1985.

13. The ordinance was presented to Mayor Pitaro
on October 18, 1985. Pursuant to the Brockion city
charter the Mayor has the authority to: (1) sign the
amendment into law; (2) veto the amendment and re-
turn itto the Council with his objections, at which time
it can still become law upon another 2/3 vote of the
Council; or (3) take no action on the amendment, at
which point the amendment becomes law within 10 days
of it being presented to the Mayor. The Mayor signed
the ordinance rezoning part of Mihos' land on October
18, 1985, the same day it was presented to him.
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14. As building superintendent, Mr. Magliano
would be responsible for issuing building permius) for
the hotel complex after reviewing the plans and speci.
fications submitted by the developer and for ensuring
the project was in compliance with the state building
code and the local zoning ordinances.

15. General Laws chapter 268A, §3(b) prohibits a
municipal employee from directly or indirectly receiv-
ing for himself anything of substantial value, otherwise
than as provided by law for the proper discharge of of-
fical duty, for or because of any official act performed or
to be performed by him.

16. Based upon the facts and conduct set forth in
paragraphs 1 through 14, above, Mr. Magliano violated
§3(b).

17. The Commission has found no evidence sug-
gesting corrupt intent or an intentional or knowing
violation of the law by Mr. Magliano.

Based on the foregoing facts, the Commission has
determined that the public interest would be served by
the disposition of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following terms
agreed to by Mr. Magliano:

I. that he pay to the Commission the amount of
one thousand dollars ($1,000) as a civil penalty for his
violation of §3(b);

2. that he pay to the Commission the amount of
$668.00 as forfeiture of the economic advantage gained;
and

3. that he waive all rights to contest the findings of
fact, conclusions of law and terms and conditions under
this Agreement in this or any related administrative or

judicial civil proceedings in which the Commission is a

party.
DATE: October 29, 1986

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 312
IN THE MATTER
OF
JAMES C. MIHOS
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and James C. Mihos (Mr. Mihos), pursuant to sec-
tion 11 of the Commission's Enforcement Procedures.
This Agreement constitutes a consented to final Com-
mission order enforceable in the Superior Court pur-
suant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(j).



On May 20, 1986, the Commission initiated a pre-
liminary inquiry into possibie violations of the conflict
of interest law, G.L. c. 268A, involving Mr. Mihos, a
private developer in the city of Brockton. The Commis-
sion concluded its inquiry and, on July 29, 1986. found
reasonable cause to believe that Mr. Mihos violated G.L.
c. 2684, §3(a). Pursuantto G.L. ¢. 268B §4(c), the Com.
mission also authorized the initiation of an adjudicatory
proceeding to determine whether there has been a viola.
tion. An Order to Show Cause issued on August 25,
1986, initiating such a proceeding.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. From January, 1984 to the present, Carl D.
Pitaro has been the elected Mayor of Brockton. As
Mayor of the city of Brockton, Mr. Pitaro is a municipat
employee as that term is defined in G.L. c. 2684, §1(g).

2. From January, 1984 to the present, Francis M.
Magliano has been the building superintendent for
the city of Brockton. As building superintendent, Mr.
Magliano is a municipal employee as that term is de-
fined in G.L. c. 2684, §1(g).

3. JamesC. Mihos is a resident of Brockton, Mas-
sachusetts, Since 1979, his family has owned a parcel of
land on Pleasant Street in Brockton which is the pro-
posed site of a new hotel project. (The land is owned by

James and Peter Mihos, Trustees of the 167 Pleasant
Street Trust.)

4. In the fall of 1984, Mr. Mihos entered into an
agreement with Ocean Properties Limited, a Florida
development company, to sell 7.3 acres of the 36 acre
parcel on Pleasant Street to Ocean Properties Limited
for development as a hotel project. Under the city of
Brockton's zoning ordinances, the parcel was zoned for
“Office Commercial” use, which did not allow for a
hotel. The Mihos agreement with Ocean Properties
Limited was contingent on Ocean Properties obtaining
all the necessary permits, including a permit to allow a
hotel to be built on the parcel.

5. In late March, 1985, Mr. Mihos met with Mr.
Magliano in city hall to discuss the possibility of a hotel
on this site. At this meeting, Mr. Magliano advised Mr.
Mihos of the zoning issues and explained two possible
options: a special permit or a zoning change by the city
council. As a developer and citizen of Brockion, Mr.
Mihos was aware of a prior proposed hotel project
which failed to win support in the city partly because the
project did not include a “name" hotel or conference
facilities and a question had been raised concerning the
quality of the construction. Consequently, Mr. Mihos re-
quested Mr. Magliano to set up a meeting for him with
Mayor Pitaro to discuss the city's concerns regarding the
quality of the construction and nature of facilities being
proposed. :

6. Shortly after the initial meeting between Mr.
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Mihos and Mr. Magliano, Mr. Magliano and Mr. Mihos
met with Mr. Pitaro in city hall to discuss the proposed
hotel project. In the course of this discussion, Mr. Mihos

- invited Mr. Pitare and Mr. Magliano to accompany him

to Florida to see other hotels developed by Ocean Prop-
erties Limited in order to observe the quality of con.
struction and the type of facilities that this company
developed, as well as to meet the personnel who would
be involved in the Brockion project. Mihos also invited
Mr. Pitaro and Mr. Magliano to bring their spouses on
the trip. While Mihos intended to pay for the costs of the
trip, Mr. Pitaro and Mr. Magliano originaily intended to
pay their own costs.

7. Mr. Mihos obtained airline tickets through a
Canton travel agency and paid $238.00 for each of the
six round-trip coach fare tickets on April 3, 1985. Mr.
Pitaro and Mr. Magliano previously had attempted to
buy their own tickets through a different agency.

8. On Friday, April 12, 1985, the Pitaros, Magli-
anos, and Mihoses flew from Boston to Miami, Florida,
arriving in Miami at approximately 1:30 p.m. Mr. Mihos
rented one car at a cost of $149.00 and the six drove to
Delray Beach, arriving at their hotel atapproximately 6
p.m.

9. Mr. Mihos had also arranged to have all six
members in the party stay at the Holiday Inn at Delray
Beach in Florida, a hotel developed by Ocean Proper-
ties. The hotel accommodations (at a cost of $192.00 per
couple for three nights) were paid for by Ocean Proper-
ties. While in Florida, the three couples shared the cost
of their meals.

10. On Saturday, the Pitaros, Maglianos and Mi-
hoses, driven and escorted by a representative of Ocean
Properties, Ltd., examined several hotels, an office com-
plex and a construction site all developed or being
developed by Ocean Properties. On Sunday, after at-
tending church, the six again joined one of the princi-
pals of Ocean Properties, Ltd. on his boat. On Monday,
April 15, 1985, Patriots Day and a legal holiday, the six
drove back to Miami in the vehicle rented by Mr. Mihos
and took a 12:20 p.m. flight back to Boston arriving at
approximately 3:30 p.m.

11. Prior to the Florida trip, Mr. Pitaro had public-
ly supported the construction in Brockton of a quality
“name” hotel complex which would include conference
facilities. Upon his return from Florida, Mr. Pitaro
spoke publicly in support of the proposed hotel project
on the Mihos parcel of Jand at public meetings, monthly
press conferences and before various service groups.

12. The proposal to rezone part of the Mihos' prop-
erty to “General Commercial” was submitted to the
City Council June 17, 1985. [t passed the Finance Com-
mittee and was the subject of public hearings before the
Planning Board and Council Ordinance Committee
before being passed by a 2/3 vote of the full City Coun-
cil on October 15, 1985.



13. The ordinance was presented to Mayor Pitaro
on October 18, 1985. Pursuant to the Brockton city
charter the Mayor has the authority to: (1) sign the
amendment into law; (2) veto the amendment and re-
turn it to the Council with his objections, at which time
it can still become law upon another 2/3 vote of the
Council; or (3) take no action on the amendment, at
which point the amendment becomes law within 10 days
of it being presented to the Mayor. The Mayor signed
the ordinance rezoning part of Mihos’ land on October
18, 1985, the same day it was presented to him.

14. As building superintendent, Mr. Magliano
would be responsible for issuing building permit(s) for
the hotel complex after reviewing the plans and speci-
fications submitted by the developer and for ensuring
the project was in compliance with the state building
code and the local zoning ordinances.

15. General Laws chapter 268A, §3(a) prohibits the
offering or giving of anything of substantial value, other-
wise than as provided by law for the proper discharge of
offical duty, to a municipal employee for or because of
any official act performed or to be performed by such
an emptoyee.

16. Based upon the facts and conduct set forth in

.paragraphs 1 through 14, above, Mr. Mihos violated
§3(a).

17. The Commission has found no evidence sug-
gesting corrupt intent or an intentional or knowing
violation of the law by Mr. Mihos,

Based on the foregoing facts, the Commission has
determined that the public interest would be served by
the disposition of this matter without further enforce.
ment proceedings on the basis of the following terms
agreed to by Mr. Mihos:

1. that he pay to the Commission the amount of
one thousand dollars ($1,000) as a civil penality for his
violation of §3(a); and

2. thathe waive all rights 10 contest the findings of
fact, conclusions of law and terms and conditions under
this Agreement in this or any related administrative or
Jjudicial civil proceedings in which the Commission is a

party.
DATE: October 29, 1986

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. COMMISSION ADJUDICATORY
DOCKET NO. 314

IN THE MATTER
OF
ERLAND S. TOWNSEND, JR.
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DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Disposition Agreement (Agreement) is entered
into between the State Ethics Commission (Commis-
sion) and Erland §. Townsend, Jr. (Mr. Townsend) pur:
suant to section 11 of the Commission’s Enforcement
Procedures. This Agreement constitutes a consented to
final Commission order enforceable in the Superior
Court pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(j).

On April 2, 1985, the Commission initiated a pre:
liminary inquiry, pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(a), into
possible violations of the conflict of interest law. G.L. c.
268A, involving Mr. Townsend, the co-chairman of the
Swampscott Conservation Commission. The Commis-
sion concluded that preliminary inquiry, and, on May
14, 1985, found reasonable cause to believe that Mr.
Townsend violated G.L. c. 268A.

This matter was suspended by the Commission as a
result of the July 9, 1985 decision of the Supreme
Judicial Court in Saccone v. State Ethics Commission,
395 Mass. 326. Legislation restoring the Commission’s
full enforcement powers over all violations of G.L. c.
268A went into effect on April 8, 1986.

The parties now agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law:

1. Mr.Townsend became a member of the Swamp-
scott Conservation Commission on October 17, 1983,
All members of the Conservation Commission were
previously classified as special municipal employees
pursuant to G.L. c. 2684, §1(n).

2. The chairman of the Conservation Commis-
sion, Esther Ewing, now deceased, had requested Mr.
Townsend to become a member because of his exper-
tise. On March 27, 1985, when first contacted by the
Commission, Mr. Townsend resigned as a member of
the Conservation Commission.

3. Atall times relevant hereto, Mr. Townsend was
also an engineer engaged in a private consulting
engineer practice with T&M Engineering, Inc. in Salem.

4. On October 18, 1983, T&M Engineering, Inc.,
through Mr. Townsend's partner, submitted a proposal
to Charing Cross Corporation, which was accepted on
October 28, 1983, whereby T&M Engineering, Inc. was
to be site engineer for a condominium project to be
developed by Charing Cross in Swampscott called “The
Glen.”

5. In April, 1984, Mr. Townsend, as the site engi-
neer, prepared an environmental impact statement
(EIS) for Charing Cross for “The Glen.” As required by
local rules, Mr. Townsend, as site engineer, co-signed the
cover letter submitting the EIS 1o the Swampscott Zon-
ing Board of Appeals, with informational copies to the
Conservation Commission, the Board of Health and
other boards and commissions in the town of Swamp-
scott.



6. Mr. Townsend was elected co-chairman of the
Swampscott Conservation Commission on May 22,
1984. The minutes of that meeting indicate that Mr.
Townsend agreed to serve “as long as it was understood
that he would step down when his firm, T&M Engineer-
ing Assoc., Inc., has work before the Commission.”

7. Atameeting on June 28, 1984, the Conservation
Commission discussed the EIS regarding “The Glen.”
The minutes of this meeting state that Mr, Townsend
did not enter into the discussion because he was the site
engineer for the project. He disqualified himself and ieft
the table. Mr. Townsend’s co-chairman objected to parts
of the proposed plans for “The Glen,” and it was decid-
ed that she would write to the Board of Appeals on be-
half of the Conservation Commission to voice the objec-
tions. This letter is dated July 10, 1984 and raises three
areas of concern: (1) drainage problems; (2) landscap-
ing: and (3) the sewage system. The Conservation Com-
mission sent a copy of the July 10, 1984 letter to the
Board of Health.

8. On July 12, 1984, Mr. Townsend wrote as site
engineer for “The Glen" to the Swampscott Board of
Public Works, regarding the concerns raised in the Con-
servation Commission’s fuly 10, 1984 letter to the Board
of Appeals as to the capacity of the town’s sewer system
and waste water treatment facility to handle the propos-
ed new construction. He sent a copy of his July 12, 1984
letter to the Conservation Commission as well as to the
Board of Appeals and the Board of Health. In this letter
Mr. Townsend gave his professional opinion that the 60
new units would have “minimal” impact on the town's
systems. At the Board of Public Works meeting in late
July, the Board considered Mr. Townsend's letter and
decided that estimated maximum daily sewage flow
from the project would not unduly impact the system.

9. Ata]uly 17, 1984 Board of Health meeting, at
which Martin Goldman, attorney for “The Glen” devel-
opers, made a presentation, Mr. Townsend answered
questions as site engineer for “The Glen,” assuring the
Board of Health that the drainage system (one of the
items questioned in the Conservation Commission’s
July 10, 1984 letter) would be installed to the satisfaction
of the Board of Health. By letter dated the same day, the
Board of Health withdrew its objections to “The Glen,”
which had been raised in a July 5, 1984 letter to the
Board of Appeals.

10. Atthe July 24, 1984 Conservation Commission
meeting, in response to a question from co-chairman
Ewing, Mr. Townsend spoke (as the site engineer for
“The Glen,” according to the minutes), expressing his
displeasure with the Commission’s July 10, 1984 “emo-
tional” letter to the Board of Appeals, especially the
objections regarding increase in sewage.

11. Mr. Townsend as site engineer prepared and
signed (as required by local rules) a Request for Deter-
mination of Applicability of the Massachusetts Wetlands
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Protection Act (“Request for Determination”) regarding
a proposal to store fill and set a trailer on the site of “The
Glen” project. On November 6, 1984, he filed this re-

“quest with the Conservation Commission and with the

Commonwealth's Department of Environmental Quali-
ty Engineering, as required.

12. The Conservation Commission’s hearing on the
Request for Determination took place on November 20,
1984. The minutes read: “Erland Townsend stepped off
the Commission because of the conflict of interest.” The
Commission unanimously voted that the Wetlands Pro-
tection Act did not apply to the proposal to store fill and
set a trailer on the land.

13, Mr. Townsend prepared a Notice of Intent
under the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act
(“Notice of Intent”) to begin the new construction.
prepared the variocus site plans and layouts submitted
with the Notice of Intent and filed this Notice of Intent
with the Conservation Commission on November 9,
1984, On November 29, 1984, the Conservation Com-
mission held a hearing on this Notice of Intent. At this
meeting, Mr. Townsend disqualified himself from the
Conservation Commission and spoke from the audi-
ence in response to questions from co-chairman Ewing
regarding the project. Townsend did not participate in
the Conservation Commission's deliberations or in the
writing of the Order of Conditions issued December 6,
1984 in response to the Notice of Intent. The Order of
Conditions refers to plans for “The Glen” signed and
stamped by Mr. Townsend as site engineer.

14. Mr. Townsend received compensation, through
his salary from T&M Engineering, Inc., from Charing
Cross for his work on “The Glen” project, including: (1)
the preparation and filing of the EIS in April, 1984; (2)
his defense of the proposed project (against concerns
raised by the Conservation Commission’s letter of July
10, 1984) before the Board of Public Works, the Board of
Health and the Conservation Commission itself in july,
1984; (3) the preparation and filing on November 9,
1984 of the Request for Determination; and (4) the
preparation of the Notice of Intent (and supporting
documents) and responding to questions regarding this
Notice of Intent at the November 29, 1984 Conservation
Commission hearing (speaking as site engineer, notasa
board member).

15. General Laws c. 268A, §17 prohibits a special
municipal employee, otherwise than in the proper dis-
charge of his official duties, from directly or indirectly
receiving compensation from a private party (§17(a)) or
acting as agent for a private party (§17(c)) in connection
with any particular matter in which his town has a direct
and substantial interest, and in which he has partici-
pated, or which is or within one year has been the sub.
ject of his official responsibility, or, if he serves more
than 60 days per year, which is pending in the municipal
agency in which he is now serving.



16. The EIS, the Conservation Commission's July
10, 1984 letter to the Board of Appeals, the Request for
Determination and the Notice of Intent were particular
matters, as defined by G.L. c. 2684, §1(k), which were the
subjects of Mr. Townsend’s official responsibilities as a
member of the Conservation Commission. By receiving
compensation from a private party in connection with
these particular matters, Mr. Townsend violated §17(a)."/

17. By acting as agent for Charing Cross, the devel-
opers of “The Glen” in connection with (a) preparing
and filing the EIS; (b) writing to the Board of Public
Works and answering questions at Board of Health and
the Conservation Commission meetings regarding the
Conservation Commission's July 10, 1984 letter; (c)
preparing and filing the Request for Determination; (d)
preparing and filing the Notice of Intent and plans in
support of this Notice of Intent; and (e) speaking as site
engineer in response to questions regarding the Notice
ofIntentat the November 29, 1984 Conservation Com-
mission meeting, Mr. Townsend thereby violated §17(c)/.

18. There is no evidence to suggest that Mr, Town-
send knowingly or intentionally violated G.L. c. 268A.
When he accepted his position as a co-chairman of the
Conservation Commission, he made it clear that he
would disqualify himself from participating in any mat-
ter in which his firm was involved, and the evidence
indicates that he did so disqualify himself. In each of the
matters involving “The Glen" he abstained from partici-
pation as a member of the Commission, and made it
known that he was speaking only as the site engineer.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the disposi-
tion of this matter without further Commission enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following terms, to
which.Mr. Townsend has agreed:

{1) that he pay to the Commission a civil penalty in
the amount of $1,000 for violating G.L. c. 2684, §§17(a)
and 17({c); and

(2) that he waive all rights to contest the findings of
fact, conclusions of law and terms contained in this
Agreement in this or any other related administrative or
Judicial proceedings in which the Commission is a party.

DATE: November 13, 1986

HAs detailed in paragraphs 7, 12 and 18, Mr. Townsend did not participate
a1 2 member of the Conservation Commission in the particular matters regar-
ding “The Glen.” and therefore did not violate §19{a) of G.L c. 268A. As ex-
plained herein, even though he properly abstained from participation as a
municipal cmployee, he still violated the conflict of interest law by receiving
compensation from a private party and acting as agent for the private party in
connection with the particular matters regarding “The Glen.”

fEven if Mr. Townsend had not filed any ddcuments with ar made any
appearances before the Conservation Commission, his preparation of the EI5,
the Regquest for Determination and the Netice of Intent and the pilans relied
upon in the Notice of Intent, knowing that these were particular matters in
which the town would have a ditect and substantial interest and were within his
official responaibility at the Conservation Commission, wotld have been suffi-
cient 1o establish a violation of §17{c).
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Mr. Eugene LeBlanc
9 Karolyn Circle
Nahant, Massachusetts 01908

RE: Public Enforcement Letter 87-2
Dear Mr. LeBlanc:

As you know, the State Ethics Commission has con-
ducted a preliminary inquiry into allegations that as the
Nahant building inspector, you inspected your own
private construction work. The results of our investiga
tion, which are discussed below, indicate that you may
have violated the conflict of interest law, However, in
view of certain mitigating factors, also discussed below.
the Commission does not feel that further proceedings
are warranted.

Rather, the Commission has concluded that the
public interest would better be served by disclosing the
facts revealed by our investigation and explaining the
application of the law to such facts, trusting that this
advice will ensure your future understanding of, and
compliance with, the conflict law. By agreeing to this
public letter as a final resolution of this matter, the Com-
mission and you are agreeing that there will be no formal
action against you and that you have chosen not to exer-
cise your right to a hearing before the Commission.

L Facts

1. You have been the part-time building inspector
for the town of Nahant for twenty-eight years. As such.
you are a “municipal employee” as defined in G.L. c.
268A, §1(g).

2. You own and operate the E. . LeBlanc Con-
struction Company, which builds, sells and rehabilitates
homes in Nahant.

3. Asbuilding inspector, for many years you have
performed inspections of, and signed the necessary per-
mits for, building construction performed by the E. J.
LeBlanc Construction Company in Nahant.

4. During the years 1980 through May, 1986, you
issued permits for, and performed inspections on, prop-
erty in Nahant being rehabilitated or constructed by
E.]. LeBlanc Construction Company. One such permit,
which you issued, dated October, 1984, was for proper-
ty located at 74 Wilson Road, which is owned by you and
your wife.

I. The Conflict Law

As building inspector you are a municipal em-
ployee for purposes of applying the conflict of interest
law, G.L. c. 268A. Section 19 of that law generally pro-
hibits a municipal employee from participating as such
in a particular matter in which he knowingly has a finan-
cial interest. The facts set forth in this letter, if proven,




would support a violation of §19 because they suggest
that by inspecting your own company's work and by
issuing the necessary building permits, you participated
asamunicipal employee in particular matters in which
vou had a financial interest.

The Commission takes a very serious approach to
conflicts of interest which involve public safety. The
public has a right to be absolutely confident in the in-
tegrity and thoroughness of public safety inspections,
including building code enforcement inspections.

Where 2 public inspector inspects his own work, two
problems arise: (1) were the inspections honestly per-
formed, given the inspector’s private interest in the
outcome? And, (2) even if the inspector honestly and
conscientiously inspects his own work, as a practical
matter, that work is not being reviewed by a second set
of “eyes” which might catch mistakes the person who
did the work would not see, even when he inspects it.

Thus, the Commission wanits 1o make clear to you
and any other inspectors similarly situated that the
public’s interest in safety ordinarily mandates that the
inspector not have a private financial interest in his
inspections.!/

Our inquiry indicated that the Nahant Board of
Selectimen was aware at all times that you were issuing
permits for and inspecting work done by your construc-
tion company. Because of this, the Commission has
decided that this case does not warrant the initiation of
formal adjudicatory proceedings. Rather, the Commis-
sion has determined that a public enforcement letter is
appropriate. In choosing this public enforcement letter
as an appropriate resolution of this §19 issue, the Com-
mission was additionally mindful of the following
mitigating factors:

1. ourinvestigation found no evidence of prefer-
ential treatment of your own company in your inspec-
tions;
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2. our investigation indicated that you properly
issued permits to your company and assessed the ap-
propriate filing fees;

" 3. youimmediately ceased to perform inspections
on your own work once the issue of conflict arose; and

4. you have cooperated fully throughout our in.
vestigation and have provided all of the information
requested.

You and the Board of Selectmen should also be
aware that §19 applies not only to issuance of permits
for an inspection of your own company's work but
would also apply to any matter in which you, as building
inspector, participate and in which an immediate family
member has a financial interest.

IT1. Disposition

Based on its review of this matter, the Commission
has determined that the sending of this letter shouid be
sufficient to ensure your understanding of, and your
future compliance with, the conflict law. This matter is
now closed.

Thank you very much for your cooperation through-
out this inquiry. If you have any questions, please con-
tact me at 727-0060.

DATE: December 30, 1986

WGeneral Laws ¢, 268A, §19 does conain a mechanism by which a
municipal employee can participace in a particular matter notwithstanding a
prohibited financial interest in that matter so long as he makes an appeopriate
disclosure 1o the official responsible for appointment to his position and
receives in advance a written determination made by that official that the
interestis not % substantial as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity of the
services which the municipality may expect from the empioyee. The written
desermination should be filed with the town clerk. Mere awareness by the
appointing authority does not excuse the violation. See In the Matier of John J.
Hanlon {Dkt No, 229),
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Summaries of Advisory Opinions issued July
1985 to December 1985 and Commission
Advisories No's. 7 and B issued in 1985.

Summaries of all Advisory Opinions and Com-
mission Advisories No's.9,10and 11 jssued in
1986.
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SUMMARY OF ADVISORY OPINIONS (1985 Cont'd)

EC-COI-85-53 — A full-time state employee may serve
on the board of directors of a non-profit corporation.
She may notact as the agent or attorney for the corpora-
tion before any state agency nor may she participate as
a state employee in matters affecting the corporation.
Since her spouse, the director of a state agency, may
have subsequent official dealings with the corporation,
his future decisions should be based on objective stand-
ards and should not create the impression of being
unduly affected by her position on the board.

EC-COI-85-54 — A president of a state educational
institution may also serve as director of a bank.
However, he may not receive compensation from or act
as agent of the bank in matters such as bank audits and
bank applications to state agencies, nor can he partici-
pate as president of the educational institution in mat-
ters in which the bank has a financial interest.

EC-COI-85-55 — A full-time state employee who
changes her employment status to contractor with the
same agency would remain a state employee because she
would continue to perform services for the state agency.
She may submit a bid to her agency to provide services
under a contract provided that in her state capacity she
does not participate in her agency's decision to contract
out such services.

EC-COI-85-56 — A physician for the commonwealth
may maintain a part-time private medical practice and
participate in a health maintenance organization ad-
ministered by the state. She may only accept private
patients who are not state employees. However, she
must continue to accept only private patients who are
notstate employees.

EC-COI-85-57 — A full-time employee of a state educa-
tional institution may consult to a firm to perform
private consulting work for private colleges and out-of-
state universities. He is also prohibited from par-
ticipating as a state employee with respect to any con-
tracts the educational institution has with the firm.

EC-COI-85-58 — An executive director of a municipal
housing authority who is also the incorporator and
officer of a corporation may not receive compensation
from the corporation or act as the corporation’s agent in
matters in which the municipality or its agencies are par-
ties or have a direct and substantial interest.

EC-COI-85-59 — Two members of a city's sports facility
commission were advised that they could not participate
in negotiations to lease the facility to a private manage-
ment company where the two members were involved
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in a2 management group which was a potential lessee.
Further the members were advised that they could not
act as the group's agent or otherwise appear on the
group’s behalf before any city body in connection with
the proposal. The commission restated the rule that
“acting as agent includes not only personal participa-
tion in negotiations but also making any sort of contact.
on behalf of the outside entity, with the city.”

EC.COI-85-60 — A county commissioner may also
accept a marketing position with a management con-
sulting firm. He is prohibited from soliciting county
business on behalf of the firm, from acting as county
commissioner in any matter in which the firm has a
financial interest and from being paid by the firm with
funds derived from any county contracts it may have.

EC-COI-85-61 — A former director of a state agency may
provide consultant services to private companies as long
as she did not participate in the same particular matters
as a state employee. She is prohibited from appearing
before any court or agency of the commonwealth for a
one year period on matters that were under her official
responsibility.

EC-COI-85-62 — The chairman of a county board who
is also president of a real estate agency may officially
participate in a proposal before the board involving a
parcel of land owned by a different real estate agency
with which the board member has a business relation-
ship.

EC-COI-85-63 — A full-time state employee may, whilé
on leave of absence from his position, enter into a lease
agreement with a state agency.

EC-COI-85-64 — A municipal fire chief who is responsi-
ble for enforcing town fire ordinances, may not be paid
for working private details in the town, because his
detail compensation would be received for performing
acts which are the subject of his offical responsiblity.

EC-COI-85-65 — For the reasons described in EC-.COI-
85-64 a chief of a municipal police department is pro-
hibited from working private details in the town.

EC-COI-85-66 -~ A city councillor may not also serve as
the paid executive director of a municipal community
development corporation, because he would have a
financial interest in an employment contract with a
municipal agency.

EC-COI-85-67 — A member of a state board, who s also
a trustee of a local board which receive state board funds
may not act as agent for his local board in connection
with funding applications to the state board. He is



further prohibited from taking actions as a state board
member in connection with any matters in which his
local board has a financial interest.

EC-COI-85-68 — A member of a city council who is also
county treasurer may not participate in city council ad-
visory votes concerning the use of surplus county funds
because he would be participating in matters within the
purview of the county.

EC-COI-85-69 — An individual is a state employee when
a state contract specifically contemplates his services. As
a state employee, he may participate in drafting and
lobbying for general legislation even though it may
financially benefit his private employer. However, he
rnust abstain from participating in the enactment of
special legistlation in which his private employer hasa
financial interest unless his state duties require his par-
ticipation, he discloses this information and his state ap-
pointing official gives written permission for the state
employee to participate.

EC-COI-85-70 — The sole proprietor of a company may
contract with a state agency which employs his wife be-
cause she has no financial interest in the company and
does not participate in the management or control of
the company.She may not participate as a stat¢ em-
ployee in the contract because her husband has a finan-
cial interest in the contract. She must also avoid using
her state agency resources such as copy machines,
telephones and automobiles to further her husband's
business. Additionally she may not act as the agent or
representative of her husband's company in its dealings
with state agencies.

EC-COI-85-71 — The head of a state agency may hire an
employee who is married to a unit manager within the
same state agency, as long as he complies with his cus-
tomary agency hiring procedures and does not other-
wise grant undue preferential treatment.

Once the employee is hired, the unit manager will be
subject to several restrictions in his official dealing with
his wife. He may not participate as unit manager in any
matters affecting his wife's financial interest, including
salary and promotional determinations and other terms
and conditions of employment. Because he will make
job assignments to his wife and participate in strategic
decisions regarding her handling of cases, there isarisk
that he may create the impression of undue favoritism
to her because of their marital relationship. To dispel
any impression of favoritism, his deputy should oversee
his exercise of these responsibilities to insure that the
assignments and decisions are based on objective
criteria, :
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EC-COI-85-72 — Subject to certain conditions. an
emplovee of the Commission for the Blind (MCB) may
be a member of the board of directors of a private com-
pany. Section 4 prohibits him from representing the
company in connection with a grant proposal to any
state agency or otherwise acting as agent for the com-
pany in any particular matter in which the common-
wealth is a party or has a direct and substantial interest.
Section 6 prohibits the employee from taking any offi-
cial MCB action which would affect the financial interest
of the company. Section 23 would prohibit the employ-
ee from using his contacts with the state to obtain
favoritism or privileges in the awarding of contracts
which may indirecdy affect the company.

EC-COI-85-73 — A lawyer hired by the Auorney
General to represent the commonwealth in connection
with property damage claims against the Manville cor-
poration is a state employee for the purposes of GL.c.
268A. He may also assist a multi-state committee com-
prised of the Attorney General and attorneys general
from twenty five other states to deal with Manville
litigation issues common to other states because his
assistance would be in the proper discharge of his
official duties.

EC-COI-85-74 — A former municipal employee who
previously worked for a municipality on the first phase
of a reconstruction project may now consult foracom-
pany over the reconstruction of other buildings. Be-
cause the proposed consultation would involve a new
design and construction bid for a different set of
buildings, the employee would be working on new par-
ticular matters in which she did not previously partici-
pate as a municipal employee.

EC-COI-85-75 — Subject to certain limitations, the
director of procurement for a state agency may serve as
an unpaid member of the board of directors of a buying
consortium which contracts with his agency.Section 6
would prohibit his participation as the director of pro-
curement in any informal or formal decision-making
concerning bids or contracts between the consortium
and the agency, and also in bids of any organization
competing with the consortium for the same contract.

In performing periodic job performance evaluations of
employees who will participate in the award or monitor-
ing of contracts with the consortium, he must avoid
using his official position to secure unwarranted priv-
ileges for the consortium and from conduct which
creates the impression that the consortium will unduly
enjoy his official favor.



EC-COI-85-76 — A clerk/magistrate for the district court
department is a state employee for the purposes of G.L.
c. 268A. He may purchase surplus property offered by a

municipality because the commonwealth facks a direct °

and substantial interest in the transaction. Should a
matter come before him as clerk/magistrate during this
period which involves the municipality’s public facilities
department, he must avoid creating the impression of
undue favoritism. This can be achieved by either his
refraining from participating in the case or by his
disclosure of the facts to his appointing official and
discussing safeguards which can dispel any improper
impression.

EC-COI-85-77 — An individual who serves for two hours
per month on an unpaid basis for a municipal com-
munity development corporation business committee is
subject to G.L. c. 26BA as a “municipal employee”
because he provides services to a municipal agency.
In view of his unpaid status, his position qualifies
for designation by the city council as a “special muni-
cipal employee” and makes him eligible for several
exemptions under the conflictof interest law. He is not
required to file an annual statement of financial inter-
ests because G.L. c. 268B does not cover municipal
employees.

EC-COI-85-78 — Members of the board of directors of
the Western Massachusetts Health Planning Council,
Inc., a nonprofit corporation, are not siate employees
for the purposes of G.L. C. 268A, because: 1. the Coun-
cil was created by and is regulated by federal, as opposed
to state guidelines; 2. the Council is expected to advise
the federal government concerning the nature of health
care; 3. the major funding source for the Council is the
federal government; and 4. the state has no authority to
control any Council actions.

EC-COI1-85-79 — A conventional industrial develop-
ment bond issuance of the Massachusetts Industrial
Finance Agency (MIFA) is nota contract made by a state
agency for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A, §7 because:
1. conventional MIFA bonds are not secured by the full
faith and credit of MIFA or by any pledge of MIFA
revenues or receipts; and 2. MIFA undertakes no obliga-
tions with respect to the bond issuance. A member of the
General Court could therefore havea financial interest
in a conventional industrial development bond of
MIFA. On the other hand, a bond issued by MIFA
through its Guaranteed Loan Program is a contract for
§7 purposes because MIFA guarantees the payment of
the principal and interest, and state funds are used to
support the insurance fund backing the bonds. A
member of the General Court would therefore violate
§7 by borrowing funds pursuant to the program because
he would have a financial interest in a contract made by
a state agency.
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EC-COI-85-80 — An unpaid member of a state agency is
a"special state employee”. Following disclosure. G.L. .
268A, §7(d) permits him to havea financial interest in
an employment contract with a second state agency
because, in his unpaid member capacity, he neither
participates in nor has official responsibility for any of
the activities of the second agency. Although the two
agencies share some common subject matters, his in-
volvement does not rise to the level of personal and
substantial participation or official responsibility for
activities of the second agency. To avoid creating the
appearance of undue favoritism whenever matters tn-
volving the two agencies arise, he should abstain from
involvement in any common matter.

EC-COI-85-81 — A full-time state employee may not
work for a private company after hours undera contract
made by his own state agency. If he leaves his full-time
position to work for the company under the contract, he
will remain a state employee if the contract contem-
plates that he will perform certain specialized functions.

EC-COI1-85-82 — A member of the General Court may
represent, for compensation, a client in an adjudicatory
proceeding before the Industrial Accident Board (EAB)
because the IAB proceeding is a quasijudicial pro-
ceeding and therefore qualifies the legislator for an
exemption, under G.L. c. 2684, §4.

EC-COI-85-83 — A police chief may generally not be
paid for performing private detail work because the
chief has official responsibility over subordinate officers
who customarily perform private detail work. An excep-
tion to this general principle applies, however, when the
chief is the only fulltime officer on the force and 1. no
other town reserve officer, officer in a neighboring com-
munity, state police officer or constable is available to
work the detail; 2, the chief has made a good faith effort
to determine that none of these officiers is available;
3. the chief is paid at the same hourly rate as reserve of-
ficers and is paid pursuant to statutory detail require-
ments, and 4. no other town reserve officer is working
another detail at the same time.

EC-COI-85-84 — An independent special state commis-
sion comprised of legislative and gubernatorial ap-
pointees is a state agency for the purposes of GL.c
968A, and a consultant who left the special commission
is a former state employee. The lobbying ban of §5(e)
will therefore prohibit his acting as legislative agent
before the special commission for one year following his
termination of employment. Because the special com-
mission is a governmental body independent of the
General Court, §5(e) will not restrict his acting as legis-
lative agent before the General Court.



EC-COI1-85-85 — A lawyer designated to represent a
public instrumentality of the commonwealth as its

eneral counsel is a state employee for the purposes of
G.L.c. 268A. He may also represent two communities in
matters in which the state is neither a party nor has a
direct and substantial interest. Because the state will not
be affected by his advice to the communities, the state
will not have a direct and substantial interest in these
matters.

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 7 — Multiple Office
Holding at the Local Level. This advisory clarified the
application of Section 20 of the conflict law 1o
municipal employees and officials holding more than
one municipal position. Authorized January 8, 1985.

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 8 — Free Passes. This
advisory alerted the entertainment industry and public
officials that the longstanding practice of providing free
passes to public officials for entertainment events often
involves a violation of Section 3 of the conflict law.
Authorized May 14, 1985.



SUMMARY OF ADVISORY OPINIONS (1986)

EC-COI-86-1 — A part-time Department of Social.

Services foster care parent recruiter may also enter into
a second contract with DSS to assist homeless families
on public assistance because she satisfies the “welfare
exemption” standards of G.L. c. 268A §7.

EC-COI-86-2 — A Department of Environmental Quali-
ty Engineering employee may run for and hold the posi-
tion of local health agent, provided that he does not act
as the health agent in the several matters which fall
within DEQE's jurisdiction.

EC-COI-86-3 -~ An employee in the Office of the
Secretary of State may become a partner in a real estate
partnership. Because the employee’s office reviews cer-
tain filings by the partnerships, the employee must
abstain from official participation in the review of fil-
ings by his partnership. He mustalso avoid acting as his
partnership’s agent in connection with the submission
of proposals, applications, and reports with his own or
other state agencies,

EC-CO1-86-4 — Members of an advisory committee to a
state agency are considered state employees for the
purposes of G.L. c. 2684, based on the permanence of
the committee and the substantive role it plays in the
agency's work.

EC-COI-86-5 — Members of an advisory committee to a
state agency are not considered state employees under
G.L. c. 268A where the committee’s status is temporary,
the committee members are selected to present outside
viewpoints and there is a lack of formality in the com-
mittee's work product.

EC-COI-86-6 — A member of a state board will be
subject to certain conflict law restrictions where his
public and private activities overlap. For example, he
will be prohibited from signing a contract with the
Board on behalf of his private company or sharing in
the company’s receipt of compensation for services
from a company venture funded by the Board. He will
also be required to abstain from participating as a Board
member in any joint venture with his company, and
disclose the company’s financial interest in the matter to
his appointing authority.

EC-COI-86-7 — Members of the Designer Selection
Board are considered special state employees for c.
268A purposes. As such, they are prohibited from hav-
ing a financial interest in contracts subject to the
designer selection jurisdiction of DSB, including con-
tracts with state agencies, state building authorities and

EOCD housing projects. Because cities and towns are
specifically exempted from DSB jurisdiction, DSB
members would not violate §7 by contracting with
municipalities. DSB members are also subject to restric-
tions under §§ 4, 5, 6, and 23.

EC-COI-856-8 — An elected constable is considered a
municipal employee under the conflict law. A full-time
municipal employee may not serve as an clected con-
stable in the same town unless the Board of Selectmen
has classified the position of constable as a special
municipal employee position. Such special status would
make the employee eligible for either of two exemptions
from the prohibition against a municipal employee
having a financial interest in a municipal contract.

EC-COI-86-% — An individual who has ongoing business
relationships with a municipal airport may not serve as
manager for the airport, because he would have a finan-
cial interest in contracts with that entity.

EC-COI-86-10 — A full-time police chief may not also
serve as an appointed constable in the same town. His
receipt of compensation as an appointed constable con-
stitutes a financial interest in a contract made by the
town, based on the standards outlined in the Commis-
sion’s ruling In The Matter of Robert J. Quinn. The
police chief is ineligible for any exemptions to the §20
prohibition against having a financial interest in a
second municipal contract, due to the twenty-four hour
a day nature of his position.

EC-COI-86-11 — A judge would receive an unwarranted
privilege of substantial value if he accepted a honorar-
ium from the sponsor of a seminar in which he partici-
pated on an “education day” while also receiving his
regular judicial compensation for the same day.

EC-COI-86-12 — A member of the General Court may
not make a paid personal appearance on behalf of a
client before the state Parole Board because the pro-
ceedings are neither ministerial nor quasi-judicial. His
associates, however, would not share this prohibition.

EC-COI-86-13 — A police chief may not investigate a
complaint against an establishment in which an imme-
diate member of his family has an ownership interest, or
assign police officers to that establishment His par-
ticipation in matters involving the competitors of that
establishment will be permitted only if he has disclosed
the situation to his appointing authority and has re-
ceived written permission to participate.



EC-COI-86-14 -~ Local housing authority officials
responsible for the Authority's participation in a car
purchasing program may not accept a personal discount
from that car dealership because they would be in
receiptof an item of substantial value for or because of
their official actions. Other Authority officials who are
not involved with the car dealership in their official
positions may not accept the discount because they
would be in receipt of an unwarranted privilege of
substantial value not properly available to similarly
situated individuals,

EC-COI-86-15 — A member of the General Court may
conduct private business with county and municipal
agencies because the conflict law only prohibits his paid
appearances before state agencies. As a legislator, he
will be required to abstain from participating in any
legislative review of a county account in which he hasa
financial interest.

EC-COI-86-16 — A municipal employee may act both as
attorney for his municipal employer in one lawsuit, and
as attorney for parties other than his municipal employ-
er in two other lawsuits, because the latter actions are
separate particular matters from the first. Different
parties, facts and legal issues are indicia of separate
particular matters. The lawsuits retain their status as
separate particular matters even when the court clerk,
for reasons of judicial economy, assigns them a common
docket number and requires the municipal employee to
file a single appellate brief,

EC-COI-86-17 — A state agency may provide free un-
limited transportation passes to its employees and their
spouses as part of an empiloyee benefit package. Mem-
bers of the state agency may not provide free passes to
themselves, their own spouses, county officials or retired
employees for personal, non-job-related uses, however,
as this constitutes use of their official position to secure
an unwarranted privilege of substantial value for them-
selves and others.

EC-COI-86-18 — A county employee may not also serve
civil process as an appointed, paid deputy sheriff. By
acting as deputy sheriff, the employee would have a
financial interest in a contract made by the county in
violation of §14.

EC-COI-86-19 — A city council member may vote on a
home rule petition which affects the financial interest of
an immediate family member if she publicly discloses
this information pursuant to G.L. c. 2684, §23(b)(3). The
city council member is not required by §19 to abstain
from voting because she is not participating in a “par-
ticular matter” which affects the family member’s finan-

cial interest; a city’s petition to the state legislature fora
special law is excluded from the definition of “par-
ticular matter.”

EC-COI-86-20 — A state employee may serve on the
beard of directors of a non-profit organization which
has a contractual relationship with his state agency
provided: (1) the employee refrains from acting while
on the board in connection with any particular matter
in which the commonwealth or any state agency has a
direct and substantial interest and (2) the employee does
not participate, while at the agency, in any particular
matter in which the non-profit organization has a finan-
cial interest.

EC-COI-86-21 — An artwork designer whose services
have been expressiy contracted for by a state agencyisa
state employee for the purposes of the conflict of in-
terest law. The fact that his company is under contract
with the state agency does not place the employee in
violation of §7 because his professional design services
were authorized by the same contract which made him
a state employee.

EC-COI-86-22 — The spouse of a state employee will
also be considered a state employee because he provides
certain services customarily performed by state em-
plioyees. He is prohibited by §6 from participatingasa
state employee in any particular matter which affects the
financial interest of a business organization for which
he holds an uncompensated position as director. Sec-
tion 23 prohibits his use of state resources for activities
related to the business or his use of his state position to
advance or endorse the business. To the extent he also
chairs a group comprised of representatives of state
agencies, he may not represent the business in connec-
tion with matters within his responsibility as chair of
that group.

EC-COI-86-23 — A former state employee may repre-
sent a corpeorate founder in a sale of stock to another
corporate founder because the former employee will
not be acting as agent or attorney for or be receiving
compensation from a non-state party in connection with
a particular matter in which he previously participated
as a state employee.

EC-COI-86-24 — A member of the General Court may
appear on an uncompensated basis befoere the Depart-
ment of Food and Agriculture (DFA) on behalf of a fami-
ly trust. He may not receive from the family trust profits
which are attributable to a DFA contract, nor may he
participate, as a member of the General Court, in any
matter which affects his, his immediate family's or the
family trust’s financial interests.



EC-COL86-25 — A city council member who is
employed by a teachers’ organization which has a
reasonably foreseeable financial interest in the selection
of a school committee member may not participate in
the appointment.

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 9 — State Employee
Stock Ownership. This advisory reviewed the principles
of the conflict law which apply to state employees who
own stock in corporations which contract with state
agencies. Authorized February 25, 1986.

[}

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 10 — Chiefs of Police
Doing Privately Paid Details. This advisory provided
guidelines to Boards of Selectmen and City Councils to
aid them in restructuring a police chief's employment
arrangement so as to permit paid detail work without
violating the conflict law. Issued June 26, 1986.

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 11 — Nepotism. This
advisory explains to public officials and employees
exactly what constitutes a “nepotism” violation and
what the Commission’s enforcement policy is regarding
these violations. Issued December 15, 1986.
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Included are:

1. All Advisory Opinions issued July 1985 to
December 1985, page 43.

2. All Advisory Opinions issued in 1986, page 86.

3. Commission Advisories No's. 9, 10, 11 issued in
1986, page 121.

Cite Advisory Opinions as follows:
EC.COI-86-(number)

Typographical errors in the original text of Com-
mission documents have been corrected.






CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-53

FACTS:

You are an employee of state agency ABC and have
been invited to serve as a member of the board of
directors of XYZ. XYZ is a non-profit corporation which
receives a portion of its funding from the Bay State
Skills Corporation and local organizations funded
under the Job Training and Partnership Act (JTPA).
ABC does not provide funding to XYZ but does have
official dealings with XYZ. You also state that XYZ
may be receiving funding from a state agency in which
a member of your immediate family is an employee.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to serve on the XYZ
board of directors while you remain employed by ABC?

ANSWER:

Yes, although you will be subject to certain restric-
tions in both your ABC and XYZ positions.

DISCUSSION:

As an ABC employee, you are a state employee for
the purposes of G.L. ¢. 268A. Three sections of that law
are relevant to your situation.

1. Section 4(c)

This section limits your activities as an XYZ director.
Under §4(c), you may not act as the agent or attorney for
XYZ in relation to any “particular matter,”*! in which
the commonwealth or a state agency is a partyor hasa
direct and substantial interest. For exampile, you could
not act as XYZ's spokesperson in connection with its
funding applications to or contracts with state agencies
such as the Bay State Skills Corporation, or agencies
funded under JTPA. The prohibition wouid also require
that you not sign the funding applications or contracts.
On the other hand, you could participate in internal
XYZ board discussions concerning such matters as long
as you did not take any action which might be perceived
by outsiders as your acting on behalf of XYZ.

2. Section 6

This section prohibits you from participating®/ in
your ABC capacity in any particular matter in which
XYZ has a financial interest. For example, you may not
approve the referral to XYZ of an individual who
receives unemployment compensation. Although you
indicate that this scenario does not occur frequently, §6
places certain disclosure requirements on you. In addi-
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tion to abstaining from the referral, vou must notify
your appointing official and the Commission of the
nature of your relationship to XYZ and XYZ's financial
interest. Your appointing official may then either:
(1) assign the particular matter to another
employee; or
(2) assume responsibility for the particular matter;
or
{3) make a written determination that the interest
is not so substantial as to be deemed likely to
affect the integrity of the services which the
commonwealth may expect frem you, in which
case you may participate in the particular
matter. Copies of such written determination
shall be forwarded to you and filed with the
Commission.

3. Section 25

This section applies to both you and your family
member. As applied to you, §23 prohibits you from
using your official ABC position to secure unwarranted
privileges or exemptions for XYZ, or from disclosing to
XYZ confidential information which you have acquired
at ABC. Your family member must abide by §23(12)(3)
in her official dealings with XYZ. Although there is
nothing in §23 that inherently prohibits your family
member’s participation, to avoid raising such issues, her
decisions with regard to XYZ must be based on objective
standards. Specifically, she must avoid conduct which
gives the reasonable impression that her funding deci-
sions will be unduly affected by your affiliation with
XYZ.4

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 16, 1985

YG.L c. 268A. §i(k) defines “particular matter” as “any judicial or ather
proceeding, application. submission, request for a ruling or other determina.
don, coract, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, deter-
mination, finding, but excluding enactment of general legislation by the general
court and petitions of cities, towns., counties and districts for special laws related
to their governmental organizations, powers, duties. inances and property.”

YG.L. c. 268A, §i(j) defines “participate™ as “participate in agency action
or in a particular matter personally and substantially as a state, county or
municipal employee, through approval, disapproval, decision, recommenda-
tion, the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise.”

#On July 9. 1985, the Supreme Judicial Courr ruled that the Commission
does not pousess the jurisdiction to enforce G.L. c. 268A. §23. The discussion
contained above is based on prior Commission tulings and is intended to
provide guidance to you.

SIF this situation should arise, your family member may scek guidance
from the Commission.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-54

FACTS:
You are the president of a state educational institu-

tion (ABC). Your responsibilities do not include deci-
sions concerning where to deposit ABC funds. These



decisions, which are based on a highest bidder process,
are handled by the ABC Comptrolier and Director of
Auxiliary Services.

You were recently elected as one of the twenty-five
directors of a (Bank) and will receive compensation of
fifty dollars per meeting. The Bank currently holds
approximately $40,000 out of the two to three million
dollars in accounts which ABC currently has on deposit
with banks.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 26BA permit you to serve as a Bank direc-
tor while you maintain your ABC presidency?

ANSWER:

Yes, provided that you comply with the restrictions
described below,

DISCUSSION:

[n your capacity as ABC president, you are a state
employee for the purposes of G.L. c. 268BA. Three sec-
tions of the law are relevant to your situation,

1. Section4

This section limits your activities as a Bank director.
Under §4(a) and (c), you may not receive compensation
from or act as agent for the Bank in relation to any par-
ticular matter'/ in which the commonwealth or a state
agency is a party or has a direct and substantial interest.
For example, if the State Banking Division were con-
ducting an audit of the Bank, you could neither act as
the Bank's representative in relation to the audit, nor
receive compensation from the Bank in relation to that
audit. Similarly, you may not act as the Bank's repre-
sentative in connection with Bank applications to state
agencies, including state colleges, because the com-
monwealth would clearly have a direct and substantial
interest in those applications. On the other hand, many
matters will come before you at Bank director meetings
in which the commonwealth will not be a party or have
a direct and substantial interest, and §4 does not limit
your Bank activities with respect to those matters. You
should therefore monitor the agenda of Bank director
meetings and comply with the §4 guidelines whenever
matters come before you in which the commonwealth
has a stake. You may contact the Commission staff if §4
issues subsequently arise about which you are unsure.

2. Sectionb

This section applies 1o your activities as ABC
president. Because you are a Bank director and have

loyalties to the Bank which may potentially conflict with
your lovalty to the commonwealth. §6 places certain
limits on your official actions. Specifically, while vou
rémain as a Bank director, you may not participate¥ in
any particular matter in which the Bank has a financial
interest. Based on the facts as you have described them,
it is unlikely that §6 issues will be raised because you
have no official dealings as ABC president with either
the Bank or the deposit process. Should your responsi-
bilities change to include involvement with that process,
§6 will apply.*!

3. Section 23(42)(3)"

This section prohibits you from, by your conduct,
giving reasonable basis for the impression that any per-
son can unduly enjoy your favor in the performance of
your official duties, or that you are unduly affected by
the position of any person. Issues under this section may
arise because you have authority over those individuals
who have official dealings with banks. You should
therefore be aware of the §23 provisions whenever you
evaluate these employees’ job performance or otherwise
participate in any personnel decision including those
individuals. In particular, your decisions should not be
affected by the amount of deposits which the Bank
receives. While this restriction may be self-explanatory,
and the process by which ABC deposits are made is
based on a standardized procedure, you should remain
aware of the §23 standards in your official dealings with
these employees.®/

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 16, 1985

WL c. 268A, §i(k) defines “particular mater” as “any judicial or other
proceeding, application. submission, request for a ruling or other determina.
tion, contract, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, deter:
mination, finding, but excluding enactment of general legislation by the general
court and petitions of cities, towns, counties and districts for special laws related
10 their governmental organizations, powers, dutics, finances and property.”

%G L c. 268A, §1(}) defines “participate™ a3 “participate in agency action
or in a particular matter personally and substandally as 2 state, county or
municipal employee, through approval, disapproval, decision, recommenda-
tion, the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise.”

'If this hypothetical situation should occur, you would be required to
abstain from panicipation if the Bank were an applicant unless you received
from your appointing official a written determination that the Bank's financial
interest was not 30 substantial as to affect the integrity of your ABC services. See,
G.L. ¢ 268A, §6.

“On July 9, 1985, the Supreme Judicial Court ruled that the Commission
does not possess the jurisdiction 1o enforce G.L c. 268A, §23. The discussion
contained above is based on prior Commission rulingy and is intended 1o pro-
vide guidance to you.

%One other section of G.L ¢. 268A, §7, should be noted briefly. This sec-
tion prohibits a saate empioyee from having a financial interestin a second con-
tract made by a sate agency. [ssues under §7 would be raised if your Bank direc
tor compensation were atributable Lo contracts with state agencies, or if the
Bank held such a large percentage of statz deposits that your compensation were
unavoidably tied to contracts made by the state. Your current situation does not
raise such inues. However, should the Bank's state deposits substantially in
crease, you should renew your opinion request with the Commission.



CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-55

FACTS:

You are employed on a full-time basis as a director
for state agency ABC. In that capacity, you administer
and supervise the provision of certain services to indi-
viduals, ABC is considering gradually terminating the
employment of its in-house staff, including your posi-
tion, and contracting out for the provision of these
services, You state that you have not had input or discus-
sions with ABC officials involving the advisability of
engaging the services of independent contractors, or in
the guidelines or specifications for such contractors.

You are interested in submitting a bid for a service
contract in the event that ABC decides to contract out
for services. If selected, you would leave your position as
a director.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to submita bid to ABC
and work under contract with ABC to provide services?

ANSWER:

Yes, although you will be subject to certain restric-
tions described below.

DISCUSSION:

In your current capacity as a ABC director, you are
a state employee for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A.
Should you leave your current position to become a con-
tractor to ABC, you would retain your state employee
status because the definition of state employee includes
“persons performing services for or holding an office,
position, employment, or membership in a state agency,
whether by election, appointment, contract of hire or
engagement.” G.L. c. 2684, §l(g). Nothing in G.L. c. 268A
inherently prohibits a state employee from changing
employment status from a full-time employee to con-
sultant with the same state agency. See, EC-COI-83-4l.
However, you will be subject to certain restrictions both
during and after the application process.

1. Section 6

This section prohibits you from participating'/asan
ABC director in any particular matter¥ in which you
have a financial interest. Inasmuch as you plan to submit
a bid to ABC to provide services, you have a financial
interest in ABC's decision to contract out as well as in
ABC'’s appointment of contractors. As long as you con-
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tinue to avoid having any input or discussion with ABC
officials involving these particular matters, you will be
in compliance with §6.%

2. Section 239

This section prohibits you from using your official
position to secure unwarranted privileges or exemp-
tions for yourself or others, and, by your conduct, from
giving reasonable basis for the impression that you are
unduly affected by the position of any person. G.L. c.
268A, §23(12)(2, 3). Because of your insider status at
ABC, you are in a position to influence the contracting
out decision, and you must therefore take steps to assure
that you will not be using your position to secure an un-
warranted privilege for yourself. You should continue
to refrain from discussing the contracting out decision
or the process with ABC officials. Further, you should be
aware that the provisions of §23 apply to your current
supervisory role over those individuals who may be
competing with you for the service contracts.’/

3. Section 4{c)

This section prohibits a state employee from acting
as the agent of someone other than the commonwealth
in relation to any particular matter in which the com-
monweaith or a state agency is a party or has a directand
substantial interest. This section will apply if you are
planning to submit to ABC a contract bid on behaif of a
partnership of other individuals or a corporation. On
the other hand, if you make your submission solely on
your own behalf, you will not violate §4(c) because you
will not be acting as the agent for someone else. See,
EC.COI-85-18, 85-12.

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 16, 1985

%G L. c. 268A, §1(j) defines “participate™ as “participate in agency action
or in a particular macter personally and substantially as a state, county or
municipal employee, through approval. disapproval, decision, recommenda-
ton, the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise.”

HG.L . 268A, §i(%) defines "particular matter” as “any judicial or other
proceeding. application, submission, request for a ruling or other determina:
tion, contract, clatm, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, deter-
mination, finding, but excluding enactment of general legistation by the general
court and petitions of cities, towns, countics and districts for special laws related
10 their governmental organizations, powers, duties, finances and property ™

'The second paragraph of §6 contains an exemption procedure which
would permit your participation in such mauers if your appointing official
determines in writing that your financial interest is not so substantial as to be
deemed likely 10 affect the integrity of the services which ABC expects from you
A copy of this determination must be forwarded to the Commission.

4On July 9, 1985, the Supreme Judicial Court ruled that the Commission
does not posseas the jurisdiction to enforce G.L c. 268A, §23. The discussion
contained above is based on prior Commission rulings and is intended to
provide guidance to you and your appoiniing official.

${The standards of conduct dexctibed abave apply equally to ABC officials
who will be making the contracting out and hiring decisions. Thev should be
made aware that they may not grant to you unwarranted privileges or exemp-
tions in the application or selection process. For example. they mav not waive
for you the principle eligibility requiremenus for bidding on 2 service consultant
coniract



CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-56

FACTS:

You are a physician for the commonwealth and you
report to a committee from the Group Insurance Com-
mission (GIC), which is responsible tor the administra.
tion of health maintenance organization plans for state
employees. You also have a part-time medical practice
several evenings during the week. All of your private
patients are from your community, ...d none are state
employees. In your private practice you are a primary
care physician for the Plan, a health maintenance
organization which is available to state employees. In
this capacity, you accept as patients only employees of
private corporations.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to maintain a private
practice?

ANSWER:

Yes, subject to the following conditions.
DISCUSSION:

As a physician for the commonwealth, you are a
state employee for the purposes of G.L. c. 2684, §1(q).
The sections of the conflict of interest law applicable to
your situation are §§4 and 23,

1. Section 4

Under this section, you are prohibited from receiv-
ing compensation from non-state parties in relation to
any "particular matter” in which the commonwealth or
a state agency is a party or has a direct and substantial
interest. Prior opinions issued by the Commission have
stated that the referral and treatment of patients are
“particular matters” within the scope of the statute. See
EC.COI-84-112. Whether the state has a direct and sub-
stantial interest in the matter is determined by the state’s
involvement or responsibility for the referral or treat
ment. You indicate that your private patients are not
state employees, and the private patients you accept
from the Plan are employees of private corporations.
Since you do not accept referrals or treat state
employees in your private practice, §4 would not apply
to your situation.

2. Section 23"
Section 23 contains general standards of conduct

46

applicable to all state, county and municipal emplovees.
These provisions address courses of conduct raising
conflict questions as well as the appearance of conflict.
Section 23(92) prohibits the use or attempted use of
your official position to secure unwarranted privileges
or exemptions for yourself or others. It also prohibits
you from, by your conduct, giving a reasonable basis for
the impression that any person can improperly influ-
ence or unduly enjoy your favor in the performance of
your official duties, or that you are unduly affected by
the kinship, rank, position or influence of any party or
person. G.L. c. 268A, §23(12)(3). Since you report direct-
ly to a GIC committee, you should avoid using your of-
ficial position to secure preferential treatment for the
Plan with the GIC. In other words, your position and
loyalty to the Plan should not influence your work as a
state employee.

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 16, 1985

4On July 9,1985, the Supreme Judicial Court ruled that the Commission
does not possess the jurisdiction to enforce G.L. ¢, 268A. §23. The discussion
contained abaove is based on prior Commission rulings and is intended to
provide guidance to you and your appointing official,

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO, EC-COI-85-57

FACTS:

You are the full-time comptroller for a state educa-
tional institution (ABC). You are also employed as a
consultant by DEF. DEF has developed a product which
is used widely by private colleges and universities in
other parts of the country. ABC implemented the system
in 1988, and six months after, you began your consulting
refationship with DEF. ABC continues to have service
maintenance contracts with DEF and may in the future
purchase new systems from them. The service contracts
are maintained by DEF personnel. If new systems are
purchased, ABC will have outside consultants train its
personnel on the use of those systems. As a consultant,
you provide DEF with advice regarding the use and
development of DEF's financial software System. You
also assist DEF client colleges and universities during
the various phases of implementation of the system. You
state that your consulting activities involve private col-
leges and public universities outside of Massachusetts.
In the future, DEF may want you te consuit with public
universities in Massachusetts.

UESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to work for DEF while
you remain a state employee?



ANSWER:

Yes, subject to the limitations set forth below,

DISCUSSION:

As comptrotler of ABC, you are a state employee
and therefore are subject to the provisions of the con-
flict of interest law, G.L. c. 268A. The sections of that law
relevant to the issue you have raised are §§4, 6, and 23.

1. Section4

Section 4 provides in relevant part that no state
employee may accept compensation from or act as agent
orattorney for anyone other than the commonwealth or
a state agency in connection with a particular matter in
which the commonwealth or a state agency is a party or
has a direct and substantial interest. Any contract that
DEF has with public universities in Massachusetts would
be considered a particular matter in which the com-
monwealth or a state agency would have a direct and
substantial interest. See, G.L. c. I5A, §1 etseq. At the
present time, because the work you perform is with
private colleges and out-ofstate universities, §4 does not
prohibit you from providing consuiting services to DEF
clients. On the other hand, you wouid be prohibited by
§4 from receiving compensation on any DEF contracts
with public universities in the state because a state
agency would be a party to such contract.

2. Section6

Section 6 provides that no state employee shali
participate as such an employee in any particular matter
in which he or a business organization in!which he is
serving as an employee has a financial interest. If the
state employee’s duties would otherwise require him
to participate in such a particular matter, he must advise
his appointing official and the Commission of the
nature and circumstances of the particular matter and
of his financial interest in it. The appointing official
shall then either:

(1) assign the particular matter to another

employee; or

(2) assume responsibility for the particular

matter; or

(3) make a written determination that the in-

terest is not so substantial as to be deemed
likely to affect the integrity of the services
which the commonwealth may expect from
the employee in which case it shall notbea
violation for the employee to participate in
the particular matter. Copies of such writ-
ten determination shail be forwarded to the
employee and filed with the Commission
by the person who made the determination.
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DEF is a business organization with which you have an
employment arrangement. A contract between ABC and
DEF would constitute a particular matter in which DEF
has a financial interest. Section & therefore prohibits
you from participating'/ as ABC comptroller in any
decision, determination or recommendation relating to
any contracts DEF has with ABC. This provision applies
to the renewal of ABC’s contracts with DEF as well as
new contracts. You must abstain from participation
unless your appointing official makes a written deter-
mination that your interest in DEF contracts is not so
substantial as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity
of your services to the commonwealth. Copies of that
determination must be forwarded to the Commission.

3. Section 23Y%

You should also be aware that §23(43)(1} prohibits
you from accepting employment in any business in
which will require you to disclose confidential informa-
tion which you have gained by reason of your position
at ABC. You should keep this provision in mind
whenever discussing ABC matters with DEF.

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 16, 1985

WG L. c. 268A, §I{j) defines “partcipate” as “participate in agency action
or in a particular matter personally and subsantially as a atate, county or
municipal employee, through approval, disapproval, decision. recominenda-
tion, the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise.”

*On July 9, 1985, the Supreme Judicial Court ruled that the Commission
does not possess the jurisdiction to enforce G.L. ¢. 268A. §23. The discussion
contained above is based on prior Commission rulings and is intended to pro-
vide guidance to you and your appointing official.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-58

FACTS:

You are the Executive Director of a Housing
Authority (Authority) in ABC municipality. You are also
an incorporator and an officer of the Corporation
(Corporation), a non-profit corporation established by
the Authority. Likewise, every other incorporator, direc-
tor and officer of the Corporation is also a member
andlor officer of the Authority. However, you state that
the two entities are separate and distinct organizations,
i.e., the Corporation is notan arm of the Authority. You
further state that the motivation behind establishing the
Corporation was to create an entity which could reach
beyond the boundaries of the Authority’s jurisdiction, as
regulated by HUD and EOCD, to manage properties
and provide technical assistance to developersiowners
in producing housing in ABC through programs other
than pubiic housing programs.



QUESTION:

As Executive Director of the Authority, what limita-
tions does the conflict of interest law place on your abili-
ty to work for or hold an office in the Corporation?

ANSWER:

You will be subject to the following restrictions.

DISCUSSION:

“Municipal employee” is defined in G.L. c. 2684,
§l(g) as “a person performing services for or holding an
office, position, employment or membership in a
municipal agency, whether by election, appointment,
contract of hire or engagement, whether serving with or
without compensation, on a full, regular, part-time,
intermitzent, or consultant basis. . .” Section 7of G.L. c.
12IB states that “[f]or the purposes of chapter two hun-
dred and sixty-eight A, each housing and redevelopment
authority shall be considered a municipal agency...”
As Executive Director of the Housing Authority, you are
therefore a municipal employee subject to the provi-
sions of the conilict of interest law.

Section 17(a) of the conflict law prohibits you from
being compensated by anyone other than the ABC or
one of its agencies in connection with any particular
matter®/ in which ABC is a party or has a direct and
substantial interest, This provision does not preclude
you from being an officer of the Corporation, since you
state that such positions are unpaid. On the other hand,
§17(a) would prohibit you from being paid by the Cor-
poration for rendering technical assistance to in-
dividual owners and developers on matters of direct and
substantial interest to ABC. Such particular matters
«ould include not only applications being submitted to

he Authority (i.e.,, the municipai agency which employs

vou), but also any matters of direct and substantial in-
terest to any other ABC agencies (e.g., applications for
financing or licensing).

Section 17(c) prohibits you from acting as agent or
attorney for anyone other than the ABC or one of its
agencies in connection with any particular matter in
which ABC is a party or has a direct and substantizl in-
terest. Thus, §i7(c) would prohibit you from represent-
ing a developer or owner before a municipal agency or
regulatory board, e.g., before the planning board or zon-
ing board of appeals in ABC. Acting as agent or attorney
for the Corporation before any ABC agency in connec:
tion with a proceeding, application or contract, would
also violate §17(c). For the purposes of the conflict law,
acting as agent for either the Corporation or the in-
dividuals it assists means signing their contracts, acting
as their advocate in application processes, submitting
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their applications, presenting supporting information
on their behalf to the Authority or any other municipal
agency in ABC, or representing them in any way before
such a municipal agency. See EC-COI-84.6; 83.78.%/

Stated differently, §17 reflects the maxim that a per-
son cannot serve two masters, by restricting what you as
a municipal employee may do “on the side.” Its broad
prohibition acknowledges that whenever an employee
works for private interests in matters in which the ABC
also has an interest, there is a potential for divided
loyalties, influence peddling, the use of insider informa-
tion and favoritism - all at the expense of the ABC.

To summarize, §17 would prohibit your proposed
technical assistance to developerslowners on housing
issues, whether paid or unpaid. Because this section’s
restrictions are limited to “particular matters,” however,
your involvement as a Corporation officer in the form-
ulation of general issues of policy would not be preclud-
ed. EC.COL-83-18; Graham v. McGrail, 370 Mass. 133,
139-140 (1976).

You should also be aware of the standards of con-
duct guidelines contained in §23¢ of the conflict law.
Section 23 provides that no municipal employee shall:

(1) accept other employment which will impair his
independence of judgment in the exercise of his official
duties [G.L. c. 268A, §23(12X(1));

(2) use or attempt to use his official position to
secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions for
himself or others [G.L. c. 2684, §23(12)(2));

(3) by his conduct give a reasonable basis for the
impression that any person can improperly influence or
unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his official
duties, or that he is unduly affected by the kinship, rank,
position or influence of any party or person [G.L. c.
268A, §23(12)(3)

(4) accept employment or engage in business
activity which will require him to disclose confidential
information which he has gained by reason of his
official position, nor use such information or materials®/
to further his personal interest {G.L. c. 268A, §23(13)).

For example, you would violate §23(12)(2) by using
municipal space, supplies, time or personnel for Cor-
poration business. Similarly, you would violate
§23(92)()) if your service as an officer in the Corporation
unduly influenced your decision-making processes as
Executive Director of the Authority. You should bear
these §23 guidelines in mind in pursuing your duties as
Executive Director to avoid even the appearance of a
conflict.

DATE AUTHORIZED: Juiy 16, 1985

{The scope of this advisory opinion is limited solely 1o giving you advice
concerning your own prospective conduct. Whether your actions in the past
violated the conflict law cannot be addressed in an advisory opinion



“fFor the purposes of G L. c. 268A. " parnicular matter” is defined as “any
Judicial or other proceeding, application, submission. request for a ruling or
other determination, contract, claim. controversy, charge, accusation, arrest,
decision, determination. finding. . . G.L. ¢. 268A. §1ik),

"These citations refer to prior Commission conflict of interest opinions
including the year they were issued and their identifying numbers. Copies of
advisary opinions (with identifying information deleted) are available for public
inspection at the Commission offices.

“/On July 9,1985, the Supreme Judicial Cours ruled that the Commission
does not possess the jurisdiction to enforce G.L. c. 268A, §23. The discussion
contained above is based on prior Commission rulings and is intended to pro-
vide guidance to you and your appointing official.

YThese materials are defined as “materiais or date within the exemption
to the definition of public records as defined by G.L ¢. 4, §7."

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-59

FACTS:

Two of you are members on the City of A's (City)
Sports Facility Commission (Commission). A third
member of your group, Mr. A, is a resident of the City.
The Commission is a municipal body which oversees the
general operation and maintenance of the City's sports
facility. Recently, in response to the increasing financial
strain the facility puts on the City's budget, the three of
you began to have informal discussions about the
* possibility of having the City lease the facility t0 a
private entity which would handle its operation. An
informal opinion was sought from the city solicitor as to
whether the Commission was the appropriate body
to pursue a leasing arrangement. The city solicitor
informed you that the Commission did not have that
authority, and that the only way such an arrangement
could be entered into would be if the city council were
to approve it and then undertake the appropriate steps.
As a group you then put together a proposal which was
presented to the council by Mr. A. For purposes of the
proposal you called the private entity the Management
Group (MG). The proposal contemplated that the three
of you, possibly along with others, would form the
private entity which would lease the facility. When the
council received the proposal it was aware of the two
Commission members' involvement in it. The council
ultimately voted not to proceed with negotiations in
part because of their involvement. However, the two
Commission members have stated that they never took
any actions as Commissioners in connection with the
proposal. It has been further stated that the proposal
was not a matter that would come before the Commis-
sion unless the council were to seck advice from the
Commission. Subsequent to the council's action, the two
Commission members ceased all involvement with the
proposal.

Recently, the city's finance committee contacted
Mr. A.and indicated that it would like to pursue discus-
sions about the proposal with him. In this regard, the

49

council sent a memo to the Commission asking it to
participate in a joint meeting with the finance commit.
tee to discuss the proposal because of the Commission's
familiarity with the operation of the sports facility. To
date this meeting has not occurred, and you have stated
that when it does occur all interested city residents, and
not merely Commission members, will be invited to
participate. Should the finance committee decide that it
is in the interest of the City to have a private entity
operate the sports facility, it would submit a proposal to
that effect to the council which would then vote on the
matter.

In the event that the City decides to lease the sports
facility there would no longer be any need for a Com-
mission, and it is likely it would be abolished. The two
Commission members would like to become reinvolved
with the proposal either at this time, or with the MG
should the City decide to lease the sports facility to it.

QUESTIONS:

1. May the two of you participate while you are
Commission members in negotiations regarding the
proposal with the City?

2. If the two of you resign from the Commission
prior to the commencement of negotiations, can you
participate in negotiations on behalf of MG?

3. Ifthe MG proposal is accepted by the City and
the Commission is abolished, can the two former Com-
mission members then join MG?

ANSWERS:

1. No, unless they have been designated as special
municipal employees by the city council.

2. Yes.

3. Yes.

DISCUSSION:

As members of the Commission, the two of you are
municipal employees within the meaning of G.L. c.
268A. You therefore are subject to the provisions of that
law. Mr. A,, as your partner for a time in a joint business
venture, is also subject to certain provisions of that law.

1. Application of G.L. c. 268A to the Two Com-
mission Members
The sections of the law applicable to the two Com-
mission §§17, 18, 19 and 23. Section 17 provides in rele-
vant part that a municipal employee may not receive
compensation from or act as agent or attorney for
anyone other than the City in connection with any
particular matter'/ in which the City is a party or hasa
direct and substantiai interest.”/ Any proposal made to




the City regarding the operation of the sports facility
would constitute a particular matter subject to the §17
prohibition. Thus they may not act as MG's agent or
otherwise appear on MG's behalf before any City body
in connection with the proposal. Acting as agent in-
cludes not only personal participation in negotiations
but also making any sort of contact, on behalf of an out-
side entity, with the City." See e.g. EC-COI-85:2L: 85-2.

Section 19 prohibits a2 municipal employee from
participating* as such an employee in connection with
any matter in which he or a partner or a business
organization in which he is serving as officer, director,
trustee, partner or employee, has a financial interest.
This provision restricts the two Commission members’
activities as Commissioners. They may not take any ac-
tion as Commissioners which would affect either their
own or MG's financial interest. It has been stated that
the Commission has had no involvement with the pro-
posal, and thatany decision to lease the sports facility is
not one that would be made by the Commission but
rather by the city council. However, should the city
council seek a recommendation or any other assistance
from the Commission, the two Commission members
would have to abstain from participation.

Section 18 places restrictions on the activities of
former municipal employees. Section 18(a) prohibits a
former municipal employee from acting as agent for or
receiving compensation from anyone other than the
City in connection with any particular matter in which
the City is a party or has a direct and substantial interest
and in which the municipal employee participated as a
municipal employee. If the two Commissions were to
participate as Commissioners in anything having to do
with the proposal, for example making a recommenda-
tion to the City council they could not then become in-
volved with the proposal with MG after they left the
Commission. See e.g. EC-CO1-.82-130; 81-114. Section 18(b)
prohibits a former municipal employee for one year
after his employment has ceased from appearing per-
sonally before any agency of the city as agent or attorney
for anyone other than the city in connection with any
particular matter in which the same city is a party or has
a direct and substantial interest and which was the sub-
ject of his official responsibility’/ as a municipal
employee. This section focuses on official responsibili-
ty rather than participation. It would apply to the two
Commission members, if, for example, the Commission
had official responsibility for participating in a decision
about the proposal even though they had abstained
from any participation. Since ithas been stated that ac-
ting on the proposal is not within the responsibility of
the Commission, then the provisions of §18(b) would not
be applicable. )

Finally, the two Commission members should be
aware of §23 which contains general standards of con-
duct applicable to all state, county and municipal
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emplovees. It provides in relevant part that a public
employee may not use or aitempt to use his official posi-
tion to secure unwarranted nrivileges or exemptions for
himself or others. This section would be implicated if,
for example, the two Commission member were to use
any sort of confidential information about the sports
facility gained in the course of their service as Commis-
sion members to enhance the MG proposal or otherwise
benefit MG in obtaining a lease from the City.*/

2. Applicationof G.L.c. 268A to Mr. A.

Section I8 of G.L. c. 268A also places restrictions on
the activities of the partners of present and former
municipal employees. To further the purposes of G.L. <.
968A, the term “partner” is not restricted to those who
enter into formal partnership arrangements. Rather,
partner means any person who joins with the municipal
employee or former municipal employee either formal-
ly or informally in a common business venture. Seeeg.
EC-COI-84-78; 82.68. Thus, Mr. A, and the two Commis-
sion members were joined in a partnership up to the
point when the council decided not to pursue the pro-
posal and the two Commission members withdrew their
involvement Should the City enter into a lease with MG,
the three of you contemplate reestablishing the partner-
ship. Section 18(d) prohibits the partner ofa municipal
employee from acting as agent or attorney for anyone
other than the town in connection with any particular
matter in which the same town is a party or has a direct
and substantial interest and in which the municipal
employee participates or has participated as a munici-
pal employee, or which is the subject of the municipal
employee’s official responsibility. This section would
have prohibited Mr. A. from actingas MG's agent before
the council in connection with the proposal if the two
Commission members had participated in the matter as
Comumissioners or if participating in the decision on the
proposal was a subject of their official responsibility.
Since it has been stated that neither of these was the
case, §18(d) would not place limits on Mr. A.'s activities.
Section I8(c) prohibits the partner of a former
municipal employee from engaging in any activity in
which the former municipal employee is himself engag:
ing in. Since there would be no limitations on the two
Commission members activities pursuanito §18(a) and
(b) on the given facts, §18(c) would place no restrictions
on Mr. A.'s activities.

DATE AUTHORIZED July 16, 1985

YG.L. c. 268A, $i(k) defines * particular matter” as “any judicial or other
proceeding, application, submission. =quest for a ruling or other determina:
tion, contract claim, contraversy, charge, accusation, arrese, decision, determ
ination. finding. but excluding enacument of general legistatien by the general
court and petitions of cities, towns, counties and districts for special laws related
10 their governmental organizations, powers, dutics, finances and property.”



Y{This restriction only applies to a special municipal employeein relaticn
to particular matters (I} in which he has atany time participated as a municipal
employee. or (2) which are or within onc year have been the subjectof his official
responsbility, or (3) which are pending in the municipal agency in which he1s
serving.

YThe two Commission members could participate in internal MG discus.
siond or recommendations related 1o the proposal as long as they are not
perceived by the public to be raking any aciions on MG's behalf, See eg.
EC-COI-BY-145. (This citation refers to a previous advisory opinion issued by the
Commission including the year it was issued and i identifying number. Copies
of these and all other opinions are available for public inspection, with identi-
fving information deleted, at the Commission offices.)

4G L. . 268A. §1(j) defines, "to participate™ 23 “participate in agency action
or in a particular matter personally and substantially as a state, county or
municipal employee, through approval, disapproval, decision, recommenda-
tion. the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise.”

YG.L c. 268A. §l{i) defines “official responsibility” as “the direct admin-
istrative or operating authority, whether intermediate or final, and either exer-
cisable alone or with others, and whether personal or through subordinates, to
approve, disapprove or otherwise direct agency action.”

%On july 9,1985, the Supreme judicial Court ruled that the Commission
does not possess the jurisdiction to enforce G.L c. 268A, §25. The discussion
contained above is based on prior Commission rulings and is intended to
provide guidance 10 you,

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-60

FACTS:

You presently serve as an ABC County Commis-
sioner. You are considering accepting a senior position
in sales and marketing with a professional group bene-
fits management and consulting firm (Firm). The Firm
offers cost containment services in the specific areas of
Group Life and Accident and Health Coverages, its
services interfacing between the employer and the in-
surance carrier. Currently, the Firm represents several
Massachusetts municipalities including a few located
within ABC County. You also state that a principal in the
Firm, but not the Firm, has a contractual relationship
with ABC County for other unrelated services concern-
ing workers compensation.

QUESTION:

What limitations does G.L. c. 268A place on your
proposed sales and marketing activities for the Firm
while you serve as a County Commissioner?

ANSWER:
You will be subject to the limitations set forth below.

DISCUSSION:

As a County Commissioner, you are a county
employee as defined in the state conflict of interest law,
G.L.c. 2684, §i et seq., and as a result are subject to the
provisions of that law.

Section 11 of the conflict law prohibits a county
employee from being compensated by, or acting as
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agent or attorney for, anyone other than the county by
which he is employed in connection with any particular
matter"/ in which that county is a party or has a direct
and substantial interest. For example, §11 would pro-
hibit you from soliciting County business for the Firm.
On the other hand, this section would not limit your ac-
tivities on behalf of the Firm dealing with municipalities
because the County would not have a direct and substan-
tial interest in the contracts between the Firm and such
municipalities regarding cost containment services.

Section 13 prohibits 2 county employee from
participating¥ as such an employee in a particular mat-
ter in which to his knowledge he, a partner, or a business
organization in which he is serving as officer, director,
trustee, partner or employee has a financial interest.
Accordingly, you would have to abstain from any discus-
sion or vote concerning a proposal submitted by the
Firm to the County Commissioners. If you became a
partner in the Firm, Section I3 would also prohibit your
participation as a County Commissioner in matters in
which your fellow partners had a financial interest,
including the workers compensation contract one Firm
principal currendy has with the County. Section 13
further provides that any county employee whose duties
would otherwise require him to participate in a pro-
hibited matter must disclose to the Commission the
nature and circumstances of the matter and the finan-
cial interest involved. Although certain exemptions are
provided when county employees have appointing
officials, you, as an elected official, cannot obtain such
an exemption.

Section 14 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a county
employee from having a financial interest in a contract
made by an agency of the county which employs him.
For example, you would violate this section if any of
your salary from the Firm derived from the Firm's con-
tracts with the County. Because this section’s prohibi-
tion only applies to contracts made by agencies of the
County, it would not apply to Firm contracts with munic-
ipalities, even if you were considered to have a financial
interest in such contracts. However, if the principal in
the Firm who has contracted individually with the Coun-
ty shares his profits with the Firm, you would be deemed
to have an indirect financial interest in a County con-
tract in violation of §14. You should therefore take steps
to ensure that you do not share in such profits.

Finally, §28 of the conflict law contains certain
standards of conduct which apply to all state, county and
municipal employees. That section provides that no
county employee shall:

(1) accept other employment which will impair his
independence of judgment in the exercise of his official
duties [G.L. c. 2684, §23(12)(D)};

(2) use or auempt to use his official position to
secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions for
himself or others [G.L. c. 2684, §23(12)(2)];



(3) by his conduct give a reasonable basis for the
impression that any person can improperly influence or
unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his official
duties, or that he is unduly affected by the kinship, rank,
position or influence of any party or person {G.L. c
268A. §23(123)

{4) accept employment or engage in business
activity which will require him to disclose confidential
information he has gained in his official position, nor
use such information or materials®/ to further his per-
sonal interests [G.L. c. 268A, §23(13).

To avoid violating §23, you should not exploit or
otherwise utilize your position as County Commissioner
to assist your efforts on behalf of the Firm. If you deal
privately with municipalities within ABC County, the
tenor and result of your private dealings may affect your
recommendations and advice concerning County
matters which uniquely impact those specific munici-
palities, in violation of §23(12)(1). See, e.g. EC-COI-82
124.4 Likewise, the overlap of public and private deal-
ings with such municipalities may give the impression
that you may be influenced in the performance of your
official duties by virtue of your private business deal-
ings, in violation of §23(12)(3). S, e.g. In the Matter of
John J.Rosario, 1984 Ethics Commission 205. To avoid
such violations, you should refrain from participating as
County Commissioner in any determination which
would affect a municipality you are dealing with private-
ly.*! By virtue of §23(12)(2), prohibiting your using your
official position to gain unwarranted privileges for
yourself or others, you also should not use County office
supplies, space, or personnel for non-County
purposes.’/

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 16, 1985

fFor purpases of GL. c. 268A, particular matter” is defined as “any
judicial or other proceeding. application, submission, request for a ruling or
other determination, contract. claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest,
decision, determination, finding, but excluding enactmentof general legislation
by the general court and petitions of cities, towns, counties and districes for
special laws related to their governmental organizations, powets, duties,
finances and property. G.L ¢. 268A, §1(k).

"fParticipation is defined in §1{j) a3 “personal and substantial pardcipation
“through approval, disapproval, decision, recommendation, the rendering of
advice, investigation or otherwise.”

3{These materials are defined as “materials or data within the exemption
10 the definition of public records as defined by G.L. <. 4, §7.

+This citation refers to a prior Commission conflict of intereat opinion in:
cluding the year itwas issued and its identifying number. Copies of advisory opi:
nions (with identifying information deleted) are available for public inspection
at the Commission offices.

'You may, however, panicipate in Counry decisions involving determina-
tions of general policy which would affect the majority of municipalities within
ABC in a similar fashion,

%0n July 9,1985, the Supreme Judicial Court ruled that the Commission
does not possess the jurisdiction to enforce G.L. c. 268A, §23. The discunsion
canuined abave is based on prior Commission rulings and is intended 10
provide guidance to you.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-61

FACTS:

You were employed by state agency ABC until July,
1985 as its director. In your capacity, you were responsi-
ble for directing ABC's research activities. You indicate
that you not only supervised staff in these policy issues
but also participated in their formulation. You also pro-
vided expert testimony on related matters in adminis-
trative and judicial litigation.

Starting in September you will be an associate pro-
fessor at a private university. You expect to have the
opportunity to consult in the area of your expertise.

QUESTION:

What restrictions does G.L. c. 268A place on your
providing consultant services as a former state
employee?

ANSWER:

You are subject to the limitations discussed below.!

DISCUSSION:

1. Sectionb

During the period in which you served as director,
you were a state employee for the purposes of G.L. c.
968A and, upon leaving that position, you became a
formet state employee. As such, you are prohibited by
§5(a) of chapter 268A from acting as agent ot atterney
for, or receiving compensation from, anyone other than
the commonwealth in connection with a “particular
matter” in which the commonwealth or a state agency is
a party or has a direct and substantial interest and in
which you “participated” as a state employee. Particular
matter is defined in §i{k) as “any judicial or other pro-
ceeding, application, submission, request for a ruling or
other determination, contract, claim, controversy,
charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, find-
ing..." Under GL. c. 268A, participate means to “par-
ticipate in agency action orina particular matter per-
sonally and substantially as a state, county or municipal
employee, through approval, disapproval, decision,
recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation
or otherwise.” G.L. c. 2684, §1(j)-

Applying this provision to your duties and respons-
ibilities at ABC you would, for exampie, be prohibited
from working for a private company that had matters
pending before your agency in which you made deci-
sions or determinations affecting that company’s pro-



posal. The Commission has held that a former state
employee is prohibited from working on an appeal or
subsequent review of a determination they made while

a state employee, See EC.COI-84-31.% In this regard you -

would be prohibited from consulting to a private firm
on a subsequent challenge to the validity of regulations
which you participated in drafting. Although a regula.
tion in and of itself is not considered a particular matter,
the process by which it is adopted and the determina.
tion that was initially made as to its validity is considered
a particular matter. See EC-COI1-81-34, 82-78. Thus, if
you advised the commissioner as to the validity of pro-
posed regulations, you would be prohibited from assist-
ing a private party in challenging those regulations.

You should also be aware that §5(b) imposes addi-
tional restrictions on your consuiting activities on
behalf of private parties. Under §5(b), you are pro-
hibited until August 2, 1986 from appearing personally
before any court or agency of the commonwealth in
connection with any particular matter which was under
your official responsibility during the last two years of
your state employment. This section goes beyond those
matters in which you participated and rurns on your
authority in connection with any matter, Accordingly,
§5(b) will prohibit your appearances before ABC, and
any other state agency, the General Court, or a state
court regarding matters which were under your official
responsibility dating back to two years before your
resignation.

2. Section 23

Asa former state employee, you are also subject to
two provisions of the standards of conduct under G.L. c.
268A, §23.% These provisions prohibit a former state
employee from accepting employment or engaging in
any business or professional activity which will require
her to disclose confidential information which she has
gained by reason of her official position or authority
and from, in fact, improperly disclosing such materials
or using such information to further her personal inter.
ests. Thus, any confidential information you acquired as
director, must not be disclosed to any private companies
to which you provide consultant services.

DATE AUTHORIZED August 13, 1985

"1At this time the Commission can provide you with general guidelines.
Once you have 2 specific contract you may contact the Commission for further
guidance.

*fThis citation refers to prior Commission conflict of interest opinions
including the year they were issued and their identifying numbers. Copies of ad-
visory opinions (with identifying information deleted) are available for public
inspection at the Commission offices.

On July 9, 1985, the Supreme Judicial Court ruled that the Commission
does not possess the jurisdiction to enforce G.L. c. 268A, §23, The discussion
contained above is based an prior Cdmmission rulings and is intended to
provide guidance to you.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-62

FACTS:

You are the chairman of a County Board (Board).
You are also president of a real estate agency. A Corpor-
ation (Corp.) has a proposal before the Board involving
a parcel of land owned by the county. In order for the
Corp. to conform with the City's zoning requirements,
they need the county land for additional parking. The
Corp. will also develop a “Park and Ride"” as part of their
parking area for the benefit of the county. The land on
which the Corp. is to build their restaurant is owned by
the XYZ Agency. Your agency uses XYZ as a rental refer-
ral agency to handle all requests which you receive for
rentals. XYZ pays you a referral fee if they rent an apart-
ment to a referred customer. XYZ has a desk and tele-
phone in your office which they staff three hours a day.
The telephone is owned and paid for by XYZ and is
answered “XYZ Agency.” Neither your company nor
XYZ is formally associated with the other nor do you
have any ownership interest in XYZ. You have no joint
stationery or business cards that list your affiliation.
However, you and XYZ indicate in your real estate list-
ings in the newspaper that you are an affiliate of each
other. You indicate that the reason for advertising this
affiliation is because your firm only handles commercial
and residential real estate sales.:

QUESTION:

What limitations, if any, does G.L. c. 268A place on
your participation as a county board member in the
Corp's proposai?

ANSWER:

You may participate in the Corp's proposal.

DISCUSSION:

As aboard member of the County you are a county
employee and therefore are subject to the conflict of
interest law, G.L. c. 268A and, in particular, §§13 and 23.

Section 13 prohibits in pertinent part a county
employee from participating as such an employee ina
particular matter in which to his knowledge he, his
immediate family or partner, a business organization
which he is serving as officer, director, trustee or partner
has a financial interest. Whether you may participate as
county board member in discussions or the vote on the
Corp.’s proposal is determined by the nature of your
business relationship with XYZ. If you were considered



a partner of XYZ you would be prohibited by §13 from
participating in the Corp. proposal. The Commission
has held in previous opinions that a partner is any per-
son who joins with another, formally or informally,ina
common business venture. See EC-COI-84-78./ The
substance of the relationship is what counts, not the
terms the parties use to describe the relationship. Addi-
tionally, if a group creates a public appearance of a part-
nership (for example by linking theirnamesona letter-
head, business cards and business listing), they may be
treated as partners even though they may not, in fact,
share profits. The substance of your arrangement with
XYZ does not constitute a partnership. You do not share
letterhead or business cards. Your only public affiliation
is through a real estate listing which indicates that your
firms are affiliated. The only reason you advertise such
affiliation is because your firm only handles commercial
and residential real estate sales whereas XYZ comple-
ments your business by providing rental services.

Further, previous Commission opinions have held
that an occasional payment constitutes a fee for services
arrangement rather than a sharing of profits. Here, the
referral fee you receive from XYZ is more akin to a fee
for services. XYZ maintains its own telephone line
in your office and identifies itself to callers as "XYZ
Agency.” For these reasons, the affiliation you have
described will not be viewed as a partnership within the
meaning of the statute and the provisions which affect
the interests and activities of partners will not be
applicable.

You should also be aware that §23," which contains
general standards of conduct applicable to all public
employees, is relevant to your situation. Section
23(12)(3) prohibits one from by his conduct giving a
reasonable basis for the impression that any person can
improperly influence or unduly enjoy his favor in the
performance of his official duties, or that he is unduly
affected by the kinship, rank, position or influence of
any party or person. In order to dispel any improper
impression by your conduct as a county board member
in the Corp.’s proposal, you should disclose to the Board
your relationship with XYZ before participating in the
matter.

DATE AUTHORIZED August 13, 1985

'This citation refers 1o prior Commiuion conflice of interest opinions
including the year they were issued and their idemifying numbera. Copies of
advisory opinions {with identifying information deleted) are available for public
inspection at the Commission offices.

4On July 9,1385, the Supreme judicial Court ritled that the Commission
does not possess the jurisdiction to enforce G.L c 268A. §23. The discussion
contained above is based on prior Commission rulings and is intended to
provide guidance to you.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-53

FACTS:

You are currently a full-time employee of state
agency ABC. You are considering entering into a lease
arrangement for space in a state office building for the
purpose of running a cafe restaurant open to the
general public. Your brother, who is not a state
employee, would be your business partner in this ven-
ture. Once a lease arrangement is entered into you wili
either resign your position or take a leave of absence.

QUESTION:

What limitations does G.L. c. 268A place on your
having a contract with another state agency?

ANSWER:

You are subject to the restrictions discussed below.

DISCUSSION:

As a full-time employee of ABC you are considered
a “state employee” for the purposes of G.L. c. 2684,
§1(q). According to §7 of G.L. c. 268A a state employee
is prohibited from havinga financial interest”. . . direct-
ly or indirectly, in a contract made by a state agency in
which the commonwealth or 2 state agency is an interest-
ed party.” The lease you would have with the state would
be considered a contract. Therefore, in order to enter
into this contract you would have to either take a leave
of absence or become a part-time employee.

1. Leave of Absence

The Commission has held in previous opinions that
a state employee on leave of absence who is not receiv-
ing compensation, fringe benefits or retirement credit
would not be subject to the prohibitions of G.L. c. 268A,
§7. See EC-COI-84-17" During the period of a leave of
absence, you would not, strictly speaking, hold employ-
ment with ABC if you suspended your right to receive
benefits attributable to that position. Therefore, during
your leave of absence, your financial interest in the lease
with the Division of Capital Planning and Operations
(DCPO) is not subject to §7. This conclusion will apply
aslong as you are on a bona fide unpaid leave of absence
from your ABC position. A period of absence from your
position due to vacations, holidays, personal time or
illness, for example, would not insulate you from state
employee status during that period because you would
be receiving commonweaith benefits attributable to the
leave period.




2. Special state employee status

You should also be aware that a state employee who
works part-time may under certain circumstances have

a contract with another state agency. Section 1{o) -

defines in pertinent part a special state employee as one
who occupies a position which, by its classification in the
state agency invelved or by the terms of the contractor
conditions of employment, permits personal or private
employment during normal working hours provided
that disclosure of such classification or permission is
filed in writing with the State Ethics Commission prior
to the commencement of personal employment In this
regard, §7(d) states that the prohibition in §7 shall not
apply to a special state employce who does not
participate® in or have official responsibility’/ for any
other activities of the contracting agency. Section 7(d)
also requires you to file a disclosure of your financial
interest in the contract you would have with DCPO,
[nasmuch as your work with ABC does not place you in
a position of participating or having official responsi-
bility for matters in DCPO, you would be eligible for the
exemption in §7(d) were you to obtain special state
employee status.

DATE AUTHORIZED: August 13, 1985

*fThis citation refers 1o prior Commission conflict of interest opinions
including the year they were issued and their identifying numbers, Copies of
advisory opinions (with identifying information deleted) are available for public
inspection at the Commission offices.

*{For the purposes of G.L c. 268A, "participate” is defined a3 “participate
it agency action or ina particular matter personally and substantially as a state,
county or municipal employee, through approval, disapproval, decision,
recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise." G.L. c.
268A. §14j).

*For the purposes of G.L. c. 268A. "official responsibility™ is defined as
“the direct administrative or operating authority, whether intermediate or final,
and either exercisable atone or with others, and whether pemsonal or through
subordinates, to approve, disapprove or otherwise direct agency action.”
G.L . 268A, §1(i).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-64

FACTS:

You are chief of the Town of ABC's fire department
and as such have responsibility for enforcing Town fire
ordinances. DEF stadium is located in the Town, and
when events are heid there they can attract several thou-
sand people. As fire chief you assign paid details of
firefighters to stadium events. A fire department officer
also works these details for the purpose of supervising
the firefighters. The officer in charge uses a Town vehi-
cle when he works these details. Firefighters are paid for
their private detail services at a rate established in their
collective bargaining agreement with the Town. The
stadium pays the Town for the firefighters’ services. The
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Town deposits that money in a special account separate
from other Town monies and then pays the firefighters
out of that account. The Town charges the stadium a [0
percent administration fee pursuant to G.L. ¢. 44, §53C.
As fire chief you would be paid in the same manner as
the firefighters for working a detail but would receive a
higher rate of compensation based on your annual
salary broken down into an hourly wage. This figure is
approximately twenty dollars an hour, and you state that
vou would earn at least one hundred dollars for each
detail,

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you as fire chief to be paid
for working details at the stadium?

ANSWER:

No.

DISCUSSION:

As fire chief for ABC you are a municipal employee
and therefore are subject to the provisions of G.L. c.
268A, the conflict of interest law. The section of the law
that is applicable to your question is §3.

Section 3(b) prohibits a municipal employee, other
than as provided by law for the proper discharge of
official duties, from directly or indirectly receiving
anything of substantial value for himself for or because
of any official act or acts within his official responsibility
performed or to be perfr.:med by him. You have stated
that your general supervisory responsibilities require
you to be on call twenty-four hours a day. You have
responsibility for enforcing fire and safety codes within
the Town. You have responsibility for the activities of
firefighters who are working paid details. When you
work a stadium detail you use a Town vehicle. Thus the
money you receive for working stadium details is being
paid to you for your performing acts which are the sub-
jectof your official responsibilities as chief. See, e.g. In
the Matter of James F.Connery, 1985 Ethics Commission
233; In the Matter of John A.Deleire, 1985 Ethics Com-
mission 236. Furthermore, the payment you receive is
something of substantial value.!/ While your situation is
distinguishable from those in Connery and Deliere in
that you are not paid directly by the stadium manage-
ment, this does not alter the result. Section 3(b) pro-
hibits both the direct and indirect receipt of items of
substantial value (emphasis supplied). Under the G.L.c.
44, §53C payment procedure, the Town merely serves as
a conduit between the private entity and the public
employee, presumably to ensure the efficiency and
integrity of the off-duty detail work system. The money




vou receive from the Town is the money paid to the

Town by the stadium, specifically earmarked as pay-
ment for detail work and segregated from all other
Town funds. Thus you are being indirectly compen-
sated by the stadium for services you are already being
paid by the Town to provide. In summary, §3(b) pro-
hibits the arrangement you have asked about.”/

DATE AUTHORIZED: August 13, 1985

\See Commonwealth v, Famigletti. 4 Mass. App.584 (1976) (A fifty dallar
pavment consututes something of substantial value within the meaning of G.L.

¢. 26BA. §3(b)
The advice contained in this advisory opinion is praspective only and
cannot address the propriety of conduct that has already occurred.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-65

FACTS:

You are the chief of police for the Town of ABC
(ABC). Your police force has more than ten permanent
officers and reserve officers. On occasion police officers
and patrolmen work paid details for private entities.
Compensation for both officers and patrolmen who
work such details is at a rate established in the Town’s
collective bargaining agreement with the patrolmen.
Payment is made pursuant to G.L. c. 44, §53C whereby
the factory pays the Town for the detail services, the
Town puts that money in a special account separate
from other Town funds, and the Town then pays the
police officers. You state that you have delegated the
task of assigning and supervising all details to the
sergeant on each shift. Two days a week when there is
not a sergeant on a shift you perform that function
yourself.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you, as chief of police, to
be paid for working a private detail?

ANSWER:

No.

DISCUSSION:

As chief of police for ABC you are a municipal
employee and therefore are subject to the provisions of
G.L. c. 26BA, the conflict of interest law. The section of
that law applicable to the question you have asked is §3.

Section 3(b) prohibits a municipal employee, other
than as provided by iaw for the proper discharge of
official duties, from directly or indirectly receiving
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anvthing of substantial value for himself for or because
of any official act or acts within his official responsibilit
performed or to be performed by him. As chief of police
you have overall supervisory responsibility for the
operation and activities of the police department. The
task of the department is to ensure the safety and securi-
ty of the Town's citizens and businesses. Your job by its
nature is a 24-hour-a-day job. Although you are able to
delegate some of the tasks associated with this respon-
sibility to subordinate officers, the fact remains that as
chief you retain official responsibility for the operation
of the police department. See, e.g. EC-COI-85-22.// This
ultimate responsibility means that a police chief cannot
perform private details himself for payment.

While your situation is distinguishable from thatin
In the Matter of John A. Deleire, 1985 Ethics Commis-
sion 286 in that you are not paid directly by the private
entity, this does not alter the result. Section 3(b) pro-
hibits both the direct and indirect receipt of items of
substantial value (emphasis supplied). Under the G.L. c.
44, §53C payment procedure, the Town merely serves as
a conduit between the private entity and the public
employee, presumably to ensure the cfficiency and
integrity of the off-duty detail work system. The money
you receive from the Town is the money paid to the
Town by the private party specifically earmarked as pay-
menc for detail work and segregated from all other
Town funds. Thus you are being indirectly compen-
sated by a private party for services which are already
subject to your supesvisory responsibility as chief. In
summary, §3(b) prohibits the arrangement you have
asked about.®/

DATE AUTHORIZED: August 13, 1985

\This citation refers w0 an advisory opinion previously issued by the
Commission. Copiet of this and ajl other advisory opinions are available for
public inspecuion, with identifying information deleted, at the Commission

offices.
"The advice contained in this advisory opinion is prospective anlv and
cannot address the propriety of conduct thathas already occurred.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-85-66

FACTS:

You are planning to run for a position on the ABC
City Council in the fall." Currently, you serve as the Exec-
utive Director of a Community Development Corpora-
tion (CDC) in the same community. By statutory defini-
tion, a CDC is “a quasi-public nonprofit corporation
organized under the General Laws to carry out certain
public purposes..” G.L. c40F, §l. The CDC was, accord-
ingly, established under Chapter 180 and in conformance
with the guidelines set forth in Chapter 40F to promote
economic and community development in ABC.



The funding for CDC projects appears to originate
from the federal and state level, including HUD Com-
munity Development Block Grants (CDBG) and funds
from the State Offices of Labor and Economic Affairs,
Executive Office of Communities and Developmentand
Community Development Finance Corporation. You
state that there is only one area in which the City has
anything to do with the CDC funding sources: the line
item for the CDC in the City's application for a Com-
munity Development Block Grant. The money from the
CDC line item ($100,000 for CDC's revolving loan fund
and $15,000 for rent and a part-time administrative aid’s
salary) passes directly to CDC as the sub-grantee. Before
the City's overall CDBG proposal is submitted, it goes
before the City Council. You state, however, that the City
Council has traditionally approved the botom line
grant figure only, without discussion of the program
makeup of the application.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to hold the office of
City Councillor in light of your employment as the
Executive Director of the CDC?

ANSWER:
No.

DISCUSSION:

As a City Councillor, you would be a municipal
employee within the meaning of G.L. c. 268A, §1(g), and
so would be subject to the provisions of the conflict of in-
terest law. The sections of the conflict of interest law
relevant to your situation would be §§19, 20 and 23.
However, the initial inquiry is whether the CDC is con-
sidered a municipal agency for Chapter 268A purposes.

1. Status of the CDC

Prior opinions of the Commission have identified
several criteria useful to an analysis of what constitutes
a public entity under the conflict law. See, e.g. EC-COI-
84-66; B4-65. Among those criteria are:

1. the existence of a statutory or regulatory

impetus for the creation of the entity;

2. whether the entity performs an essentially

governmental function;

3. whether the entity receives and/or expends

public funds; and

4. the extent of control and supervision exer-

cised by government officials or agencies over

the entity. .

None of these factors standing alone is dispositive;
rather, the Commission has considered the conjunctive
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effect produced by the extent of each factor’s applica-
bility to a given entity. For example, the Commission
concluded that local private industry councils are
municipal agencies within the meaning of ¢, 2684, § (D)
because of the role they play in the implementation of
the Federal Job Training and Partnership Act; namely,
in the decision-making role they share with local elected
officials in the development of job training plans, the
selection of grant recipients and the expenditure of
public funds. EC.-COI-83-74. See also EC-COI.82-25
[regional school district is a municipal agency for c.
268A purposes because it is supported solely by public
funds and it provides a service which each municipali-
ty in the commonwealth is required by law to provide].
Analyzing the CDC under the four factors listed above,
the Commission concludes that the CDC has all the in-
dicia of a public entity.

First, there is the statutory impetus for the creation
of the CDC. While a community is not required to
establish a CDC, if it chooses to do so, it must follow the
guidelines set forth in the enabling statute of the
Massachusetts Community Development Finance Cor-
poration (CDFC). See G.L. c. 40F, §1. A CDC is statutorily
defined aw:

“a quasi public non-profit corporation organ-

ized under the General Laws to carry out cer-

tain public purposes and with by-laws pro-
viding that:

1. itis organized to operate within a specified

geographic area coincident with existing

political boundaries;

2. that membership in the corporation shall

be open to all residents of said area who are

cighteen years or older;

3. thatatleast a majority of its board of direc-

tors shall be elected by the full membership

with each member having an equal vote;

4. that the by-laws of the Community Develop-

ment Corporation shall provide that any other

directors be either appointees of elected state

or local government officials or appointees

of other non-profit organizations having as a

purpose the promotion of development in the

designated geographic area;

5. thatsaid elections shall be held annually for

at least one-third of the members of the board

of directors so that each elected director shall

serve for a term of at least three years;

6. thatthedesignated geographicareashallbe

consistent with some existing, or combination

of existing, political district, provided that the

aggregate population of such geographic area

shall not exceed one hundred and fifteen thou-
sand people based on the most recent appro-

priate census.G.L. c. 40F, §1.










































































































































Because your position as chief of police is considered a
94.hour a day job, you are rendered incapable of
meeting the requirement that your constabulary serv-
ices be provided outside your normal working hours.

DATE AUTHORIZED: May 20, 1986

WThe fact that a bai! commissioner receives fees (rom someone other than
(he state was held 10 be irvelevant "Section 7 prohibits a financial interestina
contract madeby a state agency. not in one fundedby the state. [Lis the existence
of compensation, not the identity ofita source, that is the issue.” Quinn, supra.
The opportunity to ¢arn compensation from third persons is sufficient to
support a contract. Id. (cites omitted).

iSee footnate 5 in Quinn. supra.

"Because your receipt of fees for performing constable services violates §20, the
Commission does not reach the issue of whether your police chief salary would
qualify for 3 §20 exemption if the position of constable was expressiy classified
as a “special municipal emplayec” position by the Board of Selectmen.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-11

FACTS:

_ You are an associate justice of the Superior Court.
On the evening of April |7, 1986 and during the entire
day of April 18, 1986, you attended and participated ina
seminar at a Law School at the invitation of a member of
the Law School facuity. You participated in the seminar
as a visiting expert from the Massachusetts judiciary and
addressed principles of sentencing based on your ex:
perience as a trial judge. In preparation for the seminar,
you prepared and submitted written sentencing deci-
sions based on eight presentence investigation reports.
You obtained assistance in typing the reports from a
secretary employed by the Superior Court to which you
were assigned at the time. All other preparation and
“homework™ was done on your own time.

Your attendance and participation in the seminar
was approved by the chief justice of the Superior Court,
and your participation on the date of April 18,1986 was
recorded as an “education day.” As you describe it, a
judge on leave on an education day is paid his regular
judicial salary but is excused from performing
customary courtroom duties on that day. The judge will
attend or participate in a program related to judicial
education.

The sponsor of the April 18, 1986 sentencing
seminar has offered you an honorarium for your par-
ticipation in the seminar.

QUESTION:

Does GL. c. 268A permit you to accept the
honorarium for your participation in the seminar on
April 18, 1986, a day which was recorded as an “educa-
tion day.”
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ANSWER:
No.

DISCUSSION:

As an associate justice of the Superior Court, you
are a"state employee” for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A.
Section 23(b)(2) of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a state em-
ployee from using his official position to secure for
himself unwarranted privileges which are of substantial
value and which are not properly available to similarly
situated individuals. See, St. 1986, c. 12, eff. April 8, 1986.
The propriety under G.L. c. 268A of the receipt of
honoraria is governed by the provisions of G.L. c. 268A,
§23. In 1980, the Commission concluded in EC.COI-
80-28 that a state employee could accept an honorarium
without violating §23 if all of the following requirements
are met:

1) State supplies or facilities not available to the
general public are not used in the preparation
or delivery of the address;

9) State time is not taken for the preparation or
delivery of the address;

3) Delivering the speech is not part of the em-
ployee’s official duties;

4) Neither the sponsor of the address nor the
source of the honorarium, if different, isa per-
son or entity with which he might reasonably
expect to have dealings in the employee official
capacity.

The requirement that state time not be taken for the
preparation or delivery of the address was the focus of
a later advisory opinion, EC-CO!-81.95. In that opinion,
the Commission advised a state employee that he could
receive an honorarium for participating in a training
program only if (a) he did not receive compensation for
his regular state employee responsibilities thatday or (b}
he chose to be absent under vacation leave or personal
leave for that day. It is, therefore, an unwarranted
privilege for a state employee to receive both his regular
state compensation while serving on astate assignment
and also compensation from other sources for perform-
ing work during the same time period.

By virtue of your use of an “education day,” you
have received your regular judicial compensation for
your participation in the April 18, 1986 seminar. Your
acceptance of an honorarium from the seminar sponsor
for your participation the same day would secure for
you an unwarranted privilege which is not properiy
available to other members of the judiciary.

Three final points need to be addressed briefly.

1. The Commission assumes that the honorarium

to be offered will exceed fifty dollars in value. If so,

the honorarium will be something of substantial



value for the purposes of §23(b)(2). See, Common-
wealth v. Famigletti, 4 Mass. App. 584, 587 (197¢
Commission Advisory No. 8 (1985). If tiwe
honorarium is less than fifty dollars, the restriction
of §23(b)(2) does not apply.

2. The Commission's conclusion turns on the
characterization of April 18, 1986 as an “education
day”. If you were to use a vacation or personal day
for your seminar activities, you would no longer be
paid by two sources for performing a judicial assign-
ment on the same day. EC-COI-81-95. You would be
required, however, to comply with the remaining
standards for the receipt of honoraria set out on
page 2 of this opinion, including reimbursing the
commonwealth for state resources used in the
preparation of the sentencing decision."/

3. Irrespective of whether April 18,1986 is charac-
terized as an “education day”, vacation or personal
day, you may accept reimbursement from the spon-
sor for meals, lodging, travel and postage reason-
ably incurred in the preparation and presentation
of the seminar. EC-COI-80.28.

DATE AUTHORIZED: May 20, 1986

Your seminar sctvices on the prior evening do not appear 1o raise the
same problems under §23 because you are not receiving judicial compensation
for the same services. Assuming that your time is divisible, you may, therefore,
receive an honorarium which reflects the portion of your seminar services which
were performed on the prior evening provided that the other aforementioned
honorarium standards are satisfied.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-12

FACTS:

You are a member of the General Court and also an
attorney engaged in the practice of law. You have recent-
ly been asked by a potentiai client to represent him
before the Massachusetts Parole Board (Board). The
Board is authorized by G.L. c. 127 §133 to consider a
parole petition filed by a state prison inmate. In deter-
mining whether to grant 2 petition, the Board will cus-
tomarily allow the petitioner to make a personal state-
ment but will not permit a personal appearance by the
petitioner’s attorney. Proceedings relating to parole
petitions involve only one party, the petitioner; there is
no institutionalized party-respondent role which either
the Board counsel or private parties play in these pro-
ceedings. The Board's final decision is discretionary,
Commonwealth v. Hogan, 17 Mass. App. 186 (1983), and
there is no statutory authorization for an appeal to the
court of the Board's decision.
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QUESTIONS:

1. DoesG.L.c. 26BA permit you o appear before
the Board in relation to the parole petition?

2. Would it be permissible if one of your associate
auorneys appeared for compensation before the Board
in relation to the parole petition?

ANSWERS:

1. No, unless your appearance is unpaid.
2. Yes, as long as your associate, rather than you,
personaily appears.

DISCUSSION:

As a member of the General Court, you are a state
employee for the purpose of G.L. c. 268A. Section 4 of
G.L. ¢. 268A generally prohibits state employees from
receiving compensation from private clients in relation
to any particular matter'/ in which the Commonwealth
or a state agency is a party. Because the Board is a state
agency, a parole petition submittal to the Board is a
particular matter subject to §4 prohibition. However, as
amember of the General Court, you are subject to §4 in
the following limited way:

A member of the general court shall not be
subject to paragraphs (a) or (c). However, no
member of the general court shall personally
appear for any compensation other than his
legislative salary before any state agency, unless:

(1) the particular matter before the state

agency is ministerial in nature; or

(2) the appearance is before a court of the

Commonwealth; or
(3) the appearance is in a quasi-judicial
proceeding®/
G.L. c. 2684, §4 (15).

Based upon the information you have provided, the
Commission concludes that your proposed representa-
tion is not exempt from §4. By your personally appear-
ing for your client in the parole petition proceeding,
you would be appearing personally before a state agen-
cy. You would not qualify for an exemption with respect
to your appearance because

(1) the parole petition determination is

not ministerial in nature but involves
the exercise of discretion by the state
agency;

(2) the Board is not a state court, and

(3) your appearance is not in a “quasi

judicial proceeding” within the mean-
ing of §4.



A Board hearing is not a "quasi-judicial proceeding” in
that there are not “two sides” as such (and even the peti-
tioner's right to representation is substantially
restricted), and the Board's decision is not appealable to
the courts pursuant to the provisions of the adminis-
trative procedure act, G.L. c. 30A §1(2).

On the other hand, the relevant restrictions of §4
apply only to yourcompensated personal appearances
before state agencies, and not to appearances by your
employees. The limitations of the §4 legislator restric-
tions reflects a concern over potential influence which
a legislator could exercise in face-to-face dealings with
state agencies over which the legislator has budgetary
and legislative power. The potential for such influence
is diminished, however, when an employee of a
legislator, as opposed to the legislator himself, makes a
personal appearance, and the statutory scheme under
§4 does not extend the legisiator prohibitions to others.
Therefore, your associate’s paid representation of your
client would not place you in violation of §4. EC-COI-
85-40.

DATE AUTHORIZED: June 16, 1986

4G.L: c. 268A, §1(k) defines “particular mauter” as “any judicial or other
proceeding, application, submission, request for nuling or other determination,
contracy, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination,
finding, but excluding the enactment of general legislation by the general
court.”
*[For the purposes of §4 (15). a proceeding is considered quasi;judicial if:
{1) the action of the state agency is adjudicatory in nature; and
(2) the action of the state agency is appealable to the courts; and
(%) both sides are entitled to representation by counsel and such
counsel is neither the auormey general nor the counsel for the state
agency conducting the proceeding.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
EC-COI-86-13

FACTS:

You are the police chief in a city (City). In that
capacity you are the chief investigative officer of infrac-
tions by liquor license holders, although in practice you
have delegated most of the investigative responsibilities
to three other police officers. Following the investiga-
tion of infractions (e.g. selling liquor to minors or
remaining open beyond permissible hours) you or your
department may submit to the city licensing board
(board) a complaint against the license holder. The
board, which has issued approximately sixty liquor
licenses, will thereafter review the complaint and deter-
mine what sanctions, if any, should be imposed against
the liquor license holder. The board will also periodical-
ly request from your department information concern-
ing criminal law violations by license holders.

As police chief, you are aiso responsible for assign-
ing police officers to areas in which license holders are
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tocated, and for investigating alleged violations of
criminal laws at these establishments. Your wife is the
50% owner with another individual of a liquor establish-
ment, ABC, which holds a liquor license issued by the
board.!/ ABC is a neighborhood pub.

QUESTION:

In view of your wife's ownership interest in ABC,
what limitations does G.L. c. 268A place on your official
activities as they relate to liquor license holders?

ANSWER:Y

Absent written permission from your appointing
officials pursuant to G.L. c. 268A §19(b)(1), you may be
in violation of G.L. c. 268A §19 by participating as chief
in any matter affecting the financial interest of any
liquor license holder in the city.

DISCUSSION:

In your capacity as police chief, you are a municipal
employee within the meaning of G.L. c. 268A. EC-COI-
85-65. By virtue of your municipal employee status, you
are required by G.L. c. 268A, §19 to refrain from par-
ticipating®/ as police chief in any decision, determina-
tion, or other particular matter* in which your wife has
a financial interest. The prohibition of §19, in effect,
relieves you from choosing between the public's inter-
ests and your family's interests in the exercise of your
official duties. Section 19 assures the public that its in-
terests will not be clouded by potentially competing
private interests. Compare, Graham v. McGrail, 370
Mass. 133 (1976); Scuito v. City of Lawrence, 389 Mass
939 (1983). Exemptions from §19 may be granted only by
your appointing officials pursuant to §19(b)( 1).

As applied to you, G.L. c. 268A, §19 clearly prohibits
your participation in any particular matter involving
ABC because of your wife's 50% ownership interest in
the pub. The prohibition applies in particular to the
assignment of officers to ABC, the investigation of
alleged infractions involving ABC, and the communica-
tions between the police department and board con-
cerning violations of law by ABC. Because the conse-
quence of a liquor law violation may be the suspension
or termination of a liquor license, your wife has a finan-
cial interest in each matter in which you participate
involving ABC.

The prohibition on your official activities extends
beyond your involvement in ABC matters. Section 19
prohibits your participation in any matter affecting
your wife’s financial interest and necessarily includes
matters affecting competitors of ABC. Because the con-
sequence of an investigation of an infraction by a com-



petitor may be the suspension or termination of the
competitor’s liquor license, the removal of a competitor
would have a foreseeable financial impact on ABC. See,
EC-COI1-81-118; 82.95; 82.98. You must, therefore, not
participate as police chief in the assignment of any
police officer to, or in the investigation of, any com-
plaint involving a liquor license holder which is in
competition with ABC.

Based upon the information which you have provid-
ed, it is unclear if the scope of the competitive are: is less
than the entire city. Because your appointing officials
are in a better position than the Commission to identify
the local factors which would make a liquor license
holder a competitor with ABC, you should review your
situation with them. Under §19(b)(1), your appeinting
officials may grant you written permission to participate
in matters in which your wife may have a financial
interest.” The §19(b)(1) procedure therefore allows your
appointing officials to accomodate the needs of the
department to have a chief who can deal with liquor
license matters with the public interest in having those
dealings unclouded by potentially competing private
loyalties.

Section 23(b)(2) is also relevant to your question.
Under this paragraph, you may not use your official
position as police chief to secure unwarranted privileges
or exemptions of substantial value which are not pro-
perly available to similarly situated individuals. St. 1986,
<. 12. For example, you may not direct officers to treat
ABC differently from other liquor establishments with
respect to the investigation of infractions. You must also
refrain from providing rewards to a police officer be-
cause of favorable action he has taken towards ABC, or
from treating adversely any police officer because of un-
favorable action he has taken towards ABC. See, Craven
v. State Ethics Commission, 390 Mass.191 (1983). You
should keep these principles in mind in particular when
determining such personnel matters as promotions,
shift assignments, detail opportunities and assignments,
overtime opportunities and performance evaluations."/

DATE AUTHORIZED: June 16, 1986

'{The pub was purchased several years ago from another police officer.
Although it is unclear whether you also share the ownership of the pub. it is un-
necessary to resolve this point. The Commission's conclusions regarding the
application of §§17. 19 and 23 would be the same in either case.

"The advice provided in this opinion is intended to guide your prospec:
tive conduct and does not purport to review the propriety of your prior activi-
ties. The opinion is limited to the application of G.L. c. 268A. You should ascer-
1in from your City Solicitor the extent to which other statutes may regulate your
aciivities,

YG L. c. 268A. §1(j) defines “participate™ as participate in agency action or
in a particular matter personally and substantially as a state, county and
municipal employee, through approval, disapproval, decision, recommenda-
tion, the rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise.

4G.L ¢. 26BA. §1{k) defines “particular matter”, any judicial or other pro-
ceeding, application, submission, request for a ruling or other determination,
contrac, claim, conmoversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination,
finding, but excluding enactment of general legislation by the general court and
petitions of cities, towns, counties and districta for special laws related to their
governmental organizations, powers, duties, finances and property.
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*The starute requires 2 written determination that the financialinterest
i3 not 30 substantial as 1o be deemed likelv to affect the inegrity of vour services
as pahce chief.

%/As a municipal emploves, you are also subject to the restricuons of G L.
¢ 268A, §17(a) and (<). Although not directly raised by your opinion request,
these sections come into play whenever ABC has a matter pending before any
agencv of the city, including the police department. Under §17, vou may not
receive compensation from ABC or actas the agent of ABC with respect 1o any
of its dealings with city agencies or employees.

Members of the police depariment whe are assigned to investigaie com
plaints or to prepare reports involving ABC ar any other license halders must
comply with certain standards of conduct to assure that their actions will not be
influenced by the fact that your wife is a 50% owner of ABC. Under G.L. ¢. 268A,
§29, they may not use their official pasition 1o secure unwarrantcd privileges or
exemptions of substantial value to ABC, or act in 2 manner which would cause
a reasonable person, having knowledge of the relevant circumstances. to con-
clude that they are likely to act or fail 10 act with respect to ABC because of their
subordinate relationship to vou. [ssues under this section inevitably arse
whenever police officers are assigned 1o investigate alleged violations by ABC.
If an officer were to overlook an obvious violation at ABC because your wile has
an ownership interest in the pub, the officer would violate §23. See In the
Marter of John Ssccone. 1982 Ethics Commission 87, reversed on other grounds
sub nom. Saccone v. State Ethics Commission, 395 Mass, 326 (1985). Your
subordinae officers should be made aware of these principles; any officer who
has a specific question about the application of §23 may seck further guidanze
from the Commission.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OFINION
NO. EC-COI-86-14

FACTS:

Car dealership ABC was awarded a contract for
police cars in 1986 under the Greater Boston Police
Council (GBPC) Collective Purchasing Program con-
ducted pursuant to G.L. ¢. 7, §22B. The police car bid is
a “collective bid” as defined in the law which allows any
department or agency to use the bid even though they
are not members of the GBPC. One such non-member,
municipal agency XYZ, recently purchased 9 police cars
from dealership ABC under this collective purchasing
program. Individual XYZ police officers have no in-
volvement in the collective purchasing program bidding
or contract award process, nor do they have involve-
ment in XYZ decisions to utilize the program rather
than to bid its purchases independently. In addition,
individual officers have no discretion regarding the
choice of car dealers to be used for repairs or other ser-
vice on XYZ vehicles.

In the police car purchase program, the GBPC
drafted specifications, invited bids and awarded the con-
tract. The contract was awarded to the lowest compliant
bidder. Dealership ABC was the lowest bidder of three
compliant bids for the police car purchase program.
(Twenty-cight invitations to bid were sent out with three
responses). The purchase decision was made by the
executive committee of GBPC. The executive committee
is elected by the membership. The membership consists
of the police chiefs or heads of the participating police
departments or offices. The executive committee is com-
prised of police chiefs. Currently, there is a chairman
and three members.



The XYZ Assistant Administrator for Fiscal Affairs,
the Director of Public Safety, and the Contract Attorney

were jointly responsible for the decision to participate

in the program, as opposed to bidding individually.
These same people will make future decisions whether
to participate in the program. The decision to partici-
pate in the program includes a number of subsidiary
decisions, such as choice of options, choice of accessor-
ies, whether to purchase or lease, the length of lease or
financing, whether to purchase options at dealership
ABC or another car dealer, and other procurement
specifications.

Contact with dealership ABC for warranty service
or problems is handled by the XYZ garage Fleet Man-
ager. If he is unable to handle or resolve a problem, he
will refer the matter to the legal department, which isa
separate office from the Contract Attorney. The Fleet
" Manager has the discretion to have warranty service
provided at dealership ABC, or any other authorized
dealer of that type of car. The Fleet Manager or legal
division would communicate any contract difficulties to
the Director of Public Safety or Contract Attorney.

Dealership ABC has advertised that it will sell new
cars at $100 over dealer invoice cost to any law enforce-
ment officer “to show appreciation for being awarded
the Greater Boston Police Council bid.” XYZ police
officers would like to take advantage of this offer.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. C 268A permit XYZ officials!/ to accept
the discount from car dealership ABC?

ANSWER:

No. Those XYZ employees who decide whether
XYZ will participate in the program, or who monitor
warranty compliance or service, may not accept the dis-
count because they would be in receipt of an item of
substantial value for or because of their official actions.
Other XYZ officials or officers who are not involved in
the purchase, warranty compliance, or service of the
vehicles may not accept the discount because they would
be in receipt of an unwarranted privilege of substantial
value not properly available to similarly situated indi-
viduals.

DISCUSSION:

The sections of the conflict law which apply to the
facts of this opinion are §3 and §23.

Section 3(b) of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a public offi-
cial from accepting an item of substantial value for or
because of any official act performed or to be per-
formed by such employee.* The intent of this provision
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of the conflict law has previously been articutated by the
Commission. As the Commission stated In the Matter o
George Michael, 1981 EC 59, 68:

A public employee may not be impelled

to wrongdoing asa result of receiving a

gift or a gratuity of substantial value in

order for a violation of section 3 to oc-

cur. Rather, the gift may simply be a

token of gratitude for a well-done job

or an attempt to foster goodwill. All

that is required to bring section 3 into

play is a nexus between the motivation

for the gift and the employee's public

duties. I this connection exists, the gift

is prohibited. To allow otherwise

would subject public employees to a

host of temptations which would un.

dermine the impartial performance of

their duties, and permit multiple

remuneration for doing what employ-

ees are already obliged to do — a goad

job.
Thus, there need be no showing of an explicit under-
standing that the gratuity is being given in exchange for
any specific act performed or to be performed. Michael,
supra at 68. Indeed, any such quid pro quo understand-
ing would raise extremely serious concerns under §2 of
c. 268A (the “bribe” section). Thus “[a]ll that is required
to bring section 3 into play is a nexus between the
motivation for the gift and the employee’s public duties.
If this connection exists, the gift is prohibited.” Id.

The first issue is whether a discount in the purchase
price of an automobile advertised as * $100 over invoice”
is an “item of substantial value” within the meaning of
§3. G.L. c. 268A does not define what constitutes “sub-
stantial value” for the purposes of §3 but rather leaves
that determination for case-by-case consideration.’/

In absence of evidence to the contrary, the Commis-
sion concludes that a “$100 over invoice” sale is of
substantial value. The word “invoice” is specifically
defined in the regulations of the attorney general adopt-
ed pursuant to the consumer protection statute, G.L.C.
934, 940 CMR 5.02(5). Invoice means the total consid-
eration paid by the dealer to the manufacturer, and
where no holdback, rebate, promotional fee or any
other consideration has been or will be paid by the
manufacturer. The Commission will view the advertise-
ment at face value and, therefore, will not assume that
“$100 over invoice” has variable meaning or is subject to
manipulation.Y

A second factor in determining whether §3 has been
violated is whether the item of value has been given for
any “official act performed or to be performed.” Clear-
ly, this element is met where a vehicle is sold at 2 dis-
count to a member of the executive commitiee, oroa
member of the GBPC where the body approves the con-



tracting decision of the executive committee. In this case
the employees are in a position to use their authority in
a manner which could affect the giver of the discount. A
more specific question is whether the XYZ Assistant
Administrator, the Director of Public Safety, the Con.
tract Attorney, or the Fleet Manager may participate in
the discount. Although the decision of XYZ teo partici-
pate in the program had been made prior to the time of
the discount, future official decisions of these named
officials in their dealings with dealership ABC is reason-
ably foreseeable. Communication of contract experi-
ence to GBPC, whether favorable or unfavorable, is a
foreseeable future act of the named employees. "t a
minimum, complete objectivity is required in order ‘or
these officials to exercise properly their official respons-
ibilities, which may include whether to renew participa-
tion in the program, where to service purchased vehi-
cles, whether to purchase certain options or accessories,
where to purchase those options, when to dispute war-
ranty compliance, when to add options after purchase,
and determining the terms and conditions of service
and normal maintenance. Complete loyalty is owed the
public when these decisions are made, no matter how in-
consequential those decisions may appear. This princi-
pleisreflected in the language of the law. In referring to
an “official act performed or to be performed,” §3(b)
also includes prior and future acts by the official, See In
the Matter of George A. Michael, 1981 EC 59, 68.

It might be argued that the discount was given solely
to show appreciation for obtaining the GBPC contract,
and that the award of the contract is distinct from the
subsequent participation of XYZ in the program. The
necessary and logical consequence of a bid award, how-
ever, is a continuing service relationship with partici-
pants in the program. At a minimum, service contacts
are likely, if for no other reason than to maintain the
effectiveness of the warranty. The Commission is not
bound by dealership ABC's characterization of its rea-
son for giving the discount. Dealership ABC obviously
hopes to obtain future contracts, to expand the agencies
who participate in the program, and to increase its
service revenue incident to sales. In this context future
dealings with public officials will inevitably result from
the bid award.*/

The Commission concludes that acceptance of a
discount offered to certain public officials also violates
§23% of the conflict law where the discount is not
available to a broad base of public and private groups
and the discount is of substantial value. The concerns
which the conflict law addresses in §3 do not generallv
arise where the discount does not potentially affect th=
performance of duties of public employees. See EC-COI-
84-80. Section 23, however, raises different concerns.
Whereas §3 is concerned with the potential effecta gift
or salary supplementation may have on the perfor-
mance of public duties, §23 is concerned with courses of
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conduct raising conilict questions in the mind of the
public or the appearances of conflict. A discount which
is available to a discrete public group, such as law en-
forcement officers, raises a conflict under §23 because
the discount is given precisely because the recipients are
public officials and for no other reason. See EC-COI-

83-4. There is no statutory authorization or other
justification for providing to law enforcement officers
a privilege which is not available to private citizens or
other public officials.”l The discount is unwarranted
because it is a privilege “not properly available o
similarly situated individuals, “such as members of
private groups and other public employees. See G.L. c.
268A, §23(b)(2). Thus the discount in this case is
distinguishable from a discount which is available to a
broad base of public and private groups which are the
natural constituency of the vendor. ECCOI-83-4,

In the case of a selective discount to a public em.
ployee, the employee is able to realize a benefit from
which the public is excluded. Receipt of such a benefit
negates the trust that the public is entitled to place in
public employees: that public, not private, interests are
furthered when the employee performs his duties. In
such a case the private citizen may reasonably ask why a
public official is entitled to compensation or benefits
over and above what the taxpayer has authorized and
from which he has been excluded. As the Commission
stated in EC-COI-834, §23 prohibits as an unwarranted
privilege a favoritism policy under which “those who
serve the people are treated better than the people
themselves.™*/

DATE AUTHORIZED: June 18, 1986

'/Although the advertising appears limited to law enforcement officers,
this opinion will address the broader class of officials at XYZ who may be eligi-
ble to participate in the discount although technically not law enforcement
officers.

*Section 3(b) provides in pertinent part:

Whoever, being 2 present or former state, county or
municipal employee. . . otherwise than as provided by
faw for the proper discharge of official dury, direcily or
indirectly, asks, demands, exacu, solicits, seeks, accepts,
feceives or agrees to receive anything of subswantial
value for himself for or because of any official act or act
within his official responsibility performed or 10 be per-
formed by him. . . shall be punished by a fine of not
more than three thousand dollars or by imprisonment
for not more than two years, or both,

'See, Final Report of the Special Commission on Code of Ethics, 1952
House Doc. No. 3650 at 11 upon which the provisions of §3 were based. (“Signifi-
cantin these subscctions is the provision that the thing given must be of ‘substan.
tial value’ The Commission concluded that this was a standard 1o be dealt with
by judicial interpretation in relation 10 the facw of the particular.case, and tha
it was more desirable than the imposition of a fixed valuation formula.”)
‘fThe Commission is aware that * $100 over invoice™ is not unusual advertising
i@ the general public. In facL one recent advertisement in a local newspaper
stated “ §1 over invoice” including advenising, prep charges, and transperta:
tion. Telephone contact with the sales depaniment of dealership ABC confirmed
that the advertisement was still in effect, and applied to law enforcement offi
cials anywhere in the State. The department stated that the discount had
substanuial value. As an example, it was saated that a minivan from that car com-
pany usually sold between $1,200 and $1,400 over invoice.



ySecuon Ha) is the “flip side” ol §3(b) and would prohibit dealership ABC
from giving anything of substantial value, such as the discount in question. toan
emplovee for or because of any official act performed ot o be performed by
such employee. It is the responsibility of the car deatership to assure that it does
not pravide any such discount 1o alaw enforcement official who is on a purchay
ing or service commitiee, or otherwise has any input into decisions as to where
10 purchase or service public vehicles. Sales to any officials who have contracting
or servicing authority will be examined closely by the Commission to assure the
spirit of the law is met. Dealership ABC will receive notification of this opinion
as per vour permission and wifl be advised of its right 10 seck an opinion on it
owa behalf,

“Section 23 provides in relevant part:

{a) Inaddition 1o other provisions of this chapter, and in supplement
thereto. siandards of conduct. as hercinafier set forth, are hereby established for
all state, county and municipal employces.

(b} No current officer or emplayee of a stte, coutity or municipal
agency shall knowingly. or with reason to know:

{2) use or attempt to use his official position to secure for himselfor
others unwarranted privileges or exemptions which are of substantial value and
which are not properly available to similarly situated individuals.

The Commission has confirmed that the discount is available only 10 law
enforcement afficers, thatother groups would not qualify for the discount, and
a private citizen would receive no corresponding benefit. Dealership ABC stated
“you have 1o show the badge". Dealership DEF on the other hand, was willing to
work outa “similar deal” with non law enforcement officers. For the purposes
of this opinion, the Commission will uke the advertisement and representations
at face value and will not assume a viclation of the consumer protection siatute.

'fln view of the Commission’s conclusion under §23(bX2), itis un-
fecessary to detetmine whether other paragraphs of §23 may also apply. The
Commission notes. however, that additional concerns may also arise under
§23(bXY) in the case of asclecuve discount because receipt of the discount places
an urirealistic burden on pubkic employces to separate their public and private
lives. Few employees are totally isolated from the decision making process in
some capacity. In the case of B.HA. officials, for example, some may be called
upon ta drive official vehicles purchased under the program. Normally it would
be expected that a problem with the car would be communicated to someone in
authority to address the problem. If the same official purchased a private vehi:
clc an Favorable terms from the 1ame car dealer, the employee may be reluctant
10 communicate defective performance out of need to exiend a courtesy 1o the
very dealer which gave him a deal. Thesc concerns would be addressed
customasily on a case-by-case basis to determine whether the overlap of public
and private dealings creates an impression of undue favoritism. Additionatly,
recent amendments to §25(b{3) provide an opportunity for an cmployee to
dispel any such impression by public disclosure to the employee’s appointing
official. See St. 1986. c.12.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-15

FACTS:

You are a member of the General Courtand are also
a registered stockbroker. Your compensation is based
primarily on commissions which you receive from
business transactions. You also can receive fees and
commissions for providing investment advice.

You are interested in soliciting business with
municipal and county pension funds and anticipate
either selling investments or providing investment
advice.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to solicit andior do
business with municipal and county pension funds? _
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ANSWER:

Yes. Should you do business with a county pension
fund, however, certain limitations may apply to you in
your official capacity as a legislator.

DISCUSSION:

As a member of the General Court, you are a “state
employee” for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A. EC.COI
§3.43. Section 4 of G.L. c. 268A governs the outside
activities of state employees and imposes substantial
limitations on the receipt of compensation and on the
representational activities on behalf of non-state parties
in relation to matters which the commonwealth
regulates. As applied to members of the General Court,
however, §4 restricts only paid appearances before
state agencies in connection with certain types of pro-
ceedings. See G.L. c. 268A, §4(15). Paid appearances
before municipal or county agencies do not fall within
the prohibitions of §4. Accordingly, while §4 would
restrict your soliciting or doing business with the state
employee retirement board, the pension reserve invest-
ment management board, the teachers retirement
board, and other state agencies, you will not be pro-
hibited form soliciting or doing business with municipal
and county retirement boards.

Aside from §4, issues under §6 may come into play
if you are selected as an advisor for or do business with
a county retirement board. Section & requires your
abstention as a legislator whenever you are called upon
to participate in a particular matter in which youora
business organization which employs youhasa financial
interest. Because members of the General Court may
review the budget of each county, you might be called
upon to revicw the line item retirement fund account of
a county with which your are doing business. The line
itern retirement fund account of a county is a “particular
matter” within the meaning of G.L. c. 268A, §1(k). See
EC-.COI-82.9. In view of the financial interest which both
you and your company would have in the account, §6
requires your abstention in any legislative review of that
matter.!/ Should such a situation arise, you would be
required also to file a disclosure of your financial in-
terest in the matter with the Commission pursuant to
G.L. c. 268A, §6 and §6A.

DATE AUTHORIZED: July 3, 1986

*fIn view of the passage of St 1981 ¢.251, §§140-149. the General Court's
review role no longer includes formal approval of each county budget.



CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-16

FACTS:

In 1981, representatives of five Indian tribes filed
separate land claim suits in Federal District Court.Y/
Each complaint sought declaratory and injunctive relief
relating to the ownership and use of five land areas and
named as defendants federal, state, county and munici-
pal officials and private landowners. You represent the
Town of Edgartown in Chappaquiddick Tribe; the
Town of West Tisbury in Christiantown Tribe; and
Hope Ingersoll in Herring Pond Tribe.

On May 26, 1986 the Federal District Court (Skin-
ner, ].) issued decisions dismissing each of the five cases.
The Mashpee dismissal was based on a res judicata
determination from a previous lawsuit in which the
standing of individual plaintiffs had been successfully
challenged. In each of the four other cases, the court
determined that the plaintiffs had not established the
continuation of tribal existence.

The plaintffs filed five separate notices of appeal
with the United States Court of Appeals for the First
Circuit, which has established a briefing schedule for the
appeals. As an alternative to assigning the cases five
separate docket numbers, the court clerk assigned the
cases a common docket number and has indicated that
the attorneys file 2 single brief, rather than five briefs.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to file a brief on behalf
of the Town of Edgartown in Chappaquiddick, the
Town of West Tisbury in Christiantown Tribe, and
Hope Ingersoll in Herring Pond Tribe?

ANSWER:

Yes.
DISCUSSION:

In 1984, the Supreme Judicial Court confirmed the
Commission's conclusion that G.L. c. 268A, §17% pro-
hibits a municipal attorney from representing non-
municipal parties in the same lawsuit. Town of Edgar-
town v. State Ethics Commission, 391 Mass. 83 (1984).
The decision was based on the plain language of §17 and
on the priority of a policy which avoids potential ques-
tions over the municipal attorney's loyalty to the in-
terests of the municipality.

As attorney for the Town of Edgartown in Chappa-
quiddick Tribe you are a municipal employee and a
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special municipal employee for the purposes of G.L. c.
268A. 1d. While §17 prohibits your representation in
Chappaquiddick Tribe of parties other than the Town
of Edgartown, §17 does not restrict your representation
of parties in other lawsuits provided that the lawsuits are
different particular matters from Chappaquiddick
Tribe. Compare, EC-COI-84-31; 81-28; 80108.

The Christiantown Tribe case was initiated by
representative of the Christiantown Tribe with respect
to the ownership of a land area in West Tisbury. The
Herring Pond Tribe case was initiated by representa-
tives of the Herring Pond Tribe with respect to a third
land area. Both the Christiantown Tribe and Herring
Pond Tribe cases involve parties, land areas, facts and
standing issues which are different from Chappaquid-
dick Tribe and are separate particular matters for the
purposes of §17. Your representation of parties in these
three cases is therefore consistent with the conditions of
§17.

The Commission concludes that your representa-
tion of parties in these three cases may continue during
the appeal process. The fact that the clerk for the Court
of Appeals has assigned the cases a common docket
number and has required the filing of a single brief ap-
pears to be intended to further the goal of administra-
tive economy. These administrative actions, however, do
not remove the fundamentai differences among the
three cases. Because the three cases retain their separate
parties, land areas, facts and standing issues, they will
continue to be treated as separate particular matters for
the purposes of §17.

DATE AUTHORIZED: September 15, 1986

‘Mashpee, etal v. Donald Hodel, et al. Docket No. 81-3205-5
Christiantown Tribe, et al. v. Donald Hodel, et al. Docket No. 81.3206:5
Cha, Tribe, et al. v, Donald Hodel, et al. Docket No. 81-32075
Herring Pond Tribe, et al. v. Donald Hodel, et al. Docket No. 81 32085
Troy Tribe, etal v, Donald Hodel, etal Docket No. 8132095

%G.L. c. 268, §17 prohibits 2 municipal employee from receiving compen
sation from or acting as anorney for a parvy other than the municipality in rela-
tion to any particular matter in which the munici pality is a party or has a direct
and substantial interest. A special mumcipal employee is subject 1o §17 with
respect 1o those matiers in which he participates or has official responsibility

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-17

FACTS:

You are an employee of government transportation
agency ABC. You are seeking an advisory opinion under
G.L. c. 268A relating to the propriety of the ABC's free
pass policy. Under the current policy, ABC provides
free, unlimited passes to the ABC members and their
spouses, and the three surviving spouses of former



agency heads and county finance advisory board mem:
bers. Additionally, free. uniimited annual passes are
provided toall current permanent ABC employees and
their spouses, to all retired ABC employees and their
spouses, and to two employees of the General Court.
Approximately thirteen lifetime passenger passes are
also in circulation, although you are uncertain who
possesses them or whether they are currently in use.

The passes are valid for both job-related and per-
sonal use and contain no limit on the frequency of
usage.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit the continuation of the
ABC's current free pass distribution policy?

ANSWER:

The distribution of annual passes to ABC members,
their spouses, the surviving spouses of former ABC and
county finance advisory board members, and retired
ABC cmployees is not permissible. Granting annual
passenger passes 10 current ABC employees or their
spouses is permissible if part of a negotiated or author-
ized compensation package.

DISCUSSION:

1. ABC'Members

ABC members are subject to G.L. c. 2684, §23(bX2),
which prohibits the knowing use or attempted use of
their official positions to secure for themselves or others
unwarranted privileges or exemptions of substantial
value and which are not properly available to similarly
situated individuals. The Commission concludes that
ABC members would violate §23(b)(2) by continuing to
authorize the distribution to themselves of free annual
passes unless the passes are restricted to use for job-
related purposes.

By authorizing the free passes on an annual basis,
ABC members are using their official positions to secure
a privilege for themselves. The privilege is of “substan-
tial value” because the passes can be used on an un-
limited basis and would potentially exceed $50 in any
calendar year. See, Commission Advisory No. 8 (1985).
Commonwealth v. Famigletti, 4 Mass. App. 584 (1976).
The distribution of a free annual pass which is usable for
personal, non-job-refated purposes grants an unwarrant.
ed privilege because the free passage is not properly
available to other members of the public. Moreover, the
pass cannot be characterized as part of the members’
compensation package because the ABC's enabling
statute expressly prohibits members from receiving
compensation and fimits their reimbursement to those
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expenses necessarily incurred in the performance of
official duties. Therefore, ABC members mav not au-
thorize for themselves or their spouses a free pass

distribution which permits personal, non;job-related
travel.Y

2. ABC Employees

The Commission concludes that the continuation of
the free pass policy for ABC employees would not
violate §23(b)(2).

While ABC members may not grant unauthorized
privileges of substantial value to themselves or others,
the free pass would not constitute an unwarranted
privilege for ABC employees. The pass may be charac-
terized reasonably as part of an employee's compensa-
tion package and a term of employment. Under its
enabiing statute, the ABC is empowered to establish the
compensation and benefit levels for its emplovees. The
granting of a free pass to its employees as partof a
negotiated process is a permissible exercise of this
agency. This conclusion also recognizes that public
officials possess substantial flexibility in making person-
nel and benefit package decisions, and that those deci-
sions will not customarily be “second guessed”. See,
EC-COL-85-71. Therefore, as long as the ABC retains the
discretion to determine the compensation package for
its employees the distribution of a free pass would not
constitute the granting of an unwarranted privilege to
its employees,

In order for the distribution of free passes to be rea-
sonably deemed part of a compensation package, cer
tain steps are necessary. In the case of ABC emplovees
who are represented by an employee organization, the
ABC must incorporate the availability of a free pass
into collective bargaining negotiations and agreements.
With respect to ABC employees who are not represent-
ed by an employee organization, the ABC must author-
ize the availability of a free pass as part of the employee's
compensation package. Such agreements or authoriza-
tion could also reasonably extend to the spouses of ABC
employees.

3. Retirees

The distribution of free passes to certain retired
ABC employees and members violates §23(b)(2) because
the free pass is an unwarranted privilege not properly
available to other members of the public. Unlike bene-
fits to current employees, the benefit package for retired
ABC employees is not negotiated by the ABC; the ABC's
role is limited to determining the size of its contribution
to an employee organization’s health and welfare plan.
The inclusion of a free pass cannot therefore be regard-
ed as a reasonable extension of a former em plovee’s
negotiated compensation package.



4. Legislative Liaisons

The continuation of a free passenger policy to the
two legislative employees would not violate §23(b)(2)
because the free passage would not constitute an un-
warranted privilege. The legislative liaisons are entitled
to reimbursement from the commonwealth for any
travel expenses incurred in the performance of their
official duties. Inasmuch as they would be entitled 1o
free passage from the commonwealth in any event, the
fact that the ABC, rather than the General Court, bears
the burden of the expense does not grant an unwarrant.
ed privilege to them, within the meaning of §23(b)(2).%/

5. Lifetime Passes

The continued recognition of free lifetime passes
grants to the user an unwarranted privilege of substan.
tial value. To comply with §23(b)(2), the ABC must re-
scind the lifetime passes and instruct its employees that
such passes are invalid. In lieu of such passes, the ABC
may provide free passage to guests provided that the ag-
gregate value of such passage does not exceed $50 in any
calendar year.?/

DATE AUTHORIZED:Y July 29, 1986

ITo the extent that ABC members are conducting ABC business or travet:
ing in connection with such activiry, use of free passes is, of course, permissible.

v is not clear whether the legistative liaisons also use the pass for per-
sanal, non:job-refated purposes. To the extent that passage is sought for personal
purposes, the aggregate value of any individual tickets disributed 1o each of the
ltatsons may not exceed $50 in any calendar year.

¥The purposc of this opinion is to provide guidance 10 ABC members
over the standard to be applied in adopting a future pass distribution policy.
This opinian does not constitute a ruling concerning the past activitics of ABC
members or employees under this or other sections of G.L. c. 268A.

*To avoid confusion in the implementation of this opinion, the Commis:
sion will defer enforcement of the conditions concerning current employees
unul the completion of the 1986 season. This will allow time o modify existing
collective bargaining or emplovment agreements. The other terms of dus
opinion must, however, be observed immediately

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-18

FACTS:

You are an employee in the ABC County Sheriif's
Office. During off-duty hours, you also serve civil pro-
cess as a deputy sheriff in ABC County. An attorney
requesting your services is billed the appropriate fee as
listed in G.L. c. 262, §8 by the Deputy SherifT's Office,
which office then compensates you for serving the pro-
cess. A deputy sheriff's authority to serve civil process is
also established by statute, G.L. ¢. 37, §11; c. 220, §7.Y

QUESTION:

Does the state's conflict of interest law, G.L. c. 268A,
permit you to serve in both positions?

112

ANSWER:
No.

DISCUSSION:

As an Assistant Deputy Superintendentin the ABC
County Sheriff's Office, you are considered a county
employee for purposes of the conflict of interest law,
and are consequently subject to the provisions of that
law. GL. c. 268A, §1 et seq. Section 14 prohibits a count
employee from having a financial interest, directly or
indirectly, in a contract made by the same county. You
clearly have a financial interest in your deputy sheriff
appointment since you receive fees for performing
deputy sheriff duties. The issue remaining is whether
serving as a deputy sheriff results in a contract between
the appointee and the county within the meaning of
G.L.c. 268A, §14.

The Commission recently decided a similar issue at
the state level. See, In the Matter of Robert J. Quinn,
1986 Ethics Comrmission . The issue in Quinn
was whether serving as a bail commissioner resulted in
a contract between the appointee and the Superior
Court [the appointing authority] within the meaning of
G.L.c. 268A, §7 [the state equivalent to §14.] In Quinn,
the Commission concluded, inter alia, that serving asa
bail commissioner results in a contract between the state
and the bail commissioner as the word *contract”
{which is undefined in G.L. c. 268A) is used in tradi-
tional contract law of offer, acceptance, andconsidera.
tion.” “The state offers the opportunity to be appointed
and to serve as bail commissioner subject to regulation
and supervision by the Superior Court. Acceptance oc-
curs on each occasion a bail commissioner agrees to
perform those services subject to applicable
regulation.”¥/

In analyzing the *contract” in Quinn, the Commis-
sion considered six standards, including whether

(1) the appointment confers upon the ap-

pointee the powers normally associated with

public office;

(2) the duties are similar or identical to the

duties performed by public empiloyees;

{3) thereisalack of choice in who will receive

his services;

(4) the place for provision of the services is on

public property;

(5) the procedures and work product of the ap-

pointee are substantially regulated by a public

agency or by law;

(6) compensation for providing the services is

specifically and substantially regulated by a

public agency or by law.



On the basis of the above standards (1), (2), (5) and (6),
the Commission concludes that vour service as an ap-
pointed deputy sheriff in exchange for fees results in a
contract within the meaning of G.L. c. 268A, §14 be-
tween vou and the County.¥/

The office of deputy sheriff was created by statute,
G.L. c. 37, §3. Deputy sheriffs are appointed by the
sheriff and must “be sworn before performing any offi-
cial act.” Id. Deputies are charged by statute with assist-
ing the sheriff. a county officer, in the discharge of his
official governmental duties. See, inter alia, G.L. c. 37,
§11 and ¢. 220, §7 (service of process); c. 37, §13 (requisi-
tion of aid in apprehending an individual); c. 37, §16
(awtendance at sessions of courts); c. 37, §24 (transporta-
tion of prisoners or persons in custody); c. 41, §37 and
¢. 60, §34 (execution of warrants to detain property or
arrest individuals delinquent in the payment of taxes);
c. 120, §13 (warrantless arrest of a DYS ward who has
breached parole); c. 138, §42 (execution of search war-
rants to search and seize unlawful use or possession of
alcoholic beverages); c. 185, §13 and 25A (attend sittings
ofland court and serve process from that court); c. 213,
§11 (authority to adjourn a court session in the absence
of the Justice).

The deputy sheriff's authority to serve civil process,
his conduct while serving, and the fees he may charge
individuals for his services are also comprehensively
regulated by statute. G.L. ¢. 37, §§11 and 14; c. 147, §8A:
<. 220, §7; c. 262, §§8 and 8A; MRCP 4c. The variety of
duties and the specific fees a deputy sheriff may charge
for such service is enumerated at length in G.L. c. 262,
§8. Deputies are also required to make an annual ac-
counting of the fees they collect. G.L. c. 262, §8A.

In summary, deputy sheriffs are appointed by a
county officer, carry the statutory autherity to perform
governmental functions, and have a fee schedule which
is regulated by statute. The Commission concludes that
a contract results on each occasion a deputy sheriff ac-
cepts the opporiunity of his appointment and serve
process pursuant to statutory requirements. See, In the
Matter of Robert J. Quinn, supra. Your financial interest
in such a contract, i.e. your receipt of fees for serving
process as a deputy sheriff, therefore violates §14.5/

DATE AUTHORIZED: September 16, 1986

"The ABC County Deputy Sherifl's Office is organized 23 a de facto unin.
carporated partnership. It is not a legal or taxpaying or 1ax reporting entity. Out
of cach fee collected. fifty percent is allocated to administrative costs and fifty
percent to the deputy who serves process. This opinion is limited to the structure
as described to us.

*The fact that the bail commissioner reccives fees from someone other
than the state was held 1o be irrelevant. “Section 7 prohibits a financial interest
in a contract made by a state agency. not in one funded by the state. It is the
existence of compensation, not the identity of its source, that is the issue.”
Quinm, supra. The opportunity to earn compensation from third perons is
sufficient 10 support a contrace. Id. (cites omitted).

*See, footnote 5 in Quinn, supra.
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*The Commission recognizes that the inapplicability of standards (3} and
(4] 1o your duties as a deputy sheriff distinguishes vour simsation from that of a
bail commissioner in Quing, Because deputy sheriffs’ powers. duties, proce-
dures and fee schedules are extensively reguiated by satute, the Commission
finds such disunguishing faciors nondispositive of the contract issue,

You are ineligible for any exemption under §14, because vou are
employed by the office of the county officer who also appotnts you as 1 deputy
sheriff.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-19

FACTS:

You are a member of a City Council, and your
brother is a police officer in the police department of
the City. Pending before the City Council is an order
authorizing the Mayor to file with the General Court a
home rule petition. The petition, if enacted, would
authorize the City to require mandatory drug testing
of public safety officers and employees, including your
brother,

QUESTION:!/

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to discuss and vote on
the pending petition?

ANSWER:

Yes, provided that, prior to your participation, you
publicly disclose that approval of the petition might
have a potential impact on your brother.

DISCUSSION:

As a City Council member, you are a municipal
employee for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A. Two sections
of G.L. c. 268A potentially limit your official activities as
a City Councillor with respect to the home rule petition.

The first, §19, prohibits your participation in any
particular matter? which affects the financial interest of
your brother or other immediate family members.
Because the petition authorizes discipline or court pro-
ceedings and potential suspensions, fines or loss of
salary in the event of a positive test result, your brother
could have a financial interest in the enactment of the
petition which is pending before the City Council. In
order to fall within the §19 abstention requirements,
however, the petition must be a particular matter.
Because the matter before you is a petition of a city for
a special law related to its governmental powers and
duties, it is excluded from the definition of particular
matter.’/ Consequently, the petition, as currently
drafted, would not be a matter requiring your absien-
tion under §19.



The second, §23(b)(3), prohibits you from acting in
a manner which would cause a reasonable person,
having knowledge of the relevant circumstances, to
conclude that your action on the petition is the result of
your kinship with your brother. Even assuming that
your kinship with your brother could lead to this con-
clusion, however, §23(b)(3) further provides thatsucha
conclusion would not be reasonable if you disclose the
relevant facts in a manner which is public in nature.
Therefore, prior to your discussing or voting on the
petition, you can comply with §23(b)(3) by disclosing at
2 public meeting of the City Council the fact that your
brother is a public safety employee who would be sub-
jectto potential impact should the petition be enacted.

DATE AUTHORIZED: September 15, 1986

'You also ask whether G.L. ¢. 268A, as applied, would violate your con-
stitutional right of free petition. Such a determination is beyond the Commis.
sion’s authority and, based on the application of G.L. c. 268A to your situation,
may be unnecessary

’r'Particular maiter,” any judicial or other procecding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract. claim. contro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
cnactment of general lewislation by the general court and petitions of cities,
towns, counties and di.iricts for special laws reiated to their governmenul
organizations, powers, duties, finances and property.

*fThis was not always the case. Prior to 1983, the definition did not exclude
home rule petitions of cities related to their powers and duties. The broad
coverage of the term “particular matter” resulted in absiention requirements
which placed burdens on legislators seeking to sponsor home rule legistation.
See, EC-CO1-81-81. In response 10 suggestions by the Legislative Research Coun-
cil in 1975, see, 1975 House Doc. No. 6475, Report Relating to Conflict of Interest
Law and Separation of Powers, pp, 56-58 and the Commission, 1982 House Doc.
No. 1235 §1, the General Court inserted the current definition in 1982, Se
St 1982 ¢. 612, :

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-20

FACTS:

You are an employee of the Executive Office of
Elder Affairs (EOEA), a state agency responsible for
planning, developing and implementing elderly hous-
ing programs. The EOEA budget for the current fiscal
year includes an appropriation authorizing EOEA to
contract with a non-profit organization (NPO) to con-
duct public education, advocacy, research and evalua-
tion of elder equity conversion activities. St. 1986 c. 206,
§2Item 9110-1665. Among the budgetary conditions for
the authorization is that the board of directors of the
NPO consist of representatives from the Executive
Offices of Consumer Affairs, Community Development
and EOEA.Y

QUESTION:Y

Assuming that an EOEA employee is designated to
the board of directors of the NPO, what restrictions does
G.L. c. 268A place on the employee?
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ANSWER:

The employee may serve on the NPO board of
directors, subject to ceriain limitations.

DISCUSSION:

1. Section 4(c)

Under this section, a state employee may naot act as
the agent of the NPQO in relation to any contract, applica-
tion or other particular matter’ in which the common-
wealth or a state agency is a party or has a direct and
substantial interest. For example, the designated em-
ployee could not appear on behalf of the NPO in sup-
port of the NPO's funding application to EOEA. On the
other hand, the employee could participate as a board
member in general policy discussions concerning the
implementation of the promotion, counselling and
educational functions of the NPO. Compare, EC-CO!-
83-145; In the Matter of James Collins, 1985 Ethics
Commission 228.

2. Section 6

This section places limitations on the official EOEA
activities of the employee designated to serve on the
NPO board. Under §6, an EOEA employee may not par-
ticipate in any official capacity in any contract, determi-
nation or other particular matter in which the NPO has
a financial interest. While an exemption from §6 is
available from the employee's appointing official,
specific notifications and disclosures must be made asa
condition to granting any such exemption. See, G.L. c.
268A, §6 (12). Absent the granting of an exemption, the
employee must abstain from participating as an EOEA
employee from any matter in which the NPO has a
financial interest.

DATE AUTHORIZED: September 15, 1986

‘fltem 9] 10-1665 provides that the “non-profit shall conduet public educa-
tion. advocacy, rescarch and evaluation of older equity conversion activitics;
provided that a board of directors shall consist of at least four representatives
of banks actively financing older home equity conversion instruments, five
representatives of nonprofit agencies geographically distributed throughout the
commonwealth, representatives from the executive officer of elder affairs, con.
sumer affairs, and community development, and two representatives of the con-
sumer population: provided, further, that not less than ninety thousand dollars
shall be obligated for the payment of elderly home equity conversion
counsellors with nanprofic organizations which currently participate in home
equity conversion activities or will do so in the future.”

*Nothing in G.L. c. 268A wouid preclude the appointment of an EOEA
representative or employee to the board of directors of the NPO. Such an ap-
pointment would be consistent with the conditions of Item 9110-1665 and would
notamount to the granting of an unwarranied privilege or appear to otherwise
violate §29,

*"Particular matter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mjssion, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, contro-
versy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but excluding
enactment of general Jegislation by the general court and petitions of cities,
towns, counties and districts for special laws related to their governmental
organizations, powers, duties, finances and property.



CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-21

FACTS:

Several years ago, a state agency awarded a contract
to XYZ Engineering Co. to provide architectural and
engineering services. By mid-1984, the agency was dis-
satisfied with XYZ's performance on the interior design
and finish work and requested that XYZ subcontract its
work as to this aspect of the project. Following an inter-
view process, the agency selected as a substitute ABC
(ABC), an architectural firm, on the basis of ABC's ex.
perience in the interior design of large spaces. The
choice, which became effective in September, 1984, was
acceptable to XYZ.

ABC initially subcontracted with XYZ in the tradi-
tional way. That is, the scope of ABC's subcontract was
based upon XYZ's work and was limited to preliminary
design tasks for the improvement of design quality.
Based on the agency's acceptance of ABC's subsequent
recommendations, ABC's scope of work developed and
increased. In November 1985, ABC wrote directly to the
agency for an amendment to the scope and value of the
contract. The agency then consulted with XYZ before
approval. The amendment increased the scope of serv-
ices and requested additional compensation. Further,
ABC also requested compensation for the design of art-
work to be done by Mr. X. The cost of fabrication and
installation of the finished product would be separate-
ly bid. The amended agreement between the agency and
ABC specifically contemplated Mr. X's services. The
allocation for Mr. X's professional services has been
approved by the agency pending a resolution of the
potential conflict of interest issues.

Mr. X’s brother is an einployee, officer, director and
owner of more than 1% of the stock of ABC. He man-
ages the project for ABC, although his services have not
been specifically requested in the ABC/XYZ sub-can-
tract. Mr. X's brother's responsibilities have included
the preparation of the initial proposal to XYZ discus-
sing ABC’s scope of work and compensation directly
with the agency attending meetings with the agency and
submitting material for the agency's review. Mr. X also
owns mare than 1% of the stock of ABC.!/

In a technical sense, ABC is the subcontractor; XYZ,
the principal contractor; and the agency the contracting
agency. However, because of XYZ's previous perfor-
mance and other facts, the agency has interacted directly
with ABC regarding the amended items. The direct con-
tact has included negotiation and decision-making, as
well as the exchange of information and consultation.
The agency views XYZ's role in a real sense, if not a legal
one, as being limited to consuliting and deferral to the
relationship between ABC and the agency.
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ISSUES:

1. Will Mr. X be a special state emplovee for G.L. c.
268A purposes if he accepts compensation for artwork
design .

2, Ifso, does his ownership interest in ABC place
him in violation of G.L. c. 2684, §7.

3. Is Mr. X's brother a state employee for G.L. c.
268A purposes by virtue of his project manager status
for ABC.

ANSWERS:
1. Yes,

2. No.
3. No.

DISCUSSION:

A. Contractual Relationship between ABC and the
Agency

The first issue is whether ABC has a contractual
relationship with the agency. If ABC has no contractual
rights or responsibilities to the agency but owes its loyal-
ty to XYZ as a subcontractor, then it cannot fairly be con-
cluded that employees or officers of ABC are perform-
ing services for a state agency.

In the circumstances of this case, to characterize
ABC's relationship to the agency as a subcontracior
would be to elevate form over substance and we decline
to do so. ABC and the agency have a direct contractual
relationship. Although initially ABC had a subcontract
which was limited in scope by the confines of XYZ's con-
tract, this relationship was short- lived. Within a short
time, ABC was negotiating directly with the agency for
an amendment to the scope and value of a substantial
part of the contract. XYZ's role in this direct negotiation
was limited to consultation and had become secondary,
if not pro forma, given the agency’s previous dissatisfac-
tion with XYZ's performance on the interior design.
The direct contact between the agency and ABC result-
ed in important decisions as to costs and services. For
practical purposes, XYZ did not retain authority over
the interior design work or coordination. Although
ABC built upon earlier XYZ plans, ABC was substituted
for XYZ as to $159,000 of amended work, including
specialty items of an interior design nature.

B. Jurisdictional Status of Mr. X

We conclude that Mr. X performs the artwork
design for the agency and is a “'state employee” within
the meaning of G.L. c. 268A, §1(q).¥

Although the definition of state employee does not
customarily cover an employee of a corporation or ven-
dor which contracts with the state, such an employee is




covered by the definition if the terms of the contract
indicate that his specific services are being contracted
for. In Attorney General Conflict Opinion No. 852, a
50% stockholder in a corporation was specifically
named in a contract between that corporation and a
state agency. In that case, the state agency could cancel
the contract if the stockholder failed to perform the
duties designated. The Attorney General concluded that
under these circumstances the individual was a state
employee for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A. See also,
EC-COI-80-84, where the Commission concluded that
the partners in a law firm were “'state employees” be-
cause the contracting state agency specifically con-
templated that each of the firm’s partners would work
on the project for the state. By similar reasoning, Mr. X
is also a state employee. Mr. X's services were specifically
bargained for on November 25, 1985. Not only was he
specifically named, but also a cost for his specific art
work design services was agreed upon. The agency's in-
terest in the final art work design contemplates Mr. X's
specialized services.

C. Application of G.L. c. 268A, §7 to Mr. X

As a state employee, Mr. X will be subject to the
restrictions of G.L. c. 268A, §7. Section 7 generally pro-
hibits a state employee from having a direct or indirect
financial interest in any contract made by a state agency.
The agency is a state agency. The language of §7 literal-
ly applies to Mr. X who, as an owner of more than 1% of
the stock of ABC, has an indirect financial interest in
ABC’s contractual relationship with the agency.

It is necessary, however, to give §7 a workable and
common sense reading. It has long been recognized, for
example, that §7 cannot be reasonably interpreted to
prohibit a state employee from receipt of his own pay-
check. Buss, The Massachusetts Conflict of Interest
Statute: An Analysis 45 B.U. Law Review 299 (1965).
Similarly, there is no policy advanced by prohibiting an
owner of a company from performing services as a
specificallv named individual (and thus as a state em-
ployee) while at the same time receiving financial bene-
fit as an investor in the same company. In such a case,
the contract which creates state employee status is the
same contract which results in the financial interest.
Therefore, there is no opportunity to gain an inside
track on a second state contract. On the other hand, a
state employee may generally not own a company which
has a second independent contract with the state, See,
EC.CO!L.83-129.

In light of the above discussion, we must determine
whether the professional fee for Mr. X's services is rea-
sonably part and parcel of, an extension of, an amend-
ment to, or integrally related to ABC's original contract
with XYZ; or whether the fee is, in reality, a separate
contract for a distinct service. Normally, the Commis.
sion will defer to an agency’s own determination on this
issue. Thus, if the agency considers the matters suffi-
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ciently connected so that it determines that it mas
amend the original contract to include Mr. X's services
as an artisUgraphic designer, the Commission will defer
to this determination absent an obvious abuse or sham.
If, on the other hand, the agency is unwilling to consider
Mr. X's service as part of the original contract, §7
applies.

In this case, the agency has concluded that the con-
tract for Mr. X's art services was under the authorization
of the vote for the implementation of a program for the
purchase of various artwork as a component of the pro-
ject. The determination that the artwork was a compo-
nent of the project and that Mr. X's services were author-
ized, appears reasonable. We therefore conclude that
the specialized services of Mr, X may reasonably be
regarded as an extension of the original contract be-
tween the agency and XYZ, and as subsequently substi-
tuted, ABC.

D. Jurisdictional Status of Mr. X's Brother

We conclude that Mr. X's brother is not a state
employee for the purposes of G.L. c. 268A. In selecting
ABC, the agency did not seek Mr. X's brother's services,
nor has Mr. X's brother been expected to perform the
services called for in the contract. Rather, the agency
selected ABC based upon the company's ability to com-
bine architectural and design disciplines. Unlike the
contractual arrangement between the agency and Mr. X,
the agency has made no specific allocation of money for
Mr. X's brother's management services. Mr. X's brother’s
status as project manager, without more, does not make
him a state employee for G.L. c. 268A purposes. Com-
pare, EC.COI-83-129.

DATE AUTHORIZED: October 6, 1986

‘fin addition, he is the par - =r of a company called C and X, a separaie
legal entity from ABC. Ttis unclear whether paytment to Mr. X for his defined ser.
vices would be as an employee or owner of ABC or as an independent
contractor. In either event, the result under G.L. ¢, 268A will be the same.

*fThe conflict of interest law defines “state employee” in relevant part, as
“a person performing services for ar holding office, position, employment or
membership in asuate agency, whether by election, appointment. consent of hire
or engagement, whether serving with or without compensation, on a full,
regular, parttime, interminient or consultant basis.”

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-22

FACTS:

You are the spouse of a state employee and also
perform substantive policy-making and advocacy serv-
ices for the executive branch in certain areas. Your
services are uncompensated and consume more than
sixty days annually. Among your responsibilities is the
chairing of a working group comprised of representa-
tives of several state agencies.



In addition to your state activities. vou are the direc-
tor of a privately funded business which has official deal-
ings with some of the state agencies in your working
group. You work for the business on an uncompensated
basis, although you may receive a salary in the future,

QUESTION:

What limitations does G.L. c. 268A place on your
activities in connection with the Commonwealth and
the business?

ANSWER:

You may continue to participate in both activities
subject to the limitations set forth below.

DISCUSSION:

1. Jurisdiction

For the purposes of G.L. c. 268A, you are a “state em-
ployee™." While the spouse of a state employee does not
ordinarily attain or otherwise share the employee's
“state employee” status, the services which you provide
for the executive branch make you a state employee
within the meaning of G.L. c. 268A, §1(q). Your substan-
tive policy-making and advocacy services for the ex-
ecutive branch are services which would customarily be
performed by state employees, EC-COI-81-117, and for
which your loyalty would be to the executive depart-
ment, a state agency for G.L. c. 268A purposes. In view of
your uncompensated status, you are treated as a special
state employee pursuant to G.L. c. 2684, §1(0). As a
special state employee, you remain subject to several
prohibitions under G.L. ¢. 268A but also qualify for cer-
tain exemptions generally unavailable to full-time state
employees. In general, the relevant provisions of G.L. c.
268A seek to preclude the overlap of your state and
business activities.

2. Limitations on your state activities
(a) Section6

This section prohibits your official participation as
a state employee in any contract, decision or other
“particular matter”? which affects the financial interest
of a business organization for which you serve as a direc-
tor. Because the business is treated as a business organ-
ization for the purposes of §6, you must abstain from
matters which affect the business's financial interest. For
example, if the state working group were considering
utilizing the business, you could not participate as chair
of the working group in any discussions or decisions
relating to the utilization of the business. This prohibi-
tion on your participation would also apply to contracts
with business organizations which are in competition
with the business,
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(b} Section 23(b)(2)

As a state employee, you may not use your official
position to secure unwarranted privileges of substantial
value for yourself or others, Issues under this section
arise in the cantext of your receipt of office space and
the use of your status as a state employee.

Initially, nothing in §23 would preclude your re-
ceipt of office space, telephones and support staff to
carry out your responsibilities as a state employee.
Because these resources are available to you as a state
employee, however, you must continue to refrain from
using these resources for business related activities. The
incidental and occasional use of a state telephone to
speak with other business employees would not consti-
tute an unwarranted privilege of substantial value. See,
Commonwealth v. Famigletti, 4 Mass. App. 363 (1976);
EC.COI-B5-29.

Section 23(b)(2) also prohibits a state employee
from lending the prestige of her office to a business
organization for the purpose of advancing its services.
Such conduct may create the impression of a state en-
dorsementand imbue the private venture with a credi-
bility which may be unwarranted. Compare, EC-COL
84-127 (judge prohibited from appearing in a television
commercial endorsing a corporation’s activities); 83-82
(state agency may lend employees to a commercial film
project as long as steps are taken to dispel endorsement
by the state). Inasmuch as the business is a private, as
opposed to a state venture, you must be cautious in the
advocacy role which you play as the director of the bus-
iness and keep your status as a state employee separate
from your business activities.

(c) Section 23{(b)(3)

This section in effect prohibits a state employee
from conduct which creates a reasonable impression
that her official acts may be unduly affected by private
loyalties and relationships. Issues under §23(b)(3) in-
evitably arise whenever a state employee has an overlap
of official and private dealings with the same agency or
party. Because there are state agencies with which you
have dealings as a working group member and business
director, you must avoid creating the impression that
your official dealings will be unduly affected by your
business involvement with these same agencies.

3. Limitations on your business activities

Section 4(c) of G.L. c. 268A places limitations on the
outside activities of state employees and is intended to
preclude state employees from serving two masters in
matters in which the state has a stake. As applied to you
as a special state employee, you must refrain from acting
as the business agent or spokesperson in connection
with matters which are within your official responsi-
bility as chair of the working group. For example, if the
business were interested in submitting a proposal for




consideration by the working group, §4(c) would pro-
hibit your dealing with the working group on behaif of
the business.’ You would also be prohibited from acting
as agent for the business before a state agency in connec-
tion with a beautification proposal if the proposal were
one that you had worked on, or within the past year had
official responsibility for, as chairperson of the working
group.

To the extent that you currently receive no compen-
sation from the business, you are not limited by the §4(a)
prohibition covering the receipt of compensation from
nonstate parties in certain state-related matters. Should
your compensation situation change, you should renew
your opinion request to ascertain what additional limits
may apply under G.L. c. 268A.

DATE AUTHORIZED: September 15, 1986

'f*State employee,” a person performing services for or holding an office,
position, employment or membership in a state agency, whether by election,
appointment, contract of hire or engagement, whether serving with or without
compensation, on a full, regular. part-time, intermitient or consuliant basis, in-
cluding members of the general court and executive council. No construction
contractor nor any of their personnel shall be deemed 1o be a state empioyec or
special state employee under the provisions of paragraph (o) of this paragraph
as a result of participation in the engineering and environmental analysis for
major construction projects either as a consultant or part of a consultant group
with the commonwealth. Such contractors or personnel may be awarded con-
strucdon contracts by the commonwealth and may continue with outstanding
construction contracts with the commonwealth during the peried of such par-
ticipation; provided, that no such contractor or personnel shall directly or
indirectly bid on or be awarded a contract for any construction project if they
have participated in the enginecring or environmental analysis thereof. G1-c.
268A. §l(q).

*f*Particular mauter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application,
submission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, con-
troversy, charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but
excluding enactment of general legislation by the general court and petitions of
cities, towns, counties and districts for special laws related to their governmental
organizations, powers, dutics, finances and property.

*IThis result would apply irvespective of the number of days you serve
annually as chair of the working group.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-23

FACTS:

You were the Director of a Division (Division) of the
a state agency until March, 1986. While you were the
Division Director, you signed an escrow agreement
which was negotiated by a member of your staff with X
Company prior to its registration of its securities with
the Division. The other parties to the agreement were
the escrow agent and the two corporate founders. The
Director may require an escrow agreement as a condi-
tion for registering a corporation’s public offering of
stocks. Cited law, The requirement for an escrow agree-
ment is not common and is employed when the Division
determines, following a review of the company’s pro-
spectus and other information, that the offering may
work a fraud on potential investors. An escrow agree-
ment usually restricts the holders of “cheap stock” (such
as corporate founders) from any sale or disposition of
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such stock for a period of one year or fonger. Cited law.
The purpose of the escrow agreement is to place the cor-
porate founders’ stock, purchased at a low price, in
escrow for a specified period of time to prevent a deval-
uation of investors’ stocks and to prevent the founders
from leaving the company without leadership.

The purpose of the agreement was to tie up the
founders’ stock for a minimum of two years and a maxi-
mum of five years, in addition to linking the agreement
to a specific earnings ratio so that the founders would
not unfairly benefit from the investors’ capital. The
agreement contains a clause which allows the founders
to sell or give their escrowed shares to each other or to
their families as long as the shares remain subject to the
terms and conditions of the agreement. In essence, as
long as the agreement remains in effect, the escrowed
shares may not be sold to the general public. In addition,
any transferee of shares under this clause who is not a
party to the agreement must execute a declaration, satis-
factory to the Director, making any such transferee a
party to the agreement. Further, the declaration must be
submitted to the Director and escrow agent at the time
of the transfer.

The Division is a signatory to the agreement and
retains the authority to enforce the provisions of the
agreement. In the event that the holders of the escrowed
shares wish to petition for an early release from the con-
ditions of the agreement, such a request would be made
to the Director. The Director would determine whether
the company has met specific earnings requirements,
whether changed circumstances or any other reason
would be sufficient to terminate, revoke, rescind,
modify or release any terms of the agreement.

QUESTION:

Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to represent one of
the corporate founders in a possible buyout of the other

founder?
ANSWER:

Yes, subject to the following conditions.
DISCUSSION:

As the former Director of the Division, you are a
“former state employee” for the purposes of G.L. c.
268A. Section 5(a) of G.L. c. 268A prohibits a former
state employee from acting as an agent or attorney for,
or receiving compensation from, anyone other than the
commonwealth or a state agency in connection with any
particular matter in which the commonwealth or a state
agency is a party or has a direct and substantial interest
and in which he participated as a state employee. Under
§5(a) you may therefore not act as an attorney for
anyone other than the state in relation to any particular
matter in which you previously participated as Division



Director. G.L. c. 268A, §1(k) defines “particular matter”
as “any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determination,
contract, claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest,
decision, determination, finding. . ." An escrow agree-
ment is a contract and thus is a particular matter. Par-
ticipation is defined in G.L. c. 268A, §1(j) as “participate
in agency action or in a particular matter personally and
substantially as a state, county or municipal employee,
through approval, disapproval, decision, recommenda-
tion, the rendering of advice, investigation or other-
wise.” Your participation in the escrow agreement con-
sisted of your signing the agreement as Division Direc-
tor and, in effect, becoming a party to the agreement
and executing it. The signing of the escrow agreement
paved the way for the company's stock registration. If
the agreement had not been signed, the registration may
not have occured. Cited law. Therefore, your signing
constituted personal and substantial participation in the
agreement. See, EC.COI-83-114. Even though a member
of your staff negotiated the agreement, it does not
minimize the fact that you also participated in the agree-
ment. More than one person may participate in a par-
ticular matter.

Since you participated in the agreement, you are
prohibited from acting as an attorney for any private
party in relation to: any challenge to the validity of the
agreement; any petition for a release, modification,
recission or revocation of any terms of the agreement;
any action brought by the Division or any party in in-
terest to enforce any provision of the agreement, and
any clause of the agreement which requires the Divi-
sion’s review and/or approval. On the other hand, you
may represent one founder who wishes to buy out the
other founder in a consensual transaction. The fact that
founders are authorized by the agreement to sell or ex-
change shares with each other during the escrow period
does not mean that the sale or exchange is “in connec-
tion with” the agreement. Cf. EC-COI-82-25, The found-
er's sale, which is consensual, is a private transaction
which does not require Division review or approval, or
place the Division in a position of being a party ora par-
ty in interest to any furure litigation concerning the
agrecement.'/ As long as the transaction remains inde-
pendent of the Division’s review or approval, you may
therefore represent a founder in the transaction without
violating §5(a).

DATE AUTHORIZED: October 27, 1986

*fYour opinion request and the Commision's response is limited to the
implemcntition of the founder sale provisions contained within the text. This
opinion is not intended 10 authorize your representation of the founder in reta.
tion to other matters connined in the escrow agreement. The registration of the
public offering may have invalved several particular matters, other than the
agreement, in which you officially participated. You may renew your opinion
request with respect 1o your representation in relation 1o those particular mar-
ters. It should also be noted that §23{c) prohibits a former state employee from
accepting employment which will require him to disclose confidential informa-
tion which he has gained by reason of his official position and from disclosing
or using confidential information ro further his personal interest.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO. EC-COI-86-24

FACTS:

You are a member of the General Court. OQutside of
your legislative duties, you assist your family in manag-
ing a family farm. The farm, which was owned by vour
father, was placed in Trust upon his death. Under the
terms of the Trust, you, your brother and sister are
trustees and have certain rights to profits, if any, from
the farm. The beneficiaries of the Trust are the grand-
children and the assets of the Trust will be distributed to
the grandchildren following the deaths of the three
trustees. You do not receive compensation for your
trustee services.

Your family is interested in selling its development
rights in the farm to the Department of Food and Agri-
culture (DFA) pursuant to the Agricultural Preservation
Restriction Program. See, G.L. ¢. 1324, §11. Under the
Program, farmowners who are interested in selling their
development rights to the commonwealth make applica-
tion to the APR. If the APR board members deem the
farmland appropriate for purchase of its development
rights, an independent appraisal of the value of those
rights is made. If the farmowner finds the figure derived
from the appraisal acceptable, the commonwealth, act-
ing through the APR, purchases the development rights
in exchange for an agreement from the farmowner that
the only permissible use of the land will be agricultural.
This restriction on land use is permanent and runs with
the land; it can be removed only by a two-thirds vote of
the General Court.

Your family has asked you to approach DFA to
ascertain DFA’s interest in purchasing the development
rights to the farm. Your activities on behalf of the farm
would be uncompensated.

UESTIONS:

1. Does G.L. c. 268A permit you to act as your
family's agent in its dealings with DFA.

2. IfDFA agrees to purchase your family's devel-
opment rights to the farm, will you be placed in viola-
tion of G.L. c. 268A, §7.

3. ‘Whatlimitation does G.L. ¢. 268A place on your
official activities as a member of the General Court with
respect to the DFA,

ANSWERS:

L. Yes.

2. No.

3. You will be subject to certain limitations de-
scribed below,



DISCUSSION:

As a member of the General Court, you are a state
employee for purposes of G.L. c. 268A and are subject to
certain restrictions in both your official and private
capacities.

1. Private Dealings with DFA

Section 4 of G.L. c. 268A places limitations on the
outside activities of state employees whenever the state
has a stake in those matters. Specifically, under §4, a
state employee may not receive compensation from, or
act as agent for a non-state party in relation to any ap-
plication, contract or other particular matter in which a
state agency is a party or has a direct and substantial
interest.

As applied to members of the General Court, §4 is
less restrictive and applies only to certain paid appear-
ances before state agencies. See, EC-COI-86-15; 86-12.
Inasmuch as your appearance on behalf of your family
will be on an unpaid basis, §4 will not restrict your
private dealings with DFA.

2. Financial Interest in a State Contract

Under §7, a state employee, including a member of
the General Court, is subject to substantial limitations
on acquiring a financial interest in a contract made by
astate agency. For example, in EC.COI-84-51, the Com-
mission concluded that DFA's purchase of development
rights under the APR Program constitutes a contract for
§7 purposes and thata DFA employee who would be the
direct recipient of the contract funds would have a
financial interest in a DFA contract in violation of §7. By
similar reasoning, if you have a financial interest, direct
or indirect, in the DFA development rights contract with
the Trust, you will also violate §7.

Based upon the information you have provided, in-
cluding the trust documents, it appears that you will not
have a financial interest in any contract development
rights made by the Trust; the contract funds will be
treated as the assets of the beneficiaries (grandchildren)
to be distributed to them following the deaths of the
trustees. Therefore, as long as you do not have a finan-
cial interest in the assets of the Trust, including the DFA
contract, you will not violate §7. Because you may be
eligible for certain rights to profits, if any, from the
operation of the farm, the profits which you receive may
not be calculated on a base which includes the DFA con-
tract. Stated in another way, to avoid violating §7, you
must forego any profits which are arributable to the
DFA contract.

3. Limitations on Your Official Activities
In view of the likelihood that you will have private
dealings with DFA, G.L. c. 268A establishes guidelines
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and limitations on your official dealings with DFA. In
particular, §6 requires your abstention rrom any “par-

-ticular matter”"/ in which you or your immediate family,

or the Trust has a financial interest. Issuez under §6 will
arise if DFA grants an APR contract to th= Trust and you
are called upon to vote as a legislator on the line item in
the annual appropriation bill which funds the APR con-
tract. In such a case, the line item would be treated asa
particular matter, see EC-COI-82.9, and you would be
required to abstain from participation in the matter.

Under §23(b)(2), a state employee may not use his
official position to secure unwarranted privileges or
exemptions of substantial value which are not properly
available to similarly situated individuals. For example,
a member of the General Court was found to have vio-
lated this provision by pressuring a state agency to
award a contract to his family's company, Craven v,
State Ethics Commission, 390 Mass. 191 (1983). While
the principles of §23(b)(2) are largely self-explanatory,
you should keep these principles in mind whenever you
have dealings with DFA.3/

DATE AUTHORIZED: October 6, 1986

'F*Paricular matter,” any judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission, request for a ruling or other determinatian, contract. claim, controver-
sy, charge, accusation, arrest, declsion, determination, finding, but excluding
enactment of general legislation by the general court and petitions of cities.
towns, counties and disiricts for special laws related to their governmental
organizations, powers, duties, finances and property.

HAbsent a formal request, we cannot provide an advisory opinicn as ta the
conduct of DFA officials who would be reviewing your APR request. Ingeneral,
DFA officials should be aware that the §23(b)(2) restrictions apply to them and
that they may not grant to the Trust an unwarranted privilege of substantial
value. We are available o provide more detailed guidance to them if they so
desire.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST OPINION
NO., EC-COI-86-25

FACTS:

You are one of eleven elected members of the X
City Council. The Council, together with the Mayor and
School Committee, will be meeting in joint convention
on November 18, 1986 to select an appointee from
among four applicants to fill a vacancy on the School
Committee. Qutside of your City Council duties, you are
a full-time employee of the Massachusetts Teachers
Association (MTA). One of the MTA's local affiliates,
the X Education Association (XEA), represents a collec-
tive bargaining unit of teachers and nurses within the X
School System. Pursuant to the affiliation arrangement
between the XEA and MTA, each member of the bar-
gaining unit pays annual dues or agency service fees to
the MTA.

The collective bargaining agreement between the
School Committee and XEA expired on August 31,



1986, and the parties are currently in mediation over the
terms of a successor agreement. Among the provisions
which may be included in the successor agreement are
salaries for bargaining unit members and continuation
of agency service fees and dues deductions payable to
the MTA,

QUESTION:

In view of vour employment by the MTA, does
G.L. c. 268A permit your participation in the November
18, 1986 joint convention to fill a School Commitiee
vacancy.

ANSWER:
No.
DISCUSSION:

Section 19 of G.L. c. 268A prohibits you from par-
ticipating'/ in any particular matter¥ in which a business
organization which employs you has a financial interest.
The selection of an appointee to fill 2 School Committee
vacancy is a “particular marter” in which you would
“participate” if you discussed or voted on the vacancy
selection at the November 18, 1986 joint convention.
Whether §19 requires your abstention depends on
whether the MTA, a business organization which em-
ploys you, has a financial interést in the selection. Based
upon the information you have provided, we conclude
that the MTA has a financial interest in the selection.

The new appointee to the School Committee will
necessarily become involved in the negotiation and
approval of a successor collective bargaining agreement.
The MTA has a reasonably foreseeable financial interest
in the selection because the new appointee will decide
whether to approve provisions directly affecting the
MTA's financial interests. The inclusion, for example, of
an agency service fee or dues checkoff provision, has a
direct financial impact on the MTA. Similarly, to the
extent that the approval of a salary increase may result
in insufficient resources to fund other bargaining unit
positions, any resulting loss of bargaining unit members
will result in fewer deductions or agency service fees
being paid to the MTA.

For the purposes of §19, whether a financial interest
is sufficiently foreseeable depends on the facts of each
case. EC-COI-84-98. For example, if the appointee were
to serve during a one-year period in which there were an
existing collective bargaining agreement in place, then
it would be unlikely that the appointee would be in-
volved in deciding marters affecting the MTA's financial
interest sufficient to warrant abstention under §19. The
facts which you have provided, however, present a dif-
ferent picture because your employer, the MTA, will be
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affected financially from the resolution of the contract
dispute in which the appointee will participate.

DATE AUTHORIZED: November 17, 1986

‘FParticipating.” participate in agency action or in a particular matter
personallv and substantialiv s a state, county and municipal emplovee, through
approval. disapproval. decision. recommendation. the rendering of advice
tivestigation or otherwise. G.L. c. 2684, L.

MParuicular matter.” anv judicial or other proceeding, application, sub-
mission. request for a ruling or other determination, contract. claim, controver:
sv. charge. accusation, arrest. decision, determination. finding, but excluding
enacement of general legislation by the general court and petitions of cities.
towns. counties and districts for special laws retated to their governmental
orgamizations. pawers, duties. finances and property. G.L. ¢. 2684, §1(k).

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 9

STATE EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP

Through requests for advisory opinions and a
review of annual statements of financial interest, the
Commission has become aware that many state employ-
ees own stock in corporations which contract with state
agencies. State employees are frequently uncertain as to
whether their stock ownership is permissible and, if so,
what limitations their stock ownership will place on
their official actions as state employees. The purpose of
this advisory is to review the principles of G.L. c. 268,
the conflict of interest law, which apply to state em-
ployees who own stock in corporations which contract
with state agencies,

In general, most state employees may own stock in
corporations which contract with the commonwealth or
a state agency. The starting point is G.L. c. 2684, §7,
which prohibits a state employee from having a finan-
cial interest, directly or indirecily, in a contract made by
astate agency. By owning stock in a corporation which
contracts with the state, a state employee necessarily has
a financial interest in the corporation’s contract with the
state, and is therefore subject to the limitations of G.L.
c. 268A, §7.

The prohibition is not absolute, however, and is
tempered by several exceptions. One such exception
depends on the percentage of the corporation’s stock
owned by the state employee. If a state employee owns
less than one percent of the stock of a corporation which
contracts with the state, the prohibition of G.L. c. 268A,
§7 does not apply. For example, a state employee who
owns ten shares of IBM stock will not be in violation of
§7 due to IBM’s contracts with the state, because the ten
shares represent less than one percent of IBM stock.

If the state employee’s stock ownership represents
one percent or more of the corporations’s stock, then
the state employee will be subject to the prohibition of
§7 if the corporation contracts with the state. In such cir-
cumstances, the employee must exercise within thirty
days one of the following four options:



I. The emplovee may reduce his ownership in-
terest in the corporation to less than one percent, The
divesture must be made in good faith. For example, an
employee would not satisfy §7 by transferring the excess
stock to a family member or engaging in a transaction
which would permit the employee to retain his control
over the stock.

2. The corporation may terminate its contract
with the state, thereby eliminating the prohibited finan-
cial interest in a state contract.

3. The employee may resign from state employ-
ment, thereby removing himself from the contractual
financial interest restrictions of §7.

4. The employee may qualify for an exemption to
§7. For a full-time state employee who is not a legislator,
the most likely exception, §7(b), would apply if the
following conditions are satisfied:

a. the employee does not work for or regulate

the activities of the state agency which con-
tracts with the corporation;

b. the contractis made after competitive bid-

ding, and

¢. the employee files with the Commission a

disclosure of the financial interests of

himself and his family in the contract by

virtue of their stock ownership.
If a legislator owns more than one percent of the stock
of a corporation which contracts with the state, the
legislator is eligible for a separate exemption, G.L. c.
268A, §7(%c). Aslong as the contract was made through
competitive bidding and the ownership interest does
not exceed ten percent of the corporation, a legislator
will be exempt from §7 after filing a disclosure with the
Commission of his and his family’s interests in the
contract.

Assuming that state employee’s stock ownership is
permissible, the ownership interest will place certain
limitations on the employee's official duties as a state
employee. The principle limitation appears in G.L. c.
268A, §6 and requires abstention from certain actions.
Specifically, a state employee who owns stock in a cor-
poration must refrain from participating as a state
employee in any particular matter in which the corpora-
tion has a financial interest, because, as a stockholder,
the employee’s financial interest will be affected. For
example, G.L. ¢. 268A, §6 would apply to a state
employee who owns stock in a corporation whose pro-
duct the employee is assigned to evaluate. In addition to
abstention, the employee must submit to both his ap-
pointing official and the Commission a written dis-
closure of his and his family’s financial interest in the
matter. The employee must continue to refrain from
further participation in the matter unless and until his
appointing official makes a written determination that
the financial interest is not so substantial as to be
deemed likely to affect the integrity of the services which

122

are expected from the employee. This determination
must be in writing and filed with the Commission in
order to be effective.

State employees are also subject to the standards of
conduct which appear in G.L. c. 2684, §23. These stand-
ards are intended to prevent situations which may
create the appearance of conflicts of interests. In par-
ticular, a state employee may not use or attempt to use
his official position to secure unwarranted privileges or
exemptions for himself or others nor may he improper-
ly use any confidential information acquired in the
course of his official duties as a state employee. Potential
violations of these provisions would arise, for example,
ifa state employee purchased stock based on confiden-
tial information about the company which he had access
to and acquired as a state employee. On the other hand,
a stock purchase based on information available to the
public would involve no such misuse of confidential or
inside information and therefore would not implicate
G.L.c. 268A, §23.

To summarize, stock ownership in companies
which contract with the state will not ordinarily pose
problems for state employees under the conflict of in-
terest law. Compliance with the law does require state
employees 10 monitor the extent of their ownership in-
terest in corporations which contract with the state.
Employees should also monitor their assignments as
state employees to avoid handling matters which affect
the corporation’s financial interest.

DATE AUTHORIZED: February 25, 1986

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 10

CHIEFS OF POLICE DOING PRIVATELY
PAID DETAILS

The Commission has received a number of in-
quiries from small towns concerning how their chiefs of
police might work privately paid details in conformance
with the conflict of interest law, G.L. c. 268A. The follow-
ing guidelines are offered to Boards of Selectmen and
City Councils'/ to aid them in restructuring a chief's
employment arrangements so as to permit such out-
side work without violating the conflict law. Any such
restructured employment arrangement should be sub-
mitted to the Commission to verify that the conflict of
interest issues have been adequately addressed by the
terms and conditions actually decided upon by the
selectmen.? :

I. Background

Polir~ detail work is performed in a broad range of
situations, most frequently involving traffic control at
utility and road construction sites. Other examples in-



clude crowd control, cash escort service for businesses
and security work. Police officers perform detail work
on other than their normal duty shift. These officers are,
however, still serving as police officers when they pro-
vide these services and are answerable to the police chief
for their conduct. The municipality bills the private en-
tity who is being serviced. The municipality, after
substracting an administrative fee, pays the officers. All
of this is done in accordance with G.L. c. 44, §53C.

The primary conflict of interest issues raised by
police chiefs working privately paid details, and being
paid pursuant to G.L. c. 44 §53C, arise under §19 and
§23 of G.L. c. 268A.% The position of chief of police is
generally considered a twenty-four-hour-a-day job,
carrying with it the ultimate responsibility for the opera.
tion and activities of the police department. Because
detail work is a police function, and officers performing
detail work have all the law enforcement authority they
normally possess as police officers, detail work falls
within the chief's overall responsibility. If a municipality
has notrestructured the chief's compensation package
to allow for extra pay for detail work, then the chief's
salary is presumably payment for all of his duties in-
cluding detail work. Therefore, if he were to receive
additional public compensation for acts for which he is
already being paid, he would be violating §23 by secur-
ing an unwarranted privilege."/ In addition, by deciding
which details to assign himself to work, the chief would
be participating in a particular matter in which he hasa
financial interest in violation of §19.%

[I. Considerations in Restructuring the Chief’s
Employment Contract

A chiefof police’s employment arrangement can be
restructured by the Board of Selectmen 16 avoid these
conflict of interest issues. By acknowledging in writing
that the chief's compensation shall consist of a base
salary plus certain additional compensation for detail
work, the Board of Selectmen will negate the potential
§23 allegation thata chief's receipt of detail compensa-
tion constitutes dual compensation.®/

The conflict issues under §19 require closer
scrutiny. Currently, a police chief falls within the §19
prohibition against a municipal employee participating
in a matter in which he has a financial interest whenever
he assigns himself to work a private detail. An exemp-
tion procedure contained in §19 provides a workable
alternative. Section 19(b) states, in pertinent part, thatit
shall not be a violation of this section:

- . .if the municipal employee first advises the

official responsible for appointment to his posi-

tion of the nature and circumstances of the par-
ticular matter and makes full disclosure of such

financial interest, and receives in advance a

written determination made by that official that

the interest is not so substantial as to be deemed
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likely to affect the integrity of the services which
the municipality may expect from the
employee.
As the appointing authority of the police chief, it is the
Board of Selectmen which must make such a §19 deter-
mination. The Board's starting point should be to
decide whether they are willing to grant a blanket §19
exemption concerning detail work or whether they
will require the chief to seek such a determinationon a
detail-by-detail basis. If a blanket exemption is chosen,
the Board should set out terms and conditions, in-
cluding:
I. a maximum dollar amount the chief can
earn as detail compensation annually, or alter-
natively, a maximum number of hours the chief
can work details annually;
2. whether detail work can be performed dur-
ing “normal” (i.e. weekday) working hours;
3. procedures to ensure that the chief does not
assign himself either the “choice” details (at the
expense of other members of the department)
or regular, exclusive details with a particular
private entity; and
4. procedures for when an emergency arises
while the chief is doing detail work, e.g
(a) requiring the chief 10 make ar-
rangements with the entity for which
he is working the detail which allows
him to leave if he is needed elsewhere,
or
(b) establishinga procedure whereby
the chief will request that the police
department of a neighboring town or
the state police cover the matter.
Selectmen might well conclude that it would be prefer-
able to approve such details on an individual basis.
While the Commission does not encourage the practice
of granting blanket exemptions, Selectmen may exer-
cise this option provided that the terms and conditions
are clearly established in writing. '
Finally, it should be emphasized that the purpose of
a Commission review of a Board’s restructuring of a
police chief's employment arrangement is not to pass
judgement on a Board's decisions, but rather to ensure
thata G.L. c. 26BA issue has not been inadvertently left
unaddressed. As long as the Board takes the above-noted
considerations into account, the applicable §19 and §23
conflicts will be remedied. Board members should feel
free to contact Commission staff with any questions they
may have.

DATE ISSUED: June 26, 1986

‘For case of reading, this advisory is addressed to the situation of town
police chiefs. For application 1o ciry chiefs, simply replace “Board of Selectmen™
and “sclectmen™ with “Clty Council” and “councillors” respectively.



Bty Councils should also check their City Charters and crdinances. and
Boards of Selectmen their by-laws and regulanons, to insure that any such
negotiated cantracts are in conformance with applicable local provisions.

Prior Commissian Advisorv Opinions dealing with deuwil payment
under G.L. c. 44 §53C {specifically EC.COL.85-64. 85-65, and 85-831have analvzed
the potential conflictunder G.L. c. 2684 §3(b}. In the future, however. anv opin.
ions concerning this subject area will more properly focus on §19 and §23,

“fSection 23(b}i2) states that no municipal employee shall “use or attempt
to use his official position to secure for himself or others unwarranted privileges
or exemptions which are of substantial value and which are not properly
avatlable to simiharly situated individuals.”

“fSection 19 prohibits a municipal employer from “participatfing) as such
an emplovee in a particular matter in which to his knowledge he, his immediate
family or partner,a business organization in which he is serving as officer, direc:
Lor. trusice. partner or employee, or any person or organization with whom he
is negouating or has any arrangement concerning prospective employment has
a financial interesc”

*Mshould be noted that if the chief were to be paid directly by private par-
ties for detail work (as opposed 10 through the statutory compensation
mechanism outlined in G L. ¢. 44 §53), he would violate §3 in that he would be
receiving something of sub ial vajue for himself for or because of an act
within his official responsibility.

COMMISSION ADVISORY NO. 11
NEPOTISM

INTRODUCTION

The term “nepotism” originates from the Latin
word for nephew. It originally referred to favoritism to
anephew in granting official positions. Nepotism is now
commonly understood to include favoritism of any sort
afforded any relative,

The term nepotism does not appear in the conflict
of interest law, and for years it was unclear whether the
conflict law prohibited nepotism. The Special Commis-
sion which initially drafted the law in 1962 indicated
that the criminal sections of the law were not intended
to apply to nepotism. In August 1983, however, the
Supreme judicial Court concluded in Sciuto v. City of
Lawrence, 389 Mass, 929 (1983), that the language of the
statute clearly prohibited public officials from acting on
matters in which an immediate family member had a
financial interest. The Sciuto case involved a claim by
two city police captains of the Lawrence Police Depart-
ment that the appointment of Patrick Schiavone to
police chief was invalid because two prior promotions
approved by his brother, the director of public safety,
had violated the conflict of interest law. The Court
agreed that these promotions violated G.L. ¢. 2684, §19
and returned the case to the lower court to decide
whether any further action should be taken regarding
the promotions. The lower court ordered the promo-
tions rescinded pursuant to §21 of c. 2684, and the
brother was demoted three levels, losing his position as
chief. Following the Sciuto decision, the State Ethics
Commission began to enforce the conflict law in com-
plaints aileging nepotism.

The purposes of this advisory are to outline the
prohibitions against nepotism contained in the conflict
of interest law and to explain the Commission’s enforce-
ment policy regarding nepotism violations.
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NEPOTISM IS PROHIBITED

The conflict law prohibits elected and appointed
public officials at the state, county, and municipal level
from participating!/ in particular matters¥ in which
their immediate family members have a financial in-
terest. (See, G.L. c. 268A, §§6, 13 and 19 dealing with
state, county, and local officials, respectively.) Imme-
diate family is defined in the statute as “the employee
and his spouse, and their parents, children, brothers and
sisters.” Thus, for example, an official's brother-in-law
would be considered “immediate family” if he were the
brother of the official's spouse but not if he were mar-
ried to the official’s sister.

In addition to these sections of the law, nepotism
raises concerns under G.L. c. 2684, §23, which sets forth
standards of conduct regulating all public employees.
Essentially, Section 23 prohibits a public official from
using his position to secure an unwarranted privilege of
substantial value for himself or others, or from acting in
a manner which gives the basis for the impression either
that he is improperly influenced by another person, or
that someone is undidy enjoying his favor because of
kinship. Therefore, if a public official wishes to partici-
pate in a matter which affects the financial interest of a
relative, even if that refative is not 2 member of his im-
mediate family, (e.g. a cousin or a niece) he may not give
preference to the relative because of the relationship,
and he must be careful to avoid the appearance of
favoritism based on kinship. This is done by publicly
disclosing the relationship and following ordinary and
accepted procedures without deviation,

The purpose of these provisions is to prevent poten-
tial conflicts or the appearance of impropriety that arise
wheneyer a public official’s personal loyalty to a family
member competes with the public interest that objective
decisions be made regarding public employment.

SPECIFIC ACTS THAT ARE PROHIBITED

A public official may not hire an immediate fan ly
member.*/ As stated above, the conflict law prohibitsa
public employee from participating in any particular
matter in which a family member has a financial inter-
est. The decision to hire is a particular matter in which
an official is *personally and substantially” participat-
ing, and the family member has an obvious financial
interest in the hiring decision.

Personal and substantial participation involves any
significant involvement in the hiring process. For exam-
ple. interviewing or creating a test for applicants, one of
whom is a family member, would violate the law.

An official need not be the sole decision-maker to
be prohibited from participating in the hiring decision.
For example, an official cannot, as one member on a
board, vote to hire his family member, regardless of the
size of the board. Nor would it matter that there was
little, if any, controversy among the board members



regarding the decision. A person can no more partici-
pate in making a vote of a 15 member board unanimous
by casting the 15th vote than one can cast the deciding
vote in an eight-to-seven vote. )

It also makes no difference whether an official has
unilateral authority over personnel decisions or whether
he is one link in a bureaucratic chain of approvals. A
typical example arises where a sub-committee conducts
a search to fill 2 municipal position. The sub-commit
tee's preferred list of candidates is then narrowed down
by the full search commitiee and the candidate is ulti-
mately chosen by a city council. A public official with a
family member in the pool of candidates cannot partic-
ipate in the sub-committee’s search, the full committee’s
approval of a list of candidates, or the city council's final
decision.

In addition to hirings, any significant involvement
in the reappointment, promotion, reclassification,
demotion, or firing of an immediate family member is
prohibited. A public official may not participate in a job
performance evaluation of an immediate family mem.
ber because such evaluations play a critical role in job
retention, promotion, and other job related benefits of
financial interest to the employee.

The Commission also views day-to-day active super-
vision as constituting personal and substantial partici-
pation.® The process by which employees are retained
or fired, promoted or demoted, or granted or refused
step increases is not merely a function of a formal per-
sonnel evaluation. Realistically, those decisions are
based on the supervisor's cumulative impressions
derived from his day-to-day supervision of the employee.
Therefore, while there may be exceptions, day-to-day
supervision of a family member is barred because it is
an integral part of the evaluation process.

Determining a family member's salary is barred.
The prohibition includes approving or authorizing
discretionary salary increases such as annual step in-
creases even though they may be thought of as
“automatic™.®/

Finally, a subordinate may not advise or recom-
mend to his employer a personnel decision in which the
subordinate’s immediate family member has a financial
interest.”/

DELEGATION

A public official is prohibited not only from partici-
pating in personnel decisions affecting his family
member, but also from delegating the authority to a
subordinate. Because the official is in a position to
choose and influence the person most likely to favor
his family member, the choice of who will make the deci-
sion is an important part of the overall hiring decision.”/

125

DISCLOSURE AND AUTHORIZATION

Since a public official cannot participate in persc
nel decisions affecting a relative, what action, if a1
should he take when faced with a potential nepoti:
situation? The answer depends on the position t
official holds, because the conflict of interest law tre:
state and county officials differently depending
whether they are elected or appointed. The law al
treats local appointed officials differently from state ai
county appointed officials.

State and County Appeinted Officials

For state and county appointed officials, the rule
quite specific: if their duties would otherwise requi
them to participate in a particular matter in whict
family member has a financial interest, they must d
close all of the relevant facts to their appointing authe
ity and the Commission, and the appointing author
must then decide whether to undertake the functi
himself, assign it to someone else, or allow the offic
to participate. If the appointing authority decides
authorize the public official to participate, he must do
explicitly in writing, and a copy of that authorizati
must be submitted to the Commission.

Municipal Appointed Officials

In contrast, under the conflict law, municif
officials may abstain from participating in the mau
and thereby avoid any violation. They do not have
disclose to anyone that they are abstaining. Alterr
tively, they may seek the authorization from their a
pointing authority to participate, but the authorizatis
must be granted in writing. Copies of the request a
the authorization do not have to be filed with the Co
mission but they must be available for public inspectic

Elected Officials

Because elected officials do not have an appointi
authority, they cannot take advantage of the disclosu
and authorization provisions available to appoint
officials. There is no statutory mechanism which p:
mits their participation without violating the statu
and, therefore, they must abstain from participatior

ACTION BY SUBORDINATES

The one remaining issue is whether an elect
official (or an appointed municipal official who choos
not to seek an authorization to participate) may absta
from the process entirely and have a subordinate hanc
the hiring (or other personnel) decision. This situati
is distinguishable from the delegation of a hiring de
sion by an elected official. As indicated above, deleg
tion is prohibited. The question is whether the elect
official may simply abstain and, without providing a
direction, leave to the subordinate the decision to hi
(or promote, etc.) the family member.



The question of whether the subordinate has the
authority to perform the duty in place of his superior is
not addressed by the conflict of interest law, The answer
must be determined by interpreting the statute which
creates the principal official’s position, and, specifically,
any language which might provide a mechanism permit-
ting a subordinate to act following the “disability”
(whether physical, mental, or otherwise, including a
conflict of interest) of the principal official.

A review of many such statutes reveals no consistent
rule indicating when such authority may be exercised by
a subordinate. Accordingly, any response the Commis-
sion will give to a request for an opinion on how the
conflict of interest l]aw will apply where an elected of-
ficial abstains and a subordinate seeks to hire will be
conditioned on the official's obtaining an opinion as to
the legality of the personnel action by the subordinate.
State officials should request such an apinion from the
artorney general; municipal employees from the town
or corporation counsel; and county employees from the
legal counsel for the county.’

ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Until the Supreme Judicial Court concluded in
August, 1983 that §§6, 13 and 19 prohibited nepotism,
there was, in the Commission’s view, legitimate uncer-
tainty as to whether those sections did apply to nepotism
conflicts.

In exercising its enforcement discretion, the Com-
mission has, as a matter of fairness, given deference to
this uncertainty when the primary violation, the hiring,
has occurred prior to the 1983 Supreme Judicial Court
decision, Thus, the Commission has resolved numerous
nepotism violations involving hirings prior to August
1983 with confidential letters apprising the public offi-
cial of the viclation. Similarly, when the hiring has
occurred prior to August 1983, but additional violations
involving promotions or salary increases involving the
same family member have occurred thereafter, the Com-
mission, again as a matter of fairness,'”/ has resolved
these cases in the same confidential manner.

When the family member is still in the official's
employ, the Commission has explained the conditions
which' must be met if the person is to remain an em-
ployee. If an appointed official is involved, he must
inform his appointing authority and the appointing
authority must decide how the situation shouid be
resolved, If the official is elected, the Commission has
sought to identify an independent “appointing authori-
ty” to make the same determination. For example, coun-
ty commissioners have been designated to perform on-
going supervisory functions or make promotion deci-
sions regarding an elected county official's immediate
family member.""/ The Commission will generally follow
this approach as to any nepotism violation which took
place prior to the date of this advisory if the original
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hiring was before August 1983. These situations will be
resolved with confidential letters.'¥

The fairness considerations which dictate confiden-
-tial resolutions of nepotism violations occurring prior
to August 1983 are not present for violations occurring
after that date. These will be handled, as are all other
c. 268A violations, on a case-by-case basis within these
general guidelines: The more serious nepotism viola-
tions e.g. hiring, promotions and substantial salary in-
creases, will be resolved publicly with fines and, where
appropriate, action seeking resignation or rescission of
the personnel actions involved. Less serious violations
may be appropriate for public resolution without a fine,
or if sufficiently minor, with a confidential letter.

CONCLUSION

This advisory highlights the most common nepotism
violations. An advisory cannot deal with every possible
situation and indeed, may raise as many questions as it
answers. The Commission encourages public officials
and employees at all levels of government to seek advice
from the Commission as to how the law applies to their
own situations.

The Commission issues Commission Advisories
periodically to interpret various provisions of the con-
flict of interest law. Advisories respond to issues which
arise in the context of a particular advisory opinion or
enforcement action but which have the potential for
broad application. Copies of this Advisory and other
Advisories are available from the Commission office.

DATE ISSUED: December 15, 1986

HG.L. c. 268A, §1{j} defines participate as “participate in agency aclion or
in a particular matter personally and substantiaily as a state, county or municipal
employee, through approval. disapproval. decision, recommendavon, the
rendering of advice, investigation or otherwise.”

%G L c. 268A, §1(k) defines particutar matter as “any judicial or other pro-
ceeding, application, submission, request {or a ruling or other determination,
contract. claim, controversy, charge, accusation, arrest. decision, determination,
finding, bu: excluding enactment of gencral Iegislation by the gencral court and
pettions of cities, towns, counties and districts for special laws related to their
governmental organizations, powers, duties, finances and property.”

fSee, e.g., In the Matter of Rita Walsh-Tomaasini, 1984 SEC 207 {school
committee woman violated §19 by hiring her son a3 her saff assistant resolved
with a §$1,000 fine and son resigning). Ln the Matter of George Ripley, 1986 SEC
307 (state Commissioner of Labor and Industries violated §6 by hiring two
daughters; resclved by paying $2,000 fine and both daughiers resigning).

YSee, generally Graham v, McGrail, 370 Mass. 133 (1976). As the Count
advised, participation invalves more than just voting, but includes any signifi-
cant involvement in the discussion or other matters leading up to the vote. The
Court suggested that generally the beat course would be to leave the room when
a matter involving a family member's financial interest arises.

MActive supervision is distinguished from those situations where the
public official has official responsibility for his family member as a public
employee, but does not directly participate in dealing with his family member.
A typical exampie would be where the head of a large agency aversees several
divisions but delegates the supervision of each to a division chief, and the divi-
sion chief supervises the family member.

*/By law, step increases may be withheld by a department head. See, G.L.
c. 30, §46(c)(3), and c. 35, §54 for state and county employces, respectively.



*fThis should be distinguished from the situation where someone in a dif
ferent division in the same agency or someone outside of an agency gives a
recommendation or reference regarding a candidate for a job. For example, a
municipal planning board member who called a supervisor in the Depariment
of Public Works 1o recommend a famity member for a DPW job would not be
participating personallv and substantially in the hiring decision. Similarly, a
state official may recommend some one to another state agency for a job if this
is done without placing improper pressure an the state agencv. Section 23 con-
cerns could arise, however, if pressure ts or appears to be exerted. Indeed, an
outsider’s recommendation can involve such substantial pressure onan agency
a8 (o be deemed personal and substantial participation by the outsider. therehy,
violating §5. In the Matter of James Craven, 1980 SEC 17.

“The Commission recognizes that this is a difficult issue, because a family
member's financial interest may or may not be affected by the choice of who will
make the decision. Nevertheless, because it is not practical 1o determine which
delegations are proper and which are not, and because such delegations can play
a criteal role in the hiring process, the Commission has determined thag
any such delegations fall within the definition of personal and substantial
participation.

“Even inthose instances where a law authorizes a subordinate to assume
the hiring rele, two significant issues arise under §23 of the conflict law, Firse. the
suberdinate may not use his position to secure an unwarranted privitege for the
applicant. i.e. hire the Family member because of his relationship rather than his
qualificanions. If the subordinate so hired an unqualified family member, he
would violate §23(b)(2).

Secondly, where the subordinate hires his supervisor's familv member and
where the subordinate serves at the pleasure ef his supervisor, the question in-
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evitably arises whether the subordinate can realistically make an objective deci
sion regarding the family member. [t would seem difficult, &r neariv impossible.
tn avoid the appearance of a lack of objectivity, Thus, a problem s created under
§23(b)(3), which prohibits an official from acting in a manner which would cause
a reasonable person. having knowledge of the relevant circumstances. to con
tlude that any person can unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his
official duties.

Under a 1986 amendment to §23iby 3, any such conctusion will be
deemed unreasonable if the subordinate disclases in writing to his appointing
authoritv, or if no appointing authority exists (or, of course, if the appointing
authority is the same perion who was originally disqualified), discloses publicly
that he is making a decision affecting his supervisor's immediate familv member.
Public disclasure 15 not defined in the canflict law, although the statute makes
itclear thatall . 26BA disclosures must be made in writing. In fulfilling its func-
non 1o interpret the statute. the Commission has determined that for state and
countv officials. this written public disclosure should be made to the Commis-
sion, where such disclosure will be a matter of public record. For local officials.
the disclasure should be made. again in writing, to the town clerk,

"*fTvpically those situations involved a family member who was hired
vears priar to 1983. who was promated or received salary increases prior to
1983, and then received a promotion. salary increase, or was being supervised
by the public official after 1983 as well.

"*fin resolving such violations, the Commission will insist that ongoing
pensonnel decisions be made by an independent appointing authority if one can
be identified rather than allowing abstention and the assumpiion of those dutics
by a subordinate.

"HEspecially egregious tircumstances mav require public resolution and
afine.



ETEN
Id e e TLE o Hl
I .__,iu.l ,_Ihff‘_:__




